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GOVERNOR’S FOREWORD

The Annual Report IRU������LV�SXEOLVKHG�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�6HFWLRQ�������
RI�WKH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�$FW��&$3���������$V�D�VWDWXWRU\�UHTXLUHPHQW��WKH�
Report�SUHVHQWV�WKH�%DQN¶V�RSHUDWLRQDO�DFWLYLWLHV�DQG�¿QDQFLDO�SHUIRUPDQFH�
for the review period. 

However, the Report also covers the Bank’s delivery on other mandates, 
especially the conduct of monetary policy; implementation of the exchange 
rate policy; management of foreign exchange reserves; regulation and super-
vision of banks; oversight of the payments systems; and monitoring as well 
DV�IRVWHULQJ�RI�¿QDQFLDO�VWDELOLW\��

A theme topic, Employment Opportunities, Productivity and Competitive-
ness  as Contributors to Sustainable Economic Growth: Botswana’s Case, is 
included. The topic analyses the challenges of, and suggests policy options 
IRU��VXSSRUWLQJ�HFRQRPLF�GLYHUVL¿FDWLRQ��FUHDWLRQ�RI�HPSOR\PHQW�DQG�UDLVLQJ�
living standards. 

Although the Bank had overall good operational results and achieved its policy objectives during 2015, the 
domestic and external environment was less favourable than was the case the previous year. Global economic 
activity was sluggish with mixed regional performances and uncertain prospects. Economic growth strength-
ened marginally in advanced economies, led by the United States of America, while the Eurozone and Japanese 
economies expanded at much slower rates. Moreover, an overall robust output growth for emerging market 
countries was weighed down by the slowdown in the Chinese economy and the impact of falling demand on 
FRPPRGLW\�GHSHQGHQW�HFRQRPLHV��,QÀDWLRQDU\�SUHVVXUHV�UHPDLQHG�JHQHUDOO\�EHQLJQ��DV�UHLQIRUFHG�E\�D�IXUWKHU�
GHFOLQH�LQ�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�RLO�DQG�IRRG�SULFHV�WKDW�WKUHDWHQHG�GHÀDWLRQ�DQG�UHFRYHU\�LQ�VRPH�FRXQWULHV��)RU�%RWVZDQD��
non-mining output rose moderately. However, overall economic growth was constrained by a contraction of 
mining production, together with the impact of continued power and water shortages.

:LWK�UHJDUG�WR�¿QDQFLDO�SHUIRUPDQFH��WKH�%DQN¶V�WRWDO�DVVHWV�URVH�E\�3����ELOOLRQ�WR�3�����ELOOLRQ�RI�ZKLFK�WKH�
foreign exchange reserves were P84.9 billion in December 2015. The reserves were equivalent to 18.3 months 
of imports of goods and services. The higher level of foreign exchange reserves was the result of currency and 
PDUNHW�YDOXDWLRQ�JDLQV��DV�ZHDNHQLQJ�GHPDQG�IRU�H[SRUWV�UHVXOWHG�LQ�D�VPDOO�RYHUDOO�EDODQFH�RI�SD\PHQWV�GH¿FLW�
RI�3���PLOOLRQ��7KH�%DQN¶V�QHW�LQFRPH�IRU�WKH�\HDU�LPSURYHG�VLJQL¿FDQWO\�WR�3����ELOOLRQ��IURP�3����ELOOLRQ�LQ�
2014. After transferring non-distributable currency gains of P6.9 billion to the Currency Revaluation Reserve, 
the net distributable income of P2.3 billion was slightly lower than the P2.4 billion of 2014. 

'RPHVWLF�LQÀDWLRQ�IHOO�IURP�����SHUFHQW�LQ�'HFHPEHU������WR�����SHUFHQW�DW�\HDU�HQG�������)RU�PRUH�WKDQ�D�
\HDU�DQG�KDOI��LQÀDWLRQ�IHOO�ZLWKLQ�WKH�����SHUFHQW�GHVLUHG�PHGLXP�WHUP�REMHFWLYH�UDQJH�1 This outturn was a 
FRPELQHG�UHVXOW�RI�ORZ�JOREDO�LQÀDWLRQ��SDUWLFXODUO\�LQ�%RWVZDQD¶V�WUDGLQJ�SDUWQHU�FRXQWULHV��WKH�DEVHQFH�RI�
major upward adjustments to administered prices, subdued domestic economic growth and the impact of mon-
etary policy on demand.

,Q�WKH�OLJKW�RI�WKH�SRVLWLYH�PHGLXP�WHUP�LQÀDWLRQ�RXWORRN��WKH�%DQN�5DWH�ZDV�UHGXFHG�E\�����SHUFHQWDJH�SRLQWV�
to 6 percent during the year. Bank lending was also encouraged by limiting excess liquidity absorption through 
%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�&HUWL¿FDWHV�DXFWLRQV�WR�3��ELOOLRQ��,Q�DGGLWLRQ��SUHVVXUH�RQ�EDQN�OLTXLGLW\�LQ�WKH�HDUO\�SDUW�
of the year was eased by reducing the Primary Reserve Requirement on Pula-denominated deposits from ten 
SHUFHQW�WR�¿YH�SHUFHQW��HIIHFWLYH�$SULO���������

�� �,QÀDWLRQ�IHOO�EHORZ�WKH�REMHFWLYH�UDQJH�VHYHUDO�WLPHV�LQ�������ODUJHO\�UHÀHFWLQJ�D�GHFUHDVH�LQ�IXHO�SULFHV�



16

BANK OF BOTSWANA ANNUAL REPORT 2015

The banking industry remained robust, well capitalised and met minimum prudential requirements, notwith-
VWDQGLQJ�RYHUDOO�PDUNHG�GHFOLQH�LQ�SUR¿WDELOLW\�FRPSDUHG�WR�WKH�SULRU�\HDU��7KLV�ZDV�DV�D�UHVXOW�RI�D�GHFOLQH�
in net interest margins as lending rates fell while deposit rates were relatively stable. The Bank revoked the 
EDQNLQJ�OLFHQFH�RI�.LQJGRP�%DQN�$IULFD�/LPLWHG��RIIVKRUH�EDQN��DIWHU�LW�ZDV�DVVHVVHG�WR�EH�LQVROYHQW��WKH�
bank is now in liquidation.

The banking sector’s balance sheet increased by 12.6 percent to P68 billion. Even so, credit growth slowed 
from 13.5 percent in 2014 to 7.1 percent in 2015 due to a contraction in lending to businesses, a development 
ZKLFK�UHÀHFWHG�DQ�RYHUDOO�GHFOLQH�LQ�EXVLQHVV�FRQ¿GHQFH�DQG�RXWORRN��,Q�FRQWUDVW��ERUURZLQJ�E\�KRXVHKROGV�
accelerated from 10.7 percent to 12.8 percent. Nevertheless, the increase in growth of household credit was 
FRQVLVWHQW�ZLWK�PDLQWHQDQFH�RI�¿QDQFLDO�VWDELOLW\�

([SRUW�FRPSHWLWLYHQHVV�FRQWLQXHG�WR�EH�VXSSRUWHG�E\�WKH�]HUR�UDWH�RI�FUDZO�RI�WKH�3XOD�DV�GRPHVWLF�LQÀDWLRQ�
was comparable to the average price increase in trading partners. As a result, the real effective exchange rate 
was stable throughout the year. Bilaterally, however, the Pula appreciated by 11.4 percent against the South 
$IULFDQ�UDQG�DQG�GHSUHFLDWHG�DJDLQVW�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�GROODU�������SHUFHQW��DQG�WKH�RWKHU�6'5�FXUUHQFLHV�

Botswana’s investment grade credit ratings were retained by both Moody’s Investors Service and Standard & 
3RRU¶V��7KH�UDWLQJV�DI¿UPHG�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW¶V�VWURQJ�¿QDQFLDO�SRVLWLRQ�DV�XQGHUSLQQHG�E\�SUXGHQW�PDFURHFR-
nomic policies and a favourable external position. However, both rating agencies reiterated the longstanding 
FRQFHUQ�DERXW�WKH�FRXQWU\¶V�VORZ�SDFH�RI�HFRQRPLF�GLYHUVL¿FDWLRQ�

7KH�HI¿FLHQF\�RI�WKH�QDWLRQDO�DQG�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�SD\PHQWV�V\VWHP�ZDV�HQKDQFHG�ZLWK�WKH�FRPPHQFHPHQW�RI�
operations of the Botswana Automated Clearing House and approval for Botswana’s participation in the SADC’s 
Integrated Regional Settlement System. Various programmes of skills development and staff welfare continued 
WR�EH�LPSOHPHQWHG�WR�EXWWUHVV�WKH�%DQN¶V�RSHUDWLRQDO�HI¿FLHQF\�DQG�SURGXFWLYLW\�

,Q�IXO¿OPHQW�RI�VWDWXWRU\�REOLJDWLRQV��WKH�%DQN¶V�$QQXDO�5HSRUW�DQG�%DQNLQJ�6XSHUYLVLRQ�$QQXDO�5HSRUW�IRU�
2014 were submitted to the Minister of Finance and Development Planning on March 31 and June 30, 2015, 
respectively. The Bank also continued to publish the monthly Botswana Financial Statistics, the biannual Busi-
ness Expectations Survey and the Research Bulletin.

([WHUQDO�DQG�SXEOLF�UHODWLRQV�DFWLYLWLHV�ZHUH�PDLQWDLQHG�WKURXJKRXW�WKH�\HDU�DV�SDUW�RI�WKH�%DQN¶V�IXO¿OPHQW�
RI�LWV�DFFRXQWDELOLW\�REOLJDWLRQV��7KLV�LQFOXGHG�HFRQRPLF�EULH¿QJV��FRQVXOWDWLRQV�ZLWK�UHOHYDQW�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�
bodies and institutions as well as attendance of meetings of the Association of African Central Banks, Commit-
tee of SADC Central Bank Governors, International Monetary Fund and Bank for International Settlements.

As in previous years, the Bank owes a debt of gratitude to the Board for the guidance and support in imple-
PHQWLQJ�WKH������ZRUN�SURJUDPPH��,W�LV�KRSHG�WKDW�VWDNHKROGHUV�ZLOO�¿QG�WKH������Annual Report informative.

Linah K Mohohlo

GOVERNOR
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STATUTORY REPORT ON OPERATIONS AND 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK – 2015

THE BANK’S MISSION AND OBJECTIVES

7KH�PLVVLRQ�DQG�SULPDU\�REMHFWLYHV�RI�WKH�%DQN��DV�VWLSXODWHG�LQ�6HFWLRQ�������RI�WKH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�$FW�
�&$3���������DUH�WR�

%� promote and maintain monetary stability; this primarily requires the maintenance of a low, predictable and 
VXVWDLQDEOH�OHYHO�RI�LQÀDWLRQ�

%� HQVXUH�WKDW�WKH�RYHUDOO�¿QDQFLDO�V\VWHP�LV�VDIH�DQG�VRXQG�

%� UHJXODWH�DQG�RYHUVHH�WKH�SD\PHQWV�V\VWHP�DQG�HQVXUH�WKDW�LW�LV�VHFXUH�DQG�HI¿FLHQW��DQG�

%� in so far as it would not be inconsistent with monetary stability, promote the orderly, balanced and sustain-
able economic development of the country.

Figure 1 shows the strategies, activities and supportive infrastructure that are utilised to achieve the Bank’s 
mission and objectives. Monetary stability is attained through the formulation and implementation of monetary 
policy. Banks are regulated and supervised to foster operational safety and soundness. Financial sector vulner-
DELOLW\�DVVHVVPHQW�DQG�SHUIRUPDQFH�PRQLWRULQJ�DUH�FDUULHG�RXW�WR�SURPRWH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDELOLW\��&XUUHQF\�PDQDJH-
PHQW�DQG�IDFLOLWDWLRQ�RI�SD\PHQWV�V\VWHPV�HQDEOH�WKH�ÀRZ�RI�SD\PHQWV�DQG�VHWWOHPHQW��0RUHRYHU��RYHUVLJKW�
DQG�UHJXODWLRQ�HQWUHQFKHV�FRQ¿GHQFH�LQ�WKH�SD\PHQWV�DQG�VHWWOHPHQW�V\VWHP�DQG�PLWLJDWHV�V\VWHPLF�ULVNV��7KH�
Bank provides banking services to the Government, commercial banks and selected public institutions. The 
Bank also implements the exchange rate policy and manages the country’s foreign exchange reserves as an 
agent of Government. The management of foreign exchange reserves enables the country to meet international 
¿QDQFLDO�REOLJDWLRQV��)XUWKHUPRUH��WKH�%DQN�SURYLGHV�DGYLFH�WR�*RYHUQPHQW�RQ�PDFURHFRQRPLF�DQG�¿QDQFLDO�
policy matters. The governance structure coordinates and creates synergies between policy-oriented activities 
DQG�VXSSRUW�VHUYLFHV��LQFOXGLQJ�KXPDQ�UHVRXUFH�PDQDJHPHQW�DQG�WUDLQLQJ��DGRSWLRQ�RI�HI¿FLHQF\�HQKDQFLQJ�
technology, risk management, creating a culture of good conduct, staff discipline and adherence to institutional 
values.

GOVERNANCE AND ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

The Board is at the apex of the governance structure of the Bank and has two committees, the Audit Commit-
WHH��$&��DQG�WKH�5HPXQHUDWLRQ�&RPPLWWHH��5(0&2��WKDW�DUH�FKDLUHG�E\�QRQ�H[HFXWLYH�ERDUG�PHPEHUV��7KH�
*RYHUQRU�LV�FKDLUPDQ�RI�WKH�%RDUG�DQG�&KLHI�([HFXWLYH�2I¿FHU�RI�WKH�%DQN��FRQVLVWHQW�ZLWK�SUDFWLFH�LQ�PDQ\�
other central banks2���RYHUVHHLQJ�QLQH�'HSDUWPHQWV�DQG�IRXU�'LYLVLRQV��VXSSRUWHG�E\�WZR�'HSXW\�*RYHUQRUV�
DQG�*HQHUDO�0DQDJHU��)LJXUH�����

Board Functions, Membership and Appointments
The Board oversees and guides the Bank’s general strategic direction and operations in accordance with the 
%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�$FW�DQG�%\H�/DZV�� ,W�FRPSULVHV� WZR�H[�RI¿FLR�PHPEHUV�� WKH�*RYHUQRU�DQG�3HUPDQHQW�
Secretary of the Ministry of Finance and Development Planning as well as seven other members who are ap-
pointed by the Minister of Finance and Development Planning in their individual capacity, two of whom may 
EH�SXEOLF�RI¿FHUV��7KH�*RYHUQRU�DQG�WKH�WZR��QRQ�%RDUG�PHPEHUV��'HSXW\�*RYHUQRUV�DUH�DSSRLQWHG�E\�WKH�
President. The Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee consider issues pertaining to their respective 

2 This practice is found at the Federal Reserve Bank of the USA, the European Central Bank, Bank of Canada, 
Reserve Bank of Australia, other developed country central banks and those for the SADC region.
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FIGURE 1: MISSION, OBJECTIVES, STRATEGIES AND SUPPORTIVE STRUCTURES
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mandates and make recommendations to the Board. 6L[�%RDUG�PHHWLQJV�ZHUH�KHOG�GXULQJ�WKH�\HDU��7DEOH�����
At year-end, the Board had one vacancy.

Governor, Deputy Governors and General Manager
The Governor implements Board decisions and submits the Annual Report�RQ� WKH�RSHUDWLRQV�DQG�¿QDQFLDO�
SHUIRUPDQFH��LQFOXGLQJ�DXGLWHG�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��RI�WKH�%DQN�WR�WKH�0LQLVWHU�RI�)LQDQFH�DQG�'HYHORSPHQW�

M
B
�
B
�
B
�
B
�
B
�
B
�

K

Source: Bank of Botswana

FIGURE 2: GOVERNANCE AND ORGANISATION STRUCTURE AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015

 
SECRETARIAT FINANCE 

DEPUTY GOVERNOR DEPUTY GOVERNOR

PBE 3 3

SBE 6 6 Sec 5 4

BE 26 24 CA 2 2

Tr. 3

Sum including Trainees 52 49

  
BANKING & 
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TABLE 1: BOARD MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE IN 2015

Meeting 
L K Mohohlo
�&KDLUPDQ��
%RDUG�

S Sekwakwa
�([�RI¿FLR�

G K Cunliffe
�&KDLUPDQ��

$&�

R N Matthews
�$&�

C S Botlhole-
Mmopi
�$&�

J Sentsho
�5(0&2�

P Collier
�5(0&2�

M Bakwena
�&KDLUPDQ��
5(0&2�

BB 1/15
�)HE���� 3 2 3 3 3 3 2 3
BB 2/15
�0DU���� 3 3 3 3 2 3 3T 3
BB 3/15
�-XQ���� 3 2 3 3 2 2 3 3
BB 4/15
�$XJ���� 3 3 3 2 3 3 2 3
BB 5/15
�2FW���� 3 2 2 3 3 3 2 3
BB 6/15
�'HF���� 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3

Key: 3 Attended
 2 Not attended
 T Participation through video and teleconferencing
 BB Board Meeting
Source: Bank of Botswana
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3ODQQLQJ�ZLWKLQ�WKUHH�PRQWKV�RI�WKH�HQG�RI�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�\HDU�DV�VWLSXODWHG�LQ�WKH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�$FW��,Q�
turn, the Minister presents the Annual Report to Parliament within 30 days following receipt of the Report. The 
Banking Supervision Annual Report is submitted to the Minister by the end of June each year. The Governor 
represents the Bank at relevant local, regional and international meetings, and is the country’s representative 
RQ�WKH�%RDUG�RI�*RYHUQRUV�RI�WKH�,QWHUQDWLRQDO�0RQHWDU\�)XQG��,0)��

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee is chaired by the Governor and comprises Deputy Governors, the General Manager 
and Heads of Department. Senior advisors may be co-opted as members. The Committee meets once a week 
to monitor and review the implementation of the Bank’s work programme.

Departments and Divisions
7KH�%DQN�KDV�QLQH�GHSDUWPHQWV��¿YH�RI�ZKLFK�DUH�SROLF\�GHSDUWPHQWV�WKDW�IXO¿O�WKH�%DQN¶V�FRUH�PDQGDWHV��
while four departments provide auxiliary support and corporate services. The Monetary and Financial Stability 
'HSDUWPHQW�XQGHUWDNHV�GDWD�FROOHFWLRQ��UHVHDUFK��PDFURHFRQRPLF�DQDO\VLV��PRQLWRUV�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VHFWRU�DQG�
evaluates emerging risks and other developments emanating from the macroeconomic environment. The De-
partment also conducts macro-prudential assessments, and facilitates coordination with other relevant external 
HQWLWLHV�WR�HQVXUH�PDFURHFRQRPLF�DQG�¿QDQFLDO�VWDELOLW\��)XUWKHUPRUH��WKH�'HSDUWPHQW�XQGHUWDNHV�PDFURHFR-
nomic forecasting and policy review in support of the Bank’s conduct of monetary policy and implementation 
of the exchange rate policy. Production and dissemination of the Bank’s Annual Report and other publications 
are also the responsibility of the Monetary and Financial Stability Department.

The Banking and Currency Department is responsible for procurement, management, custody and issuance of the 
national currency. The Department also provides banking services to the Government, commercial banks and selected 
LQVWLWXWLRQV��,W�LV�D�UHSRVLWRU\�IRU�WKH�FRXQWU\¶V�¿QDQFLDO�UHODWLRQV�ZLWK�WKH�,0)�DQG�$IULFDQ�'HYHORSPHQW�%DQN�

7KH�%DQNLQJ�6XSHUYLVLRQ�'HSDUWPHQW�OLFHQFHV��UHJXODWHV�DQG�VXSHUYLVHV�EDQNV�DQG�RWKHU�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWLWXWLRQV�
that fall under the Bank’s regulatory and supervisory purview and publishes the Banking Supervision Annual 
Report. The oversight and regulation of payments and settlement transactions is carried out by the Payments 
and Settlement Department, while the Financial Markets Department is responsible for the management of 
foreign exchange reserves, foreign exchange dealing, open market operations and other money and capital 
market activities, which include issuance of government bonds and treasury bills.

7KH�)LQDQFH�'HSDUWPHQW�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�DFFRXQWLQJ�DQG�UHSRUWLQJ�RQ�WKH�%DQN¶V�¿QDQFLDO�DFWLYLWLHV��LQFOXGLQJ�
SURGXFWLRQ�RI�PRQWKO\�DQG�DQQXDO�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�RI�WKH�%DQN��LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�
$FW�DQG�,QWHUQDWLRQDO�)LQDQFLDO�5HSRUWLQJ�6WDQGDUGV��,)56���7KH�'HSDUWPHQW�DOVR�FRRUGLQDWHV�VWUDWHJLF�SODQ-
ning, formulation and implementation of risk management and business continuity management. The Human 
Resources Department is responsible for staff recruitment, training, remuneration and welfare, while the Infor-
mation Technology Department ensures that the Bank’s information technology systems and infrastructure are 
robust and effective in meeting the needs of the Bank.

The Secretariat serves the Board and Executive Committee and discharges related support functions. It is also 
responsible for the library, records management and protocol services. Other support services are undertaken 
through the specialised activities of four divisions, Internal Audit, Security, Communications and Property 
Management. The Internal Audit Division ensures that the Bank’s operations are sound and comply with es-
WDEOLVKHG�¿QDQFLDO�DQG�RSHUDWLRQDO�FRQWUROV�DV�ZHOO�DV�JRYHUQDQFH�VWUXFWXUHV��LQ�OLQH�ZLWK�WKH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�
Act and international best practice. The Security Division has the primary responsibility of managing all safety 
and security-related risks within the Bank and ensures the security of all Bank properties. The Communications 
Division coordinates communications activities in relation to media and effective transmission of information on 
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WKH�%DQN¶V�PDQGDWH��SROLFLHV�DQG�SUDFWLFHV�WR�VWDNHKROGHUV�LQ�D�WLPHO\��HI¿FLHQW�DQG�HIIHFWLYH�PDQQHU��7KH�'LYL-
VLRQ�DOVR�FRRUGLQDWHV�WKH�%DQN¶V�3XEOLF�(GXFDWLRQ�3URJUDPPH�DQG�SROLFLHV�ZLWK�WKH�DLP�RI�SURPRWLQJ�¿QDQFLDO�
literacy and improving public understanding of the Bank’s role in economic development of the country. The 
Property Management Division undertakes procurement, custody and maintenance of immovable and movable 
assets, including the Bank’s real estate and related equipment.

REVIEW OF THE BANK’S MAIN ACTIVITIES IN 2015

Monetary Policy, Money and Capital Market Activities and Exchange Rate Policy

Monetary Policy
7KH������0RQHWDU\�3ROLF\�6WDWHPHQW��036��DQG�WKH�0LG�7HUP�5HYLHZ�UHWDLQHG�WKH�%DQN¶V�PHGLXP�WHUP�LQÀD-
tion objective of 3 – 6 percent. In 2015, monetary policy was conducted in the context of a positive medium–
WHUP�LQÀDWLRQ�RXWORRN��,QÀDWLRQ�ÀXFWXDWHG�DURXQG�WKH�ORZHU�ERXQG�RI�WKH�%DQN¶V���±���SHUFHQW�REMHFWLYH�UDQJH�
throughout the year due to modest domestic demand, reasonable upward adjustment in administered prices and 
JRYHUQPHQW�OHYLHV��DV�ZHOO�DV�EHQLJQ�IRUHLJQ�SULFH�GHYHORSPHQWV��,Q�YLHZ�RI�WKH�SRVLWLYH�LQÀDWLRQ�RXWORRN�DQG�
in order to support economic growth, the Bank Rate was reduced by a cumulative 1.5 percentage points from 
7.5 percent to 6 percent during the year. The conduct of monetary policy also took into consideration the need 
WR�PDLQWDLQ�¿QDQFLDO�VWDELOLW\��$PRQJ�RWKHUV��WKH�UHOHYDQW�FRQVLGHUDWLRQV�UHODWH�WR�OLTXLGLW\�GHYHORSPHQWV��FUHGLW�
G\QDPLFV��H[SDQVLRQ�DQG�GHIDXOW�UDWHV��UHODWLYH�WR�HFRQRPLF�DFWLYLW\��LQFOXGLQJ�SURSHUW\�PDUNHW�GHYHORSPHQWV��
DQG�JURZWK�LQ�LQFRPHV��DV�ZHOO�DV�¿QDQFLDO�VHFWRU�SHUIRUPDQFH�

Money and Capital Markets
0RQHWDU\�SROLF\�ZDV�LPSOHPHQWHG�XVLQJ�RSHQ�PDUNHW�RSHUDWLRQV��202��WR�DEVRUE�H[FHVV�OLTXLGLW\�DQG�HVWDEOLVK�
interest rates at levels that were consistent with the policy stance. The outstanding value of Bank of Botswana 
&HUWL¿FDWHV��%R%&V��LQFUHDVHG�IURP�3����ELOOLRQ�DW�WKH�
end of 2014 to P8.2 billion in December 2015 due to the 
increase in excess liquidity.3 Repurchase Agreements 
�UHSRV��DQG�UHYHUVH�UHSRV�ZHUH�XVHG�GXULQJ�WKH�\HDU�WR�
manage liquidity between auctions, with the result that 
P1.7 billion worth of reverse repos was outstanding at 
the end of 2015 compared to P0.56 billion in December 
2014. As at the end of 2015, there were no outstanding 
UHSRV��7DEOH���DQG�&KDUW����

The 14-day BoBC weighted average yield decreased 
substantially from 3.07 percent in December 2014 to 
0.97 percent in December 2015, while the yield on the 
91-day BoBC eased from 3.19 percent to 1.17 percent 
in the same period. The average prime lending rate for 
commercial banks decreased from 9 percent in 2014 to 
����SHUFHQW�LQ�������WKXV�UHÀHFWLQJ�WKH�%DQN¶V�GHFLVLRQ�
to reduce the Bank Rate by a cumulative 1.5 percentage 
points during the year. Meanwhile, the nominal 3-month 

�� 7KH�LQFUHDVH�LQ�H[FHVV�OLTXLGLW\�UHVXOWHG�IURP�WKH�UHGXFWLRQ�RI�WKH�SULPDU\�UHVHUYH�UHTXLUHPHQW��LQWHQGHG�WR�DGGUHVV�WLJKW�
OLTXLGLW\�H[SHULHQFHG�HDUOLHU�LQ��������JURZWK�LQ�GHSRVLWV�DW�FRPPHUFLDO�EDQNV��QRWDEO\��SODFHPHQW�E\�WKH�%RWVZDQD�
3XEOLF�2I¿FHUV�3HQVLRQ�)XQG��DQG�H[SDQVLRQ�LQ�JRYHUQPHQW�VSHQGLQJ�LQFOXGLQJ�OHQGLQJ�WR�SDUDVWDWDOV�

CHART 1: BANK OF BOTSWANA CERTIFICATES 2005 
– 2015

Source: Bank of Botswana
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GHSRVLW�LQWHUHVW�UDWH�GHFUHDVHG�IURP������SHUFHQW�LQ�'HFHPEHU������WR�����SHUFHQW�DW�WKH�HQG�RI�������7DEOH�
����$V�GLUHFWHG�E\�WKH�%DQN��FRPPHUFLDO�EDQNV�FRQWLQXHG�WR�RIIHU�DQG�DGYHUWLVH�WKH����GD\�GHSRVLW�IDFLOLW\�RU�
equivalent deposit product which pays an interest rate that, at a minimum, is the prevailing Bank Rate less 3.5 
percentage points.4 The expectation is that longer-dated deposits were earning higher levels of interest rates. 
5HDO�LQWHUHVW�UDWHV�RQ�GHSRVLWV�JHQHUDOO\�LQFUHDVHG�GXH�WR�ORZHU�LQÀDWLRQ�LQ������DQG�ZHUH�SRVLWLYH�IRU�ORQJHU�
dated deposits.

The P15 billion Government Bond Programme remains in place, with the focus on the development of the capital 
market, while also providing an alternative source of government funding. BW003 matured on October 31, 2015 and 
released P1.6 billion into the market, although a substantial part of it was absorbed in the subsequent auction such 

4 Given the Bank Rate of 6 percent, the minimum deposit interest rate was 2.5 percent for the 91-day and equivalent 
deposit facilities.

TABLE 2: MONEY MARKET 2014 - 2015

End-2014 End-2015

Outstanding 
balances2 

(P Billion)

Interest rate (Percent)1
Outstanding 

balances2 

(P Billion)

Interest rate (Percent)1

Nominal Real Nominal Real
6-month Treasury Bills1,3 0.54 3.25 -0.53 0.84 1.61 -1.45
14-day BoBCs1 0.85 3.07 -0.70 4.2 0.97 -2.07
91-day BoBCs1 3.36 3.19 -0.59 4.0 1.17 -1.87
Reverse repos 0.56 3.00 -0.77 1.7 1.50 -1.55
Repos 0 7.00 3.08 0 5.50 2.33
88-day deposits 4.40 2.67 -1.09 10.9 2.50 -0.58

Prime rate 9.00 5.01 7.50 4.27

1. Stop-out yield is used for Treasury Bills, while weighted average yield is used for both the 14-day and 91-
day BoBC yields.

2. Book value
3. Original date to maturity
Source: Bank of Botswana

TABLE 3: GOVERNMENT BONDS AND TREASURY BILLS 2014 - 2015

Bond Code4

End 2014 End 2015
Outstanding
(P Million) 1,2

Market Yields³ (Percent) Outstanding
(P Million) 1,2

Market Yields³ (Percent)
Yield Real Yield Real

6-month Treasury Bills

%:����������������

%:����������������

%:����������������

%:����������������

%:����������������

%:����������������

%:����������������

540

1 642

718

1 233

933

1 295

870

3.25

3.97

4.52

4.78

5.35

5.83

6.28

–

-0.53

0.16

0.69

0.94

1.49

1.96

2.39

–

840

–

718

1 338

1 083

1 410

1 370

437

1.61

–

3.54

3.83

4.59

4.96

5.52

5.86

-1.45

–

0.43

0.71

1.45

1.80

2.35

2.68

7 231 7 196

1. Where outstanding values differ for the same bond code between the two years, it means the bond was 
reopened for issuing an additional amount.

2. Book value.
3. Indicative yields.
4. Maturity dates are in parentheses.
Source: Bank of Botswana
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WKDW�RXWVWDQGLQJ�ERQGV�RI�YDULRXV�PDWXULWLHV�DQG�7UHDVXU\�%LOOV�GHFOLQHG�PDUJLQDOO\�LQ�������7DEOH�����0HDQZKLOH��
WKH�%DQN�KHOG�3���PLOOLRQ�������SHUFHQW��RI�WKH�WRWDO�RXWVWDQGLQJ�VHFXULWLHV�IRU�SRVVLEOH�UHSR�WUDQVDFWLRQV�

Exchange Rate Policy
The Bank implemented a zero rate of crawl of the composite exchange rate, while the Pula basket weights were 
adjusted to 50 percent each for the South African rand and SDR. In the twelve months to December 2015, the 
WUDGH�ZHLJKWHG�QRPLQDO�HIIHFWLYH�H[FKDQJH�UDWH��1((5��RI�WKH�3XOD�ZDV�VWDEOH�GXH�WR�WKH�]HUR�UDWH�RI�FUDZO�RI�
WKH�3XOD�H[FKDQJH�UDWH�PHFKDQLVP��WKH�5((5�ZDV�VLPLODUO\�VWDEOH�GXH�WR�WKH�VPDOO�GLIIHUHQFH�EHWZHHQ�LQÀDWLRQ�
in Botswana and in her trading partner countries. The sustained relative stability of the REER supported the 
competitiveness of local producers of tradeable goods and services, thereby contributing to the national objec-
WLYH�RI�HFRQRPLF�GLYHUVL¿FDWLRQ�DQG�DVVRFLDWHG�LQGXVWULDO�GHYHORSPHQW�DQG�HPSOR\PHQW�FUHDWLRQ�

Regulation and Supervision of Banks and Bureaux de Change
In the period ended December 31, 2015, the banking sector was well capitalised and liquid. The sector’s compli-
ance with the regulatory and prudential requirements was considered satisfactory as shown in Table 4. However, 
SUR¿WDELOLW\�ZDV�VXEGXHG�ZLWK�RQH�EDQN�UHFRUGLQJ�D�ORVV�

TABLE 4: FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS AND RANGE OF PRUDENTIAL STANDARDS
1 FOR LICENSED BANKS (2012 – 

2015)
Prudential 5DQJH�RI�3UXGHQWLDO�6WDQGDUG�IRU�/RFDO�%DQNV��3HUFHQW�
Standard 2012 2013 2014 2015

Capital Adequacy ��� 17.3 - 24.2 16.2 - 24.3 16.1 - 23.1 15.9 - 24.2
Liquid Asset Ratio ��� 12.4 - 51.4 12 – 36 10.5 – 19.6 13.1 – 33.1
3UR¿WDELOLW\��5HWXUQ�RQ�DVVHWV� Positive  0.8 - 4.5 0.7 – 4 0.2 – 3.8 ������±����
3UR¿WDELOLW\��5HWXUQ�RQ�HTXLW\� Positive 9.2 – 39.1 6 – 32 2.1 – 27.7 ������±�����
$VVHW�TXDOLW\��1RQ�SHUIRUPLQJ�/RDQV�7RWDO�
/RDQV� ���� 1.7 - 14.4 0.6 – 11.6 0.6 – 11.8 0.4 – 8.4
,QWHUPHGLDWLRQ��$GYDQFHV�'HSRVLWV� 50 - 80 52.5 - 84.4 63 – 86 68.7 – 94.9 65.6 – 93.1

1.  Ratios exclude newly licensed banks.
Source: Bank of Botswana

The two-year freeze on upward adjustment of bank charges and fees imposed by the Bank effective January 1, 
2014 ended on December 31, 2015. The Capital Directive on the Revised International Convergence of Capital 
0HDVXUHPHQW�DQG�&DSLWDO�6WDQGDUGV�IRU�%RWVZDQD��%DVHO�,,��DQG�WKH�UHODWHG�JXLGHOLQHV�ZHUH�LVVXHG�WR�EDQNV�IRU�
implementation effective January 1, 2016. In an effort to enhance home-host supervisory relations, the Bank 
¿QDOLVHG�DQG�VLJQHG�0HPRUDQGD�RI�8QGHUVWDQGLQJ��0R8V��ZLWK�WKH�5HVHUYH�%DQN�RI�,QGLD�DQG�5HVHUYH�%DQN�
of Malawi.

An appeal on a banking licence rejected by the Bank was lodged with the Ministry of Finance and Development 
and was unsuccessful. Furthermore, a conditional approval for a banking licence granted in 2014 was revoked 
GXH�WR�ODFN�RI�SURJUHVV�LQ�WKH�IXO¿OPHQW�RI�WKH�VWLSXODWHG�FRQGLWLRQV��7KH�DSSOLFDQW�SURFHHGHG�WR�ORGJH�DQ�DSSHDO�
with the Minister of Finance and Development Planning, who upheld the Bank’s revocation decision. A total 
of seven bureaux de change were licensed, while four had their licences revoked for failure to comply with 
the regulations. Two bureaux de change surrendered their licences after failing to commence operations. The 
total number of operating bureaux de change was 57 as at December 31, 2015 compared to 56 in the prior year.

%DQNV�FRQWLQXHG�WR�UHVWUXFWXUH�DQG�UDWLRQDOLVH�WKHLU�RSHUDWLRQV�WR�LPSURYH�HI¿FLHQF\��7KLV�UHVXOWHG�LQ�WKH�FORVXUH�
RI�WKUHH�EUDQFKHV�DQG�¿YH�$XWRPDWHG�7HOOHU�0DFKLQHV��$70V���7KH�WRWDO�QXPEHU�RI�FRPPHUFLDO�EDQN�EUDQFKHV�
and ATMs as at December 31, 2015, was 111 and 415, respectively, which is a decrease from 114 and 420 as 
at December 31, 2014, respectively.
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$EDQGRQHG�IXQGV�FRQWLQXHG�WR�EH�DGPLQLVWHUHG�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�6HFWLRQ����RI�WKH�%DQNLQJ�$FW��&$3����������
$V�DW�'HFHPEHU�����������WKHVH�IXQGV�DPRXQWHG�WR�3����PLOOLRQ��3����PLOOLRQ�LQ�'HFHPEHU������������&ODLPV�
for the year amounted to P509 801, while P1.4 million was transferred to the Guardian Fund.

7KH�%DQN�UHYRNHG�WKH�EDQNLQJ�OLFHQFH�RI�.LQJGRP�%DQN�$IULFD�/LPLWHG��.%$/���DIWHU�LW�ZDV�DVVHVVHG�WR�EH�
insolvent; it is now in liquidation.

Foreign Exchange Reserves Management
Foreign exchange reserves increased by 7.3 percent 
from P79.1 billion in December 2014 to P84.9 bil-
lion as at the end of December 2015. The increase in 
UHVHUYHV� UHÀHFWV� YDOXDWLRQ�JDLQV� GHVSLWH� QHW� IRUHLJQ�
H[FKDQJH�RXWÀRZV��,Q�86�GROODUV�WHUPV��WKH�UHVHUYHV�
decreased by 9.3 percent from USD8.3 billion in 
December 2014 to USD7.5 billion as at the end of 
December 2015, while it decreased by 5.3 percent 
in SDR terms from SDR5.8 billion to SDR5.4 bil-
lion in the same period. In terms of months of import 
cover, the reserves were equivalent to 18.3 months in 
December 2015, up from 17.6 months in December 
������&KDUW����

Currency Operations 
The number of banknotes in circulation increased by 
8.3 percent in 2015, mainly due to the increase in the 
net issuance of the P20 and P10 banknote denomina-
tions, which increased by 17.8 percent and 19.4 per-
cent, respectively. This shows a high demand for these 
denominations during the period under review, with a 
share of total issuance of 23.1 percent and 14.9 percent 
from 21.3 percent and 13.5 percent, respectively, recorded in 2014. The P200 denomination continued to have 
the highest share of total issuance at 29.7 percent.

The net issuance of all coin denominations increased by 10.4 percent in 2015 compared to an increase of 31.7 
SHUFHQW�LQ�������7KH�UHODWLYHO\�ORZ�QHW�LVVXDQFH�LQ������ZDV�DWWULEXWDEOH�WR�VXI¿FLHQF\�RI�FRLQ�LVVXHG�LQWR�WKH�PDU-
ket and the fact that coin is exchanged at commercial banks and not ordinarily returned to the Bank of Botswana.

Payments and Settlement
The National Payments System landscape continued to evolve, as evidenced by an increase in participants, 
new payment methods and technological developments. Consistent with its oversight responsibilities, the Bank 
continued to foster and monitor these developments. 

7KH�%RWVZDQD�$XWRPDWHG�&OHDULQJ�+RXVH��%$&+��ZDV�FRPPLVVLRQHG�LQ�)HEUXDU\�������HQDEOLQJ�WKH�EDQNV�
to reduce the cheque clearing cycle to two days, with an interface with the Botswana Inter-bank Settlement 
6\VWHP��%,66��WR�IDFLOLWDWH�FROODWHUDOLVDWLRQ�RI�WUDQVDFWLRQV�DQG�JXDUDQWHH�VHWWOHPHQW�¿QDOLW\��&KDUWV�������VKRZ�
transactions effected through the BISS and electronic clearing house through electronic funds transfer and 
cheque transactions, respectively, over the years. In addition, approval was granted for Botswana to participate 
LQ�WKH�6$'&�,QWHJUDWHG�5HJLRQDO�6HWWOHPHQW�6\VWHP��6,5(66���D�IDFLOLW\�WKDW�SURPRWHV�LQWUD�UHJLRQDO�WUDGH�
and investment.

CHART 2: FOREIGN EXCHANGE RESERVES

Source: Bank of Botswana
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Information Technology
The Bank’s computing and information systems 
continue to be upgraded in line with innovation and 
technological advancements and in order to meet 
evolving functional and strategy requirements, 
while also allowing for effective connectivity with 
respect to external relationships.

Human Resources, Staff Welfare and Staff 
Pension Fund

Human Resources and Staff Welfare
As at December 31, 2015, the Bank’s Staff Estab-
lishment was 593. The vacancy level stood at 9.4 
percent, up from 9.1 percent in 2014. Twenty new 
staff joined the Bank, while 19 terminated employ-
ment. The Bank continues to place emphasis on 
staff development and, in this regard, several staff 
members bene¿ted from both short and long-term 
training.

Staff Pension Fund
The Bank of Botswana De¿ned Contribution Staff Pension Fund declared an investment return for the year 
ended September 30, 2015, of 11.42 percent and 10.86 percent compared to the 2014 declared return of 21 
percent and 20.44 percent for the active and deferred members, respectively. 

Source: Bank of Botswana

CHART 3: BOTSWANA INTER-BANK SETTLEMENT SYSTEM 
(BISS) TRANSACTIONS (2010 - 2015)

CHART 4: ELECTRONIC CLEARING HOUSE: 
CHEQUE PROCESSING  (2010 - 2015)

Source: Bank of Botswana

CHART 5: ELECTRONIC CLEARING HOUSE: ELECTRONIC 
FUNDS TRANSFERS (2010 - 2015)
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External Relations and Communication

External Relations
The Bank participated in relevant regional and international meetings as well as hosting consultation, surveil-
lance and technical assistance missions. The Bank also took part in meetings and conferences organised by the 
:RUOG�(FRQRPLF�)RUXP��%DQN�IRU�,QWHUQDWLRQDO�6HWWOHPHQWV��%,6���:RUOG�%DQN�DQG�,QWHUQDWLRQDO�0RQHWDU\�)XQG�
�,0)���$W�D�UHJLRQDO�OHYHO��WKH�%DQN�SDUWLFLSDWHG�LQ�PHHWLQJV�RUJDQLVHG�E\�6RXWKHUQ�$IULFDQ�&XVWRPV�8QLRQ�
�6$&8���6$'&�&RPPLWWHH�RI�&HQWUDO�%DQN�*RYHUQRUV��&&%*��DQG�WKH�$VVRFLDWLRQ�RI�$IULFDQ�&HQWUDO�%DQNV�
�$$&%���,Q�DGGLWLRQ��WKH�%DQN�KRVWHG�WKH�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�VRYHUHLJQ�FUHGLW�UDWLQJ�DJHQFLHV��0RRG\¶V�,QYHVWRUV�
Service and Standard & Poor’s, as they conducted the annual review of the credit ratings.

Publications, Communications and Public Education
,Q�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�VWDWXWRU\�UHTXLUHPHQWV�� WKH������$QQXDO�5HSRUW�RQ� WKH�%DQN¶V�RSHUDWLRQV�DQG�¿QDQFLDO�
statements and the 2014 Banking Supervision Annual Report were submitted to the Minister of Finance and 
Development Planning on March 31, 2015 and June 30, 2015, respectively. The 2015 Monetary Policy Statement 
�DQG�0LG�7HUP�5HYLHZ���PRQWKO\�%RWVZDQD�)LQDQFLDO�6WDWLVWLFV�DQG�5HVHDUFK�%XOOHWLQ�ZHUH�DOVR�SXEOLVKHG��
while the Bank’s website provided timely access to data, publications, press releases and the Bank’s policies.

,Q�IXO¿OPHQW�RI�DFFRXQWDELOLW\�DQG�WUDQVSDUHQF\�SULQFLSOHV�RI�JRYHUQDQFH��DQG�LQ�LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ�RI�WKH�SXEOLF�
RXWUHDFK�SURJUDPPH��WKH�%DQN�FRQGXFWHG�HFRQRPLF�EULH¿QJV�IROORZLQJ�WKH�SXEOLFDWLRQ�RI�WKH������$QQXDO�
5HSRUW��$PRQJ�WKH�NH\�VWDNHKROGHUV�ZKR�DWWHQGHG�WKH�EULH¿QJV�ZHUH� WKH�&DELQHW��KHDGV�UHSUHVHQWDWLYHV�RI�
GLSORPDWLF�PLVVLRQV��KHDGV�RI�SXEOLF�DQG�SULYDWH�VHFWRU�LQVWLWXWLRQV��VHQLRU�JRYHUQPHQW�RI¿FLDOV�DQG�WKH�PHGLD�
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD AND 
APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIALSTATEMENTS

The members of the Board are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
RI�WKH�DQQXDO�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�RI the Bank, comprising the Statement of Financial 
3RVLWLRQ�DW�'HFHPEHU�����������6WDWHPHQW�RI�3UR¿W�RU�/RVV�DQG�2WKHU�&RPSUHKHQ-
sive Income, Statement of Distribution, Statement of Cash Flows and Statement of 
&KDQJHV�LQ�6KDUHKROGHU¶V�)XQGV�IRU�WKH�\HDU�WKHQ�HQGHG��DQG�WKH�QRWHV�WR�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�
VWDWHPHQWV�ZKLFK�LQFOXGH�D�VXPPDU\�RI�VLJQL¿FDQW�DFFRXQWLQJ�SROLFLHV�DQG�RWKHU�
explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, 
DQG�LQ�WKH�PDQQHU�UHTXLUHG�E\�WKH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�$FW��&$3���������

The members are also responsible for such internal control as the members deter-
PLQH�LV�QHFHVVDU\�WR�HQDEOH�WKH�SUHSDUDWLRQ�RI�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�WKDW�DUH�IUHH�IURP�
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate 
accounting records and an effective system of risk management. 

The Board members have made an assessment of the ability of the Bank to continue 
as a going concern and have no reason to believe that the Bank will not be a going 
concern in the year ahead.

7KH�DXGLWRU�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�UHSRUWLQJ�RQ�ZKHWKHU�WKH�DQQXDO�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�
DUH�IDLUO\�SUHVHQWHG�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�DSSOLFDEOH�¿QDQFLDO�UHSRUWLQJ�IUDPHZRUN�

Approval of Annual Financial Statements

7KH�DQQXDO�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�RI�WKH�%DQN,�DV�LGHQWL¿HG�LQ�WKH�¿UVW�SDUDJUDSK��ZHUH�
approved by the Board on March 24, 2016 and signed on behalf of the Board by:

     

Linah K Mohohlo Gordon K Cunliffe

Governor Board Member

 (Audit Committee Chairman)
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1� �8QLWHG�6WDWHV�GROODU�3XOD�±����������������������
2� �6'5�3XOD�±����������������������

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31, 2015

Notes 2015 2014

P’000 P’000

ASSETS

Foreign Assets
Liquidity Portfolio 1.1 21 914 420 22 723 901
Pula Fund 1.2 61 183 450 54 757 524
,QWHUQDWLRQDO�0RQHWDU\�)XQG��,0)�

Reserve Tranche 2.1 424 539 430 044
Holdings of Special Drawing Rights 2.2 1 334 931 1 178 929
General Subsidy Account 2.3 23 666 20 907

Total Foreign Assets 84 881 006 79 111 305

Domestic Assets

Property and Equipment 3 403 770 413 618
Government of Botswana Bond 4 23 733 24 137
Other Assets 5 122 604 140 821
Total Domestic Assets 550 107 578 576
TOTAL ASSETS 85 431 113 79 689 881

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER’S FUNDS

Foreign Liabilities

Allocation of IMF Special Drawing Rights 6 893 912 789 694
/LDELOLWLHV�WR�*RYHUQPHQW��,0)�5HVHUYH�7UDQFKH� 7 358 931 364 435
Total Foreign Liabilities 1 252 843 1 154 129

Domestic Liabilities

Notes and Coin in Circulation 8 2 707 835 2 598 609
%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�&HUWL¿FDWHV 9 8 189 922 4 201 384
Reverse Repurchase Agreements 9.1 1 672 849 304 357
Deposits 10 5 067 372 6 841 828
Dividend to Government 11 401 782 544 689
Other Liabilities 12 129 509 214 974
Total Domestic Liabilities 18 169 269 14 705 841
Total Liabilities 19 422 112   15 859 970

Shareholder’s Funds

Paid-up Capital 14 25 000 25 000
Government Investment Account 

Pula Fund and Liquidity Portfolio 35 504 942 37 260 622
Currency Revaluation Reserve 23 911 754 19 728 010
Market Revaluation Reserve 4 967 305 5 216 279
General Reserve 15 1 600 000 1 600 000
Total Shareholder’s Funds 66 009 001 63 829 911
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER’S FUNDS 85 431 113 79 689 881

FOREIGN ASSETS IN US DOLLARS �����1 7 545 921 8 322 509
FOREIGN ASSETS IN SDR2  ����� 5 449 361 5 751 392
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended December 31, 2015 

Notes 2015 2014
P’000 P’000

INCOME

Interest – Foreign exchange reserves 16 1 271 312 1 147 416
Dividends – Foreign exchange reserves 17 562 428 472 768
Interest – Government of Botswana bond 1 997 2 000
Net gains from fair value changes on disposal of securities 18 991 575 1 446 836
Net realised currency gains 19 3 099 736 3 711 730
Net unrealised currency gains 20 3 868 432 –
Pro¿t on foreign exchange deals 38 109 31 380

Other income 73 428 13 475
9 907 017 6 825 605

EXPENSES

Interest expense 22 182 601 196 168
Administration costs 442 301 507 414
Depreciation expense 3 26 694 25 975
Net unrealised currency losses 20 - 2 024 881
Net unrealised losses from fair value changes 21 120 037 1 398

771 633 2 755 836

NET INCOME 9 135 384 4 069 769

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items that may be reclassi¿ed subsequently to pro¿t or loss

Net unrealised currency gains on non-monetary “available-for-sale” ¿nancial 
instruments 2 249 189 192 732

Net unrealised gains/losses from fair value changes on “available-for-sale” 
¿nancial instruments (325 205) 1 749 190

1 923 984 1 941 922

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 11 059 368 6 011 691
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended December 31, 2015

 Notes 2015 2014
P’000 P’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash generated from operations 26 5 805 846 1 690 789

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net withdrawals from/(investments into) foreign exchange reserves 3 123 371 (7 756 804)
Interest received from Government of Botswana bonds 1 997 2 000
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 1 234 847
Purchase of property and equipment 3 (18 489) (28 487)

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 3 108 113 (7 782 444)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividend to Government 11 (1 275 939) (1 305 655)
Government  (withdrawals)/investments (7 747 246) 7 180 217

NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (9 023 185) 5 874 562

NET INCREASE IN CURRENCY IN CIRCULATION (109 226) (217 093)
CURRENCY IN CIRCULATION AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR (2 598 609) (2 381 516)
CURRENCY IN CIRCULATION AT YEAR END (2 707 835) (2 598 609)

STATEMENT OF DISTRIBUTION
Year ended December 31, 2015

Note 2015 2014
P’000 P’000

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 11 059 368 6 011 691

Net unrealised currency gains on non-monetary “available-for-sale” ¿nancial 
instruments (2 249 189) (192 732)

Net unrealised losses/(gains) from fair value changes on “available-for-sale” 
¿nancial instruments 

325 205 (1 749 190)

NET INCOME 9 135 384 4 069 769

TRANSFER TO CURRENC< RE9ALUATION RESER9E 23 (6 869 975) (1 621 302)

NET INCOME TO GOVERNMENT 2 265 409 2 448 467

TRANSFER TO GO9ERNMENT IN9ESTMENT ACCOUNT (1 132 377) (1 378 778)

DI9IDEND (975 000) (700 000)

RESIDUAL NET INCOME 11 (158 032) (369 689)
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDER’S FUNDS
Year ended December 31, 2015

Paid-up Capital

Currency
Revaluation

Reserve

Market
Revaluation

Reserve General Reserve
P’000 P’000 P’000 P’000

BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2014 25 000 18 750 076 4 868 880 1 600 000
7RWDO�SUR¿W�DQG�RWKHU�FRPSUHKHQVLYH�LQFRPH� – 192 732 1 749 190 –

Net unrealised currency gains on non-monetary “avail-
DEOH�IRU�VDOH´�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV�

Net unrealised gains from fair value changes on “avail-
DEOH�IRU�VDOH´�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV

Net income 

–

–
–

192 732

–
–

–

1 749 190
–

–

–
–

7UDQVIHUV��WR��IURP�*RYHUQPHQW�,QYHVWPHQW�$F-
count: – ��������� ����������� –

Net unrealised gains from fair value changes – – ����������� –
Net unrealised currency gains – ��������� – –
Excess of Government’s share of net income from Pula 

Fund over dividend – – – –
Government Withdrawals – – – –

Transfer to Currency Revaluation Reserve – 1 621 302 – –
Dividend to Government – – – –

Residual net income – – – –

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2014 25 000 19 728 010 5 216 279 1 600 000

7RWDO�SUR¿W�DQG�RWKHU��FRPSUHKHQVLYH�LQFRPH� – 2 249 189 ��������� –

Net unrealised currency gains on non-monetary “avail-
DEOH�IRU�VDOH´�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV�

Net unrealised losses from fair value changes on 
³DYDLODEOH�IRU�VDOH´�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV

Net income 

–

–
–

2 249 189

–
–

–

���������
–

–

–
–

7UDQVIHUV��WR��IURP�*RYHUQPHQW�,QYHVWPHQW�$F-
count: – ����������� 76 231 –

Net unrealised losses from fair value changes – – 76 231 –
Net unrealised currency gains – ����������� – –
Excess of Government’s share of net income from Pula 

Fund over dividend – – – –
Government withdrawals – – – –

Transfer to Currency Revaluation Reserve – 6 869 975 – –
Dividend to Government 
Residual net income 

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2015 25 000 23 911 754 4 967 305 1 600 000

l

0

2
1
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Government Investment 
Account $FFXPXODWHG�3UR¿W Total

P’000 P’000 P’000

26 463 736 – 51 707 692 BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2014
– 4 069 769 6 011 691 7RWDO�SUR¿W�DQG�RWKHU�FRPSUHKHQVLYH�LQFRPH�

–

–
–

–

–
4 069 769

192 732

1 749 190
4 069 769

Net unrealised currency gains on non-monetary “avail-
DEOH�IRU�VDOH´�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV�

Net unrealised gains from fair value changes on “avail-
DEOH�IRU�VDOH´�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV

Net income 

10 796 886 ����������� 7 180 217
7UDQVIHUV��WR��IURP�*RYHUQPHQW�,QYHVWPHQW�$F-

count:

1 401 791 – – Net unrealised gains from fair value changes 
836 100 – – Net unrealised currency gains 

1 378 778 ����������� –
Excess of Government’s share of net income from Pula 

Fund over dividend
7 180 217 – 7 180 217 Government Withdrawals

– ����������� – Transfer to Currency Revaluation Reserve
– ��������� ��������� Dividend to Government 
– ��������� ��������� Residual net income 

37 260 622 – 63 829 911 BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2014

– 9 135 384 11 059 368 7RWDO�SUR¿W�DQG�RWKHU��FRPSUHKHQVLYH�LQFRPH�

–

–
–

–

–
9 135 384

2 249 189

���������
9 135 384

Net unrealised currency gains on non-monetary “avail-
DEOH�IRU�VDOH´�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV�

Net unrealised losses from fair value changes on 
³DYDLODEOH�IRU�VDOH´�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV

Net income 

����������� ����������� �����������
7UDQVIHUV��WR��IURP�*RYHUQPHQW�,QYHVWPHQW�$F-

count:

�������� – – Net unrealised losses from fair value changes 
4 935 420 – – Net unrealised currency gains 

1 132 377 ����������� –
Excess of Government’s share of net income from Pula 

Fund over dividend
����������� – ����������� Government withdrawals

– ����������� – Transfer to Currency Revaluation Reserve
–
–

���������
���������

���������
���������

Dividend to Government 
Residual net income 

35 504 942 – 66 009 001 BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2015
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
For the year ended  December 31, 2015

REPORTING ENTITY

7KH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD��WKH�%DQN��LV�WKH�FHQWUDO�EDQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�HVWDEOLVKHG�XQGHU�WKH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�$FW��&$3����������
7KH�DGGUHVV�RI�WKH�%DQN¶V�UHJLVWHUHG�RI¿FH�LV�������.KDPD�&UHVFHQW��*DERURQH���7KHVH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DSSO\�WR�WKH�
¿QDQFLDO�\HDU�HQGHG�'HFHPEHU������������7KH�*RYHUQPHQW�LV�WKH�%DQN¶V�VROH�VKDUHKROGHU�

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of Compliance

7KH�SULQFLSDO�DFFRXQWLQJ�SROLFLHV�DSSOLHG�LQ�WKH�SUHSDUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DUH�VWDWHG�EHORZ���7KHVH�SROLFLHV�KDYH�
been consistently applied to all the years presented and comply with International Financial Reporting Standards in all mate-
rial respects.

The Financial Statements were authorised for issue by the Board on March 24, 2016.

Basis of Measurement

7KH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DUH�SUHSDUHG�RQ�D�KLVWRULFDO�FRVW�EDVLV��PRGL¿HG�E\�IDLU�YDOXH�DFFRXQWLQJ�IRU�DYDLODEOH�IRU�VDOH�¿QDQ-
FLDO�DVVHWV��DOO�GHULYDWLYH�FRQWUDFWV��¿QDQFLDO�DVVHWV�DQG�OLDELOLWLHV�WKDW�DUH�KHOG�DW�IDLU�YDOXH�WKURXJK�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�

Functional and Presentation Currency

7KH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DUH�SUHVHQWHG�LQ�3XOD��ZKLFK�LV�WKH�%DQN¶V�IXQFWLRQDO�FXUUHQF\���([FHSW�DV�RWKHUZLVH�LQGLFDWHG��¿QDQ-
cial information presented in Pula has been rounded to the nearest thousand.

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS IN ISSUE NOT YET ADOPTED
$V�DW�WKH�GDWH�RI�¿QDOLVDWLRQ�RI�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��WKH�IROORZLQJ�VWDQGDUGV��UHOHYDQW�WR�WKH�%DQN¶V�RSHUDWLRQV��DUH�LQ�LVVXH�
DQG�KDYH�QRW�\HW�EHHQ�DGRSWHG�LQ�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�

Standard
Effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after

$PHQGPHQW�WR�,$6����DQG�,$6�����&ODUL¿FDWLRQ�RI�$FFHSWDEOH�0HWKRGV�RI�
Depreciation and Amortisation

7KH�FODUL¿FDWLRQ�VWDWHV�WKDW�WKH�UHYHQXH�EDVHG�PHWKRGV�RI�GHSUHFLDWLRQ�DUH�QRW�
DFFHSWDEOH��DV�WKHVH�PHWKRGV�UHÀHFW�JHQHUDWLRQ�RI�HFRQRPLF�EHQH¿WV�E\�WKH�DVVHW��
and not consumption of the asset.

The amendments to IAS 38; Intangible Assets introduces rebuttable presump-
tion that the use of revenue-based amortisation methods for intangible assets 
is inappropriate.  The presumption can be overcome only when revenue and 
WKH�FRQVXPSWLRQ�RI�WKH�HFRQRPLF�EHQH¿WV�RI�WKH�LQWDQJLEOH�DVVHWV�DUH�³KLJKO\�
correlated” or when the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue.  

The Bank uses the straight line method of depreciation, and not the revenue-based 
PHWKRG�� KHQFH� WKH� DPHQGPHQWV�ZLOO� KDYH�QR� LPSDFW� RQ� WKH�%DQN¶V�¿QDQFLDO�
statements.

January 1, 2016

Amendments to IAS 1 - Disclosure Initiative 

The amendments clarify that information should not be obscured by aggregating 
or providing immaterial information: materiality considerations must apply to 
DOO�SDUWV�RI�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��DQG�WKDW�HYHQ�ZKHQ�D�VWDQGDUG�UHTXLUHV�D�
VSHFL¿F�GLVFORVXUH��PDWHULDOLW\�FRQVLGHUDWLRQV�PXVW�DSSO\�

$GRSWLRQ�RI�WKH�DPHQGPHQWV�LV�QRW�H[SHFWHG�WR�KDYH�DQ\�LPSDFW�RQ�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�
statements of the Bank.

January 1, 2016
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
For the year ended  December 31, 2015

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS IN ISSUE NOT YET ADOPTED (Continued)

Standard
Effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The standard replaces IAS 18 Revenue and other revenue standards.  It 
contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two 
approaches to recognising revenue at a point in time or over time.  The model 
IHDWXUHV� D� FRQWUDFW�EDVHG�¿YH� VWHS� DQDO\VLV� RI� WUDQVDFWLRQV� WR�GHWHUPLQH�
whether, how much and when revenue is recognised.

The Bank is currently in the process of performing a more detailed assess-
PHQW�RI�WKH�LPSDFW�RI�WKLV�VWDQGDUG�RQ�LWV�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�

January 1, 2018

IFRS 9 -  Financial Instruments (Replacement of IAS 39)

IFRS 9 published in July 2014 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Rec-
RJQLWLRQ�DQG�0HDVXUHPHQW���)LQDQFLDO�DVVHWV�DQG�OLDELOLWLHV�DUH�WR�EH�FODVVL¿HG�
and measured based on the entity’s business model on which they are held, 
DQG�WKH�FKDUDFWHULVWLFV�RI�WKHLU�FRQWUDFWXDO�FDVK�ÀRZV��,)56���LQFOXGHV�UHYLVHG�
JXLGHOLQHV�RQ�WKH�FODVVL¿FDWLRQ�DQG�PHDVXUHPHQW�RI�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV��
including a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on 
¿QDQFLDO�DVVHWV�DQG�WKH�QHZ�KHGJH�DFFRXQWLQJ�UHTXLUHPHQWV��

7KH�%DQN�LV�DVVHVVLQJ�WKH�IXOO�SRWHQWLDO�LPSDFW�RQ�LWV�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�
that will result from the adoption of IFRS 9.  Early adoption is permitted, 
but the Bank will adopt it by the year ending December 31, 2018.

January 1, 2018

IFRS 16 -  Leases (Replacement of IAS 17)

IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases, and it sets out principles for recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases. It provides a single les-
see accounting model requiring lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for 
all leases unless the lease term is twelve months or less; or the underlying 
asset has a low value.  Lessors will continue to classify leases as operating 
RU�¿QDQFH�OHDVHV��

The Bank will perform a more detailed assessment of the impact of the adop-
WLRQ�RI�WKH�VWDQGDUG�RQ�LWV�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��(DUO\�DGRSWLRQ�LV�SHUPLWWHG��
but the Bank will adopt it effective January 1, 2019.

January 1, 2019

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

General
Financial instruments carried on the Statement of Financial Position include all assets and liabilities, including derivative in-
VWUXPHQWV��EXW�H[FOXGH�SURSHUW\�DQG�HTXLSPHQW�DQG�RWKHU�DVVHWV��SUHSD\PHQWV��9$7�UHFHLYDEOHV��VXQGU\�UHFHLYDEOHV�DQG�VXQGU\�
UHFHLSWV���

Fair Value Measurement
“Fair value” is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date in the principal or the most advantageous market to which the Bank has access at 
WKDW�GDWH���7KH�IDLU�YDOXH�RI�D�OLDELOLW\�UHÀHFWV�LWV�QRQ�SHUIRUPDQFH�ULVN�
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7KH�%DQN�PHDVXUHV�WKH�IDLU�YDOXH�RI�D�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQW�XVLQJ�WKH�TXRWHG�SULFH�LQ�DQ�DFWLYH�PDUNHW�IRU�WKDW�SDUWLFXODU�LQVWUX-
PHQW���$�PDUNHW�LV�UHJDUGHG�DV�DFWLYH�LI�WUDQVDFWLRQV�IRU�WKH�DVVHW�RU�OLDELOLW\�WDNH�SODFH�ZLWK�VXI¿FLHQW�IUHTXHQF\�DQG�YROXPH�WR�
provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

When quoted prices in an active market are not available, the Bank uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs.  The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors 
that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

Financial Assets
)LQDQFLDO�DVVHWV�DUH�LQLWLDOO\�PHDVXUHG�DW�IDLU�YDOXH�SOXV��LQ�WKH�FDVH�RI�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHWV�QRW�DW�IDLU�YDOXH�WKURXJK�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV��
LQFUHPHQWDO�GLUHFW�WUDQVDFWLRQ�FRVWV�DQG�VXEVHTXHQWO\�DFFRXQWHG�IRU�GHSHQGLQJ�RQ�WKHLU�FODVVL¿FDWLRQ�DV�HLWKHU�ORDQV�DQG�UH-
FHLYDEOHV��KHOG�WR�PDWXULW\��IDLU�YDOXH�WKURXJK�SUR¿W�DQG�ORVV�RU�DYDLODEOH�IRU�VDOH�

Loans and Receivables
/RDQV�DQG�UHFHLYDEOHV�DUH�QRQ�GHULYDWLYH�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHWV�ZLWK�¿[HG�RU�GHWHUPLQDEOH�SD\PHQWV�WKDW�DUH�QRW�TXRWHG�LQ�DQ�DFWLYH�
PDUNHW��7KHVH�DULVH�ZKHQ�WKH�%DQN�SURYLGHV�D�VHUYLFH�GLUHFWO\�WR�D�FRXQWHUSDUW\���/RDQV�DQG�UHFHLYDEOHV��DV�ZHOO�DV�SUHSD\-
PHQWV��DGYDQFHV�WR�EDQNV�DQG�VWDII�DGYDQFHV��DUH�LQLWLDOO\�PHDVXUHG�DW�IDLU�YDOXH�SOXV�LQFUHPHQWDO�GLUHFW�WUDQVDFWLRQ�FRVWV��DQG�
VXEVHTXHQWO\�PHDVXUHG�DW�DPRUWLVHG�FRVW�XVLQJ�WKH�HIIHFWLYH�LQWHUHVW�PHWKRG�OHVV�DQ\�LGHQWL¿HG�LPSDLUPHQW�ORVVHV�DW�WKH�HQG�
of each reporting period.

)LQDQFLDO�$VVHWV�DW�)DLU�9DOXH�WKURXJK�3UR¿W�RU�/RVV
)LQDQFLDO�DVVHWV�DUH�FODVVL¿HG�DV�IDLU�YDOXH�WKURXJK�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�ZKHQ�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHW�LV�KHOG�IRU�WUDGLQJ��7KH�%DQN�KROGV�
short-term investments as held for trading.

$�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHW�LV�FODVVL¿HG�DV�KHOG�IRU�WUDGLQJ�LI�LW�LV�DFTXLUHG�SULQFLSDOO\�IRU�WKH�SXUSRVH�RI�VHOOLQJ�LW�LQ�WKH�VKRUW�WHUP�RU�LI�
VR�GHVLJQDWHG�E\�PDQDJHPHQW��)LQDQFLDO�DVVHWV�DW�IDLU�YDOXH�WKURXJK�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�DUH�VWDWHG�DW�IDLU�YDOXH��ZLWK�DQ\�UHDOLVHG�DQG�
XQUHDOLVHG�JDLQV�DQG�ORVVHV�DULVLQJ�IURP�FKDQJHV�LQ�WKH�IDLU�YDOXH�RI�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHWV�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�LQ�WKH�\HDU�LQ�
which they arise. 

Short-term Investments (Liquidity Portfolio) 
The Bank has designated the Liquidity Portfolio as a fund in which money market instruments and bonds are invested to fa-
cilitate payments for regular transactions.

6HFXULWLHV�LQYHVWHG�LQ�WKLV�SRUWIROLR�DUH�PHDVXUHG�³DW�IDLU�YDOXH�WKURXJK�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV´�DQG�DUH�FODVVL¿HG�DV�KHOG�IRU�WUDGLQJ���7KH\�
are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently remeasured at fair value based on bid prices.  All related realised and 
XQUHDOLVHG�JDLQV�DQG�ORVVHV�DUH�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�

All purchases and sales of investment securities in the portfolio are recognised at trade date, which is the date the Bank com-
mits to purchase or sell the investments.

7KH�UHDOLVHG�DQG�XQUHDOLVHG�JDLQV�DQG�ORVVHV�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�H[FOXGH�LQWHUHVW�DQG�GLYLGHQG�LQFRPH��'HULYDWLYHV�DUH�
FODVVL¿HG�DV�KHOG�IRU�WUDGLQJ�

Available-For-Sale
$YDLODEOH�IRU�VDOH�DVVHWV�DUH�QRQ�GHULYDWLYH�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHWV� WKDW�DUH�GHVLJQDWHG�DV�DYDLODEOH�IRU�VDOH�RU�DUH�QRW�FODVVL¿HG�DV�
DQRWKHU�FDWHJRU\�RI�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV��$YDLODEOH�IRU�VDOH�LQVWUXPHQWV�DUH�LQWHQGHG�WR�EH�KHOG�IRU�ORQJ�SHULRGV�RI�WLPH�EXW�
may be sold in the normal course of business of the Bank.

Long-term Investments (Pula Fund)
7KLV�LV�D�ORQJ�WHUP�IXQG�LQWHQGHG�WR�PD[LPLVH�UHWXUQV�DQG�LV�LQYHVWHG�LQ�IRUHLJQ�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV���7KHVH�LQYHVWPHQWV��
ZKLFK�PD\�EH�VROG�LQ�UHVSRQVH�WR�QHHGV�IRU�OLTXLGLW\��FKDQJHV�LQ�LQWHUHVW�UDWHV��H[FKDQJH�UDWHV��HWF���DUH�FODVVL¿HG�DV�³DYDLODEOH�
IRU�VDOH´��H[FHSW�IRU�GHULYDWLYHV���7KHVH�VHFXULWLHV�DUH�LQLWLDOO\�UHFRJQLVHG�DW�IDLU�YDOXH��ZKLFK�LQFOXGHV�WUDQVDFWLRQ�FRVWV��DQG�
are subsequently remeasured at fair value, based on bid prices.  

$OO�UHDOLVHG�FXUUHQF\�JDLQV�ORVVHV�DUH�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV���8QUHDOLVHG�FXUUHQF\�JDLQV�ORVVHV�RQ�PRQHWDU\�LWHPV�DUH�DOVR�
UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV���7KH�XQUHDOLVHG�FXUUHQF\�JDLQV�ORVVHV�RQ�QRQ�PRQHWDU\�LWHPV�DUH�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�RWKHU�FRPSUHKHQVLYH�
income.  However, in line with the Bank policy, all currency gains/losses for this Fund are not distributable and are, therefore, 
appropriated to the Currency Revaluation Reserve.
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5HDOLVHG�IDLU�YDOXH�FKDQJHV�DUH�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV���8QUHDOLVHG�IDLU�YDOXH�FKDQJHV�DUH�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�RWKHU�FRPSUHKHQVLYH�
LQFRPH���8QUHDOLVHG�JDLQV�DQG�ORVVHV�DULVLQJ�IURP�IDLU�YDOXH�FKDQJHV�RI�WKH�LQVWUXPHQWV�FODVVL¿HG�DV�³DYDLODEOH�IRU�VDOH´�DUH�
non-distributable as per the Bank’s policy and are appropriated to the Market Revaluation Reserve.  When these instruments 
DUH�GLVSRVHG�RI�RU�LPSDLUHG��WKH�UHODWHG�DFFXPXODWHG�IDLU�YDOXH�RU�LPSDLUPHQW�DGMXVWPHQWV�DUH�LQFOXGHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�DV�JDLQV�
or losses from investment securities.

All purchases and sales of investment securities in the portfolio are recognised at trade date, which is the date the Bank com-
mits to purchase or sell the investments.

Government of Botswana Bonds

The Bank acquires Government of Botswana bonds for purposes of facilitating orderly trading in the local bond market.  The 
ERQGV��ZKLFK�PD\�EH�VROG�LQ�UHVSRQVH�WR�WKH�QHHG�WR�LQWHUYHQH�LQ�WKH�PDUNHW��DUH�FODVVL¿HG�DV�³DYDLODEOH�IRU�VDOH´�VHFXULWLHV���

The bonds are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently remeasured at fair value, based on bid prices.  All unre-
alised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value are recognised in the Market Revaluation Reserve.  When these 
LQVWUXPHQWV�DUH�GLVSRVHG�RI�RU�LPSDLUHG��WKH�UHODWHG�DFFXPXODWHG�IDLU�YDOXH�DGMXVWPHQWV�DUH�LQFOXGHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�DV�JDLQV�
or losses from Government of Botswana bonds.

All purchases and sales of bonds are recognised at trade date, which is the date that the Bank commits itself to purchase or 
sell the bonds.

Derivative Instruments
The Bank uses a variety of derivative instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange risks, including 
interest rate futures, foreign exchange forward contracts, cross-currency swaps and options. 

'HULYDWLYH�LQVWUXPHQWV�DUH�LQLWLDOO\�UHFRJQLVHG�DW�IDLU�YDOXH��LQFOXGLQJ�WUDQVDFWLRQ�FRVWV��DQG�DUH�VXEVHTXHQWO\�UHPHDVXUHG�DW�IDLU�
value, based on bid prices for assets held or liabilities to be issued, and ask/offer prices for assets to be acquired or liabilities 
KHOG���7KH�UHVXOWLQJ�JDLQ�RU�ORVV�LV�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�WKH�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�

Impairment of Financial Assets
Financial assets other than loans and receivables are carried at fair value. “Loans and receivables” are assessed for any evidence 
of impairment at each Statement of Financial Position date.  Financial assets are impaired when there is objective evidence that 
DV�D�UHVXOW�RI�RQH�RU�PRUH�HYHQWV�WKDW�KDYH�RFFXUUHG�DIWHU�WKH�LQLWLDO�UHFRJQLWLRQ�RI�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHW��WKH�HVWLPDWHG�IXWXUH�FDVK�
ÀRZV�RI�WKH�LQYHVWPHQW�KDYH�EHHQ�DGYHUVHO\�LPSDFWHG���)RU�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHWV�FDUULHG�DW�DPRUWLVHG�FRVW��WKH�DPRXQW�RI�WKH�LPSDLU-
PHQW�LV�WKH�GLIIHUHQFH�EHWZHHQ�WKH�DVVHW¶V�FDUU\LQJ�DPRXQW�DQG�WKH�SUHVHQW�YDOXH�RI�HVWLPDWHG�IXWXUH�FDVK�ÀRZV��GLVFRXQWHG�DW�
the original effective interest rate.  In respect of “available-for-sale” equity securities, any increase in fair value subsequent to 
an impairment loss is recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Financial Liabilities
$OO�WKH�%DQN¶V�¿QDQFLDO�OLDELOLWLHV�DUH�FODVVL¿HG�DV�RWKHU�¿QDQFLDO�OLDELOLWLHV�DW�DPRUWLVHG�FRVW���)LQDQFLDO�OLDELOLWLHV�DUH�LQLWLDOO\�
recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition 
7KH�%DQN�GHUHFRJQLVHV�D�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHW�ZKHQ�LW�ORVHV�FRQWURO�RYHU�WKH�FRQWUDFWXDO�ULJKWV�WKDW�FRPSULVH�WKH�DVVHW�DQG�WUDQVIHUV�
VXEVWDQWLDOO\�DOO�WKH�ULVNV�DQG�EHQH¿WV�DVVRFLDWHG�ZLWK�WKH�DVVHW���7KLV�DULVHV�ZKHQ�WKH�ULJKWV�DUH�UHDOLVHG��H[SLUH�RU�DUH�VXUUHQ-
GHUHG���$�¿QDQFLDO�OLDELOLW\�LV�GHUHFRJQLVHG�ZKHQ�LWV�FRQWUDFWXDO�REOLJDWLRQV�DUH�GLVFKDUJHG��FDQFHOOHG�RU�H[SLUH�

Other Financial Liabilities
2WKHU�¿QDQFLDO�OLDELOLWLHV�DUH�LQLWLDOO\�PHDVXUHG�DW�IDLU�YDOXH��QHW�RI�WUDQVDFWLRQ�FRVWV��

2WKHU�¿QDQFLDO�OLDELOLWLHV�DUH�VXEVHTXHQWO\�PHDVXUHG�DW�DPRUWLVHG�FRVW�XVLQJ�WKH�HIIHFWLYH�LQWHUHVW�PHWKRG��ZLWK�LQWHUHVW�H[SHQVH�
UHFRJQLVHG�RQ�WKH�HIIHFWLYH�\LHOG�EDVLV���7KH�HIIHFWLYH�LQWHUHVW�PHWKRG�LV�D�PHWKRG�RI�FDOFXODWLQJ�WKH�DPRUWLVHG�FRVW�RI�D�¿QDQFLDO�
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
IXWXUH�FDVK�SD\PHQWV�WKURXJK�WKH�H[SHFWHG�OLIH�RI�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�OLDELOLW\��RU�ZKHUH�DSSURSULDWH��D�VKRUWHU�SHULRG�

%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�&HUWL¿FDWHV
As one of the primary tools for maintaining monetary stability in the economy, the Bank of Botswana issues its own paper, 
%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�&HUWL¿FDWHV��%R%&V���WR�DEVRUE�H[FHVV�OLTXLGLW\�LQ�WKH�PDUNHW�DQG�WKHUHE\�LQÀXHQFH�VKRUW�WHUP�LQWHUHVW�UDWHV���
%R%&V�DUH�LVVXHG�DW�D�GLVFRXQW�WR�FRXQWHUSDUWLHV���7KH\�DUH�FODVVL¿HG�DV�³RWKHU�¿QDQFLDO�OLDELOLWLHV´�
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The Bank’s liability in respect of BoBCs is stated at offer prices on auction date, adjusted for movements in matured and un-
PDWXUHG�GLVFRXQW�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV���

CREDIT FACILITY

Under the Credit Facility, the Bank provides emergency and intermittent funding to solvent banks, intended to bridge intra-day and 
RYHUQLJKW�OLTXLGLW\�VKRUWDJHV��7KH�DGYDQFHV�DUH�VHFXUHG�E\�*RYHUQPHQW�RI�%RWVZDQD�ERQGV�DQG�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�&HUWL¿FDWHV�
�%R%&V���YDOXHG�DW�IDLU�YDOXH�SULFHV�RQ�WKH�GDWH�RI�WKH�WUDQVDFWLRQ���2QO\�KLJK�TXDOLW\��PDUNHWDEOH�DQG�IUHHO\�WUDQVIHUDEOH�SDSHU�
with a minimum amount of risk is acceptable as collateral at the discretion of the Bank.  Government bonds and Government 
guaranteed securities of any maturity and other eligible paper with a remaining maturity of 184 days or less are also acceptable 
as security.  The Bank has the right to call for additional collateral, should the value of the security decline during the tenure 
RI�WKH�IDFLOLW\���,QWHUHVW�HDUQHG�RQ�WKH�DGYDQFHV�LV�FUHGLWHG�WR�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV��ZKLOH�DGYDQFHV�RXWVWDQGLQJ�DV�DW�WKH�6WDWHPHQW�RI�
Financial Position date are recorded under “other assets”.

SECURITIES LENDING PROGRAMME

The Bank takes part in a Securities Lending Programme.  Where securities are lent, the Bank holds collateral in the form of cash 
or other securities.  The securities lent continue to be recorded in the Bank’s Statement of Financial Position. 

The Bank’s global custodian administers the Securities Lending Programme and monitors the securities lent and related collateral 
against requirements agreed by the Bank.

The Bank records income from lending securities as it accrues.

REPURCHASE AND REVERSE REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

7KLV�IDFLOLW\�LV�RQH�RI�WKH�PHFKDQLVPV�GHVLJQHG�WR�GHDO�ZLWK�VKRUW�WHUP�OLTXLGLW\�ÀXFWXDWLRQV�LQ�WKH�GRPHVWLF�PRQH\�PDUNHW���,W�
is available to primary counterparties which are solvent institutions licensed and supervised by the Bank.  

The term of a repurchase agreement and reverse repurchase agreement can vary from overnight to 91 days, depending on the 
liquidity conditions in the domestic market.

Interest earned by the Bank on repurchase agreements and interest paid by the Bank on reverse repurchase agreements is rec-
RJQLVHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�

OFFSETTING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

7KH�%DQN�RIIVHWV�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHWV�DQG�OLDELOLWLHV�DQG�UHSRUWV�WKH�QHW�EDODQFH�LQ�WKH�6WDWHPHQW�RI�)LQDQFLDO�3RVLWLRQ�ZKHUH�

�D�� 7KHUH�LV�D�OHJDOO\�HQIRUFHDEOH�ULJKW�WR�VHW�RII��DQG
�E�� 7KHUH�LV�DQ�LQWHQWLRQ�WR�VHWWOH�RQ�D�QHW�EDVLV�RU�WR�UHDOLVH�WKH�DVVHW�DQG�VHWWOH�WKH�OLDELOLW\�VLPXOWDQHRXVO\�

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

All transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Pula at the mid exchange rate at the transaction date. All 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Pula using mid rates of exchange at the close of the 
¿QDQFLDO�\HDU���)RUHLJQ�FXUUHQF\�GLIIHUHQFHV�DULVLQJ�RQ�WUDQVODWLRQ�DUH�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV��H[FHSW�IRU�XQUHDOLVHG�H[FKDQJH�
GLIIHUHQFHV�DULVLQJ�RQ� WUDQVODWLRQ�RI�QRQ�PRQHWDU\�³DYDLODEOH�IRU�VDOH´�¿QDQFLDO� LQVWUXPHQWV��ZKLFK�DUH�UHFRJQLVHG� LQ�RWKHU�
comprehensive income.  However, all gains and losses relating to disposals whose proceeds are reinvested in foreign assets, and 
DOO�WKH�XQUHDOLVHG�JDLQV�ORVVHV�DULVLQJ�RQ�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV�DUH�QRW�FRQVLGHUHG�GLVWULEXWDEOH�LQ�WHUPV�RI�%DQN�SROLF\��WKH\�DUH�
appropriated to the Currency Revaluation Reserve. 

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND RECOGNITION OF PROVISIONS

1RQ�¿QDQFLDO�$VVHWV�
1RQ�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHWV�DUH�UHFRJQLVHG�ZKHQ�WKH�%DQN�REWDLQV�FRQWURO�RI�D�UHVRXUFH�DV�D�UHVXOW�RI�SDVW�HYHQWV��DQG�IURP�ZKLFK�IXWXUH�
HFRQRPLF�EHQH¿WV�DUH�H[SHFWHG�WR�ÀRZ�WR�WKH�%DQN�
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Contingent Assets
7KH�%DQN�GLVFORVHV�D�FRQWLQJHQW�DVVHW�DULVLQJ�IURP�SDVW�HYHQWV�ZKHUH�LW�LV�SUREDEOH�WKDW�HFRQRPLF�EHQH¿WV�ZLOO�ÀRZ�IURP�LW��
EXW�WKLV�ZLOO�RQO\�EH�FRQ¿UPHG�E\�WKH�RFFXUUHQFH�RU�QRQ�RFFXUUHQFH�RI�RQH�RU�PRUH�XQFHUWDLQ�IXWXUH�HYHQWV�RXWVLGH�WKH�FRQWURO�
of the Bank.

Liabilities and Provisions
7KH�%DQN�UHFRJQLVHV�OLDELOLWLHV��LQFOXGLQJ�SURYLVLRQV��ZKHQ�

�D�� ,W�KDV�D�SUHVHQW�OHJDO�REOLJDWLRQ�UHVXOWLQJ�IURP�SDVW�HYHQWV��
�E�� ,W� LV� SUREDEOH� WKDW� DQ�RXWÀRZ�RI� UHVRXUFHV� HPERG\LQJ� HFRQRPLF�EHQH¿WV�ZLOO� EH� UHTXLUHG� WR� VHWWOH� WKLV� �
  obligation; and
�F�� $�UHOLDEOH�HVWLPDWH�RI�WKH�DPRXQW�RI�WKH�REOLJDWLRQ�FDQ�EH�PDGH�

INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNITION 

,QWHUHVW�LQFRPH�RQ�DOO�DVVHWV�LV�FDOFXODWHG�XVLQJ�WKH�HIIHFWLYH�LQWHUHVW�PHWKRG�DQG�LV�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV� The ‘effective 
interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of 
WKH�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHW�RU�¿QDQFLDO�OLDELOLW\�WR�WKH�FDUU\LQJ�DPRXQW�RI�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHW�RU�¿QDQFLDO�OLDELOLW\��:KHQ�FDOFXODWLQJ�WKH�
HIIHFWLYH�LQWHUHVW�UDWH��WKH�%DQN�HVWLPDWHV�IXWXUH�FDVK�ÀRZV�FRQVLGHULQJ�DOO�FRQWUDFWXDO�WHUPV�RI�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQW��EXW�
not future credit losses.  The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs that are an integral part of the 
effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a 
¿QDQFLDO�DVVHW�RU�¿QDQFLDO�OLDELOLW\��

,QWHUHVW�LQFRPH�DQG�H[SHQVH�SUHVHQWHG�LQ�WKH�VWDWHPHQW�RI�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�DQG�RWKHU�FRPSUHKHQVLYH�LQFRPH�LQFOXGH�

�D�� LQWHUHVW�RQ�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHWV�DQG�¿QDQFLDO�OLDELOLWLHV�PHDVXUHG�DW�DPRUWLVHG�FRVW�FDOFXODWHG�RQ�DQ�HIIHFWLYH�LQWHUHVW��
basis; and

�E�� LQWHUHVW�RQ�DYDLODEOH�IRU�VDOH�LQYHVWPHQW�VHFXULWLHV�FDOFXODWHG�RQ�DQ�HIIHFWLYH�LQWHUHVW�UDWH�EDVLV�

'LYLGHQGV�RQ�DYDLODEOH�IRU�VDOH�HTXLW\�LQVWUXPHQWV�DUH�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�ZKHQ�WKH�ULJKW�WR�UHFHLYH�SD\PHQW�LV�HVWDE-
lished.  Usually, this is the ex-dividend date for quoted equities. 

GENERAL RESERVE

8QGHU�6HFWLRQ������RI�WKH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�$FW���&$3���������WKH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�LV�UHTXLUHG�WR�HVWDEOLVK�DQG�PDLQWDLQ�D�
*HQHUDO�5HVHUYH�VXI¿FLHQW�WR�HQVXUH�WKH�VXVWDLQDELOLW\�RI�IXWXUH�RSHUDWLRQV�RI�WKH�%DQN���7KH�%DQN�PD\�WUDQVIHU�WR�WKH�*HQHUDO�
Reserve funds from other reserves, which it maintains, for the purposes of maintaining the required level of the General Reserve.

CURRENCY REVALUATION RESERVE

Any changes in the valuation, in terms of Pula, of the Bank’s assets and liabilities in holdings of Special Drawing Rights and 
foreign currencies as a result of any change in the values of exchange rates of Special Drawing Rights or foreign currencies 
and in realised currency gains reinvested in foreign assets are transferred to the Currency Revaluation Reserve.

The proportion directly attributable to the Government Investment Account is transferred to such investment account.

MARKET REVALUATION RESERVE

Any changes in the value of the Bank’s long-term investments as a result of any change in the fair values of such investments 
are transferred to the Market Revaluation Reserve.

The proportion directly attributable to the Government Investment Account is transferred to such investment account.

GOVERNMENT INVESTMENT ACCOUNT

The Government Investment Account, which was established on January 1, 1997, represents the Government’s share of foreign 
exchange reserves in the Pula Fund and Liquidity Portfolio.
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less related accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

/DQG�DQG�EXLOGLQJV�DUH�FDUULHG�DW�FRVW���7KHVH�DUH�YDOXHG�RQ�D�IDLU�YDOXH�EDVLV�HYHU\�WZR�\HDUV��DQG�WKH�UHFRYHUDEOH��UHYDOXHG��
amounts disclosed by way of a note to the Financial Statements, providing that revalued amounts are in excess of the carrying 
DPRXQWV���:KHUH�WKH�FDUU\LQJ�DPRXQWV�DUH�PRUH�WKDQ�WKH�UHYDOXHG�DPRXQWV��DQ�LPSDLUPHQW�ORVV�LV�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�

At each Statement of Financial Position date, the Bank reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any such indication exists, the 
UHFRYHUDEOH�DPRXQW�RI�WKH�DVVHW�LV�HVWLPDWHG�LQ�RUGHU�WR�GHWHUPLQH�WKH�H[WHQW�RI�WKH�LPSDLUPHQW�ORVV��LI�DQ\���

$Q\�LPSDLUPHQW�ORVV�LV�UHFRJQLVHG�LPPHGLDWHO\�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.

,I�VLJQL¿FDQW�SDUWV�RI�DQ�LWHP�RI�SURSHUW\�RU�HTXLSPHQW�KDYH�GLIIHUHQW�XVHIXO�OLYHV��WKH\�DUH�DFFRXQWHG�IRU�DV�VHSDUDWH�LWHPV�
�PDMRU�FRPSRQHQWV��RI�SURSHUW\�DQG�HTXLSPHQW�

Depreciation
Depreciation is charged so as to write-off the cost of assets less residual values, other than land and buildings under construction, 
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.  The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 
methods are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes in the estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

The annual depreciation rates used in the calculation of depreciation are as follows:

     Percent

Buildings    2.5 – 6
Other Assets
)XUQLWXUH��¿[WXUHV�DQG�HTXLSPHQW� ��±���
Computer hardware   25
Computer software   20
Motor vehicles   5 - 25

A gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between 
WKH�QHW�VDOHV�SURFHHGV�DQG�WKH�FDUU\LQJ�DPRXQW�RI�WKH�DVVHW�DQG�LV�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�

Capital works in progress comprise costs directly attributable to the construction of an asset.  Assets remain in capital works 
in progress until they have become available for use or commissioned, whichever is the earlier date.  At that time, these assets 
are transferred to the appropriate class of property and equipment as additions and depreciated.  

6XEVHTXHQW�H[SHQGLWXUH�LV�FDSLWDOLVHG�RQO\�ZKHQ�LW�LV�SUREDEOH�WKDW�WKH�IXWXUH�HFRQRPLF�EHQH¿WV�RI�WKH�H[SHQGLWXUH�ZLOO�ÀRZ�
to the Bank.  Ongoing repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

3HQVLRQ�EHQH¿WV�DUH�SURYLGHG�IRU�HPSOR\HHV�WKURXJK�WKH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�'H¿QHG�&RQWULEXWLRQ�6WDII�3HQVLRQ�)XQG��ZKLFK�LV�
JRYHUQHG�LQ�WHUPV�RI�WKH�3HQVLRQ�DQG�3URYLGHQW�)XQGV�$FW��&$3����������7KH�FRQWULEXWLRQ�SHU�SHQVLRQDEOH�HPSOR\HH�LV�DW�WKH�
rate of 21.5 percent of pensionable salary, which comprises 16 percent and 1.5 percent payable by the Bank as its contribution 
to the Fund and for administration costs of the Fund, respectively, and a 4 percent contribution by each pensionable employee.  
Other than the contributions made, the Bank has no commitments or obligations to this Fund.  Obligations for contributions to 
WKH�SHQVLRQ�IXQG�DUH�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�LQ�WKH�SHULRGV�GXULQJ�ZKLFK�VHUYLFHV�DUH�UHQGHUHG�E\�HPSOR\HHV�

SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

6KRUW�WHUP�HPSOR\HH�EHQH¿WV�REOLJDWLRQV�DUH�PHDVXUHG�RQ�DQ�XQGLVFRXQWHG�EDVLV�DQG�DUH�H[SHQVHG�DV�WKH�UHODWHG�VHUYLFH�LV�
provided.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
For the year ended  December 31, 2015

                                                                       
FINANCE LEASES

Assets held by the Bank under leases that transfer to the Bank substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership are clas-
VL¿HG�DV�¿QDQFH�OHDVHV���7KH�OHDVHG�DVVHW�LV�LQLWLDOO\�PHDVXUHG�DW�DQ�DPRXQW�HTXDO�WR�WKH�ORZHU�RI�LWV�IDLU�YDOXH�DQG�WKH�SUHVHQW�
value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the 
accounting policy applicable to that asset.

$VVHWV�KHOG�XQGHU�RWKHU�OHDVHV�DUH�FODVVL¿HG�DV�RSHUDWLQJ�OHDVHV�DQG�DUH�QRW�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�WKH�%DQN¶V�VWDWHPHQW�RI�¿QDQFLDO�SRVLWLRQ�

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Bank enters into various transactions with other wholly owned or partly owned Government institutions and its key manage-
PHQW�SHUVRQQHO��UHODWHG�SDUWLHV����$OO�UHODWHG�SDUW\�WUDQVDFWLRQV�DUH�HQWHUHG�LQWR�DW�DUP¶V�OHQJWK�LQ�WKH�RUGLQDU\�FRXUVH�RI�EXVLQHVV���
7KH�WUDQVDFWLRQV�ZLWK�NH\�PDQDJHPHQW�SHUVRQQHO�DUH�VWDII�EHQH¿WV�SURYLGHG�XQGHU�WKH�*HQHUDO�&RQGLWLRQV�RI�6HUYLFH�RI�WKH�%DQN�

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

7KH�%DQN�PDNHV�HVWLPDWHV�DQG�DVVXPSWLRQV�WKDW�DIIHFW�WKH�UHSRUWHG�DPRXQWV�RI�DVVHWV�DQG�OLDELOLWLHV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�QH[W�¿QDQFLDO�
year.  Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Useful Lives of Property and Equipment 
Management reviews the estimated useful lives of property and equipment at the end of each annual reporting period.  In this 
¿QDQFLDO�\HDU��QR�FKDQJH�ZDV�PDGH�WR�WKH�XVHIXO�OLYHV��KHQFH�WKH�GHSUHFLDWLRQ�UDWHV�SURYLGHG�DUH�VLPLODU�ZLWK�WKH�SULRU�\HDU�
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2015

2015 2014
P’000 P’000

1.  FOREIGN EXCHANGE RESERVES

1.1  Liquidity Portfolio 

Bonds: held for trading 12 904 792 9 559 860
Amounts due from Pula Fund 1 071 669  784 979
Short-term deposits 7 937 959 12 379 062

21 914 420 22 723 901
1.2  Pula Fund 

Equities: available-for-sale 28 253 210 23 817 720
Bonds: available-for-sale 33 418 814 30 382 537
'HULYDWLYH�LQVWUXPHQWV��DVVHWV��1RWH���� 30 233 8 273
Amounts due to Liquidity Portfolio ����������� ���������
'HULYDWLYH�LQVWUXPHQWV��OLDELOLWLHV��1RWH���� �������� �������
Short-term deposits 574 632 1 342 485

61 183 450 54 757 524
(a) Statement of Financial Position

Capital Employed

Government 35 004 942 37 260 596
Bank of Botswana 26 178 508 17 496 928

61 183 450 54 757 524
Employment of Capital

Investments 61 183 450 54 757 524

,QYHVWPHQWV�H[SUHVVHG�LQ�86�GROODUV��¶����3 5 439 208 5 760 491

,QYHVWPHQWV�H[SUHVVHG�LQ�6'5��¶����4 3 927 978 3 980 872

�E��������6WDWHPHQW�RI�3UR¿W�RU�/RVV�DQG�2WKHU�&RPSUHKHQVLYH�,QFRPH

 Income

Interest and dividends 1 279 454 1 198 863
Realised currency revaluation gains 1 610 182 2 289 736
8QUHDOLVHG�FXUUHQF\�UHYDOXDWLRQ�JDLQV��ORVVHV� 2 822 091 �����������
Realised gains from fair value changes 1 045 107 1 526 359
Sundry income 1 440 1 062

6 758 274 3 778 120
Expenses

Administration charges 166 539 165 138
166 539 165 138

Net income 6 591 735 3 612 982

Other Comprehensive Income

,WHPV�WKDW�PD\�EH�UHFODVVL¿HG�VXEVHTXHQWO\�WR�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV

1HW�XQUHDOLVHG�FXUUHQF\�JDLQV�RQ�QRQ�PRQHWDU\�³DYDLODEOH�IRU�VDOH´�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUX-
ments 2 249 189 192 732
1HW�XQUHDOLVHG��ORVVHV��JDLQV�IURP�IDLU�YDOXH�FKDQJHV�RQ�³DYDLODEOH�IRU�VDOH´�¿QDQFLDO�
instruments ��������� 1 749 995
Other comprehensive income 1 924 384 1 942 727
Total comprehensive income 8 516 119 5 555 709

�� 7KH�LQFUHDVH�LQ�H[FHVV�OLTXLGLW\�UHVXOWHG�IURP�WKH�UHGXFWLRQ�RI�WKH�SULPDU\�UHVHUYH�UHTXLUHPHQW��LQWHQGHG�WR�DGGUHVV�WLJKW�OLTXLGLW\�

3� �8QLWHG�6WDWHV�GROODU�3XOD�±����������������������
4� �6'5�3XOD�±����������������������
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2015

2015 2014
P’000 P’000

2.     INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND (IMF) 

2.1    Reserve Tranche

This asset represents the difference between Botswana’s Quota in the IMF and IMF 
Holdings of Pula.  Botswana’s Quota is the membership subscription, of which at least 
25 percent was paid for in foreign currencies and the balance in Pula.  The holding of 
Pula by the IMF, which initially was equal to 75 percent of the quota, has changed from 
time to time as a result of the use of the Pula by the IMF in lending to member countries.

4XRWD��6'5�������������������6'5������������ 1 366 579 1 207 255
Less: IMF Holdings of Pula ��������� ���������
Reserve Position in IMF 424 539 430 044

The IMF Holdings of Pula are represented by the Non-Interest Bearing Note of P353 
�����������������3�������������LVVXHG�E\�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�RI�%RWVZDQD�LQ�IDYRXU�RI�
the IMF, maintenance of value currency adjustments and the amount in the current 
DFFRXQW�KHOG�DW�WKH�%DQN��LQFOXGHG�LQ�RWKHU�GHSRVLWV�LQ�1RWH�����

2.2   Holdings of Special Drawing Rights

7KH�EDODQFH�RQ�WKH�DFFRXQW�UHSUHVHQWV�WKH�YDOXH�RI�6SHFLDO�'UDZLQJ�5LJKWV��6'5��
allocated and purchased less utilisation to date.  1 334 931 1 178 929

2.3    General Subsidy Account

)DFH�9DOXH��6'5�����������
Interest 

23 658
8

20 900
7

23 666 20 907
This is an investment with the International Monetary Fund, the purpose of which 
is to augment the resources of the Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust Fund.  The 
LQYHVWPHQW�LV�H[SHFWHG�WR�JHQHUDWH�6'5�����PLOOLRQ�RYHU�¿YH�\HDUV���,W�PDWXUHV�RQ�
August 22, 2017.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2015

3.   PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT Freehold
Land

Leasehold 
Land

Buildings Capital 
Works in 
Progress

Other As-
sets

Total

P’000 P’000 P’000 P’000 P’000 P’000

Cost – December 31, 2015

Balance at the beginning of the year 2 065 3 083 399 931 6 117 183 612 594 808
Additions – – – 6 357 12 132 18 489
Disposals – – – – ������� �������
Transfers from WIP – – 497 ������� 915 –

Balance at year–end 2 065 3 083 400 428 11 062 192 924 609 562

Accumulated Depreciation 

Balance at the beginning of the year – – 75 231 – 105 959 181 190
Charge for the year – – 10 587 – 16 107 26 694
Disposals – – – – ������� �������

Balance at year–end – – 85 818 – 119 974 205 792
Net book value at 

December 31, 2015 2 065 3 083 314 610 11 062 72 950 403 770

Cost – December 31, 2014

Balance at the beginning of the year 2 065 3 083 385 709 3 357 176 042 570 256
Additions – – – 17 051 11 436 28 487
Disposals – – – – ������� �������
Transfers from WIP – – 14 222 �������� 69 –

Balance at year–end 2 065 3 083 399 931 6 117 183 612 594 808

Accumulated Depreciation 

Balance at the beginning of the year – – 65 074 – 93 093 158 167
Charge for the year – – 10 157 – 15 818 25 975
Disposals – – – – ������� �������

Balance at year–end – – 75 231 – 105 959 181 190
Net book value at 

December 31, 2014 2 065 3 083 324 700 6 117 77 653 413 618

Valuation of Properties
Freehold and leasehold land and buildings were valued by an independent professional property valuer in December 2014 at an 
RSHQ�PDUNHW�YDOXH�RI�3�������������������3�������������
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2015

2015 2014
P’000 P’000

4.     GOVERNMENT OF BOTSWANA BOND 

Government Bond BW005, maturing on September 12, 2018, bearing interest at the 
rate of 10 percent, receivable semi-annually in arrears:

Fair value 23 123 23 524
Interest accrued 610 613

23 733 24 137

5.     OTHER ASSETS

Staff loans and advances 52 579 49 663
Prepayments 3 677 2 868
Other 66 348 88 290

122 604 140 821

6.     ALLOCATION OF IMF SPECIAL DRAWING RIGHTS 

This is the liability of the Bank to the IMF in respect of the allocation of SDRs to 
Botswana.

893 912 789 694

7.     LIABILITIES TO GOVERNMENT (IMF RESERVE TRANCHE)

This balance represents the Bank’s liability to the Government in respect of the Reserve 
Tranche position in the IMF (Note 2.1). 358 931 364 435

8.     NOTES AND COIN IN CIRCULATION

Notes 2 564 979 2 466 520
Coin 142 856 132 089

2 707 835 2 598 609

Notes and coin in circulation held by the Bank as cash in hand at the end of the finan-
cial year have been netted off against the liability for notes and coin in circulation to 
reflect the net liability to the public.

9.     BANK OF BOTSWANA CERTIFICATES

Face value 8 192 650 4 208 000
Unmatured discount (2 728) (6 616)
Carrying amount 8 189 922 4 201 384

Bank of Botswana Certificates are issued at various short-term maturity dates and 
discount rates.  

9.1    REVERSE REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

Fair value 1 672 849 304 357

The reverse repurchase agreements matured on January 4, 2016 (2014: January 5, 2015).
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December 31, 2015

2015
P’000

2014
P’000

10.   DEPOSITS

Government 888 240 781 246
Bankers  - current accounts

 - statutory reserve accounts
429 700

2 588 660
38 340

4 420 809
Other 1 160 772 1 601 433

5 067 372 6 841 828

These deposits are various current accounts of Government, commercial banks, 
parastatal bodies and others, which are repayable on demand and are interest free, 
except for the statutory reserve requirement, which is also interest free, but not re-
payable on demand.

11.   DIVIDEND TO GOVERNMENT

Balance due at the beginning of the year 544 689 780 655
Dividend to Government from Pula Fund 975 000 700 000
Paid during the year ����������� �����������
Residual net income 158 032 369 689
Balance due at the end of the year 401 782 544 689

7KH�¿QDO�LQVWDOPHQW�RI�WKH�SUH�VHW�GLYLGHQG�RI�3������������DQG�WKH�UHVLGXDO�QHW�
income of    P158 032 000 unpaid as at December 31, 2015 was provided for in ac-
FRUGDQFH�ZLWK�6HFWLRQ���RI�WKH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�$FW��&$3���������ZKLFK�UHTXLUHV�
WKDW�DOO�SUR¿WV�RI�WKH�%DQN�EH�GLVWULEXWHG�WR�WKH�VKDUHKROGHU��WKH�*RYHUQPHQW���

12.   OTHER LIABILITIES
   

Accounts payable 10 713 9 326
Other payables and accruals 118 796 205 648

129 509 214 974

13.   CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

13.1  Financial Assets

Held for trading
Bonds
'HULYDWLYH�LQVWUXPHQWV��1RWH�����

12 904 792
30 233

9 559 860
8 273

12 935 025 9 568 133
Available-for-sale

Bonds 33 418 814 30 382 537
Equities 28 253 210 23 817 720
Government bonds 23 733 24 137

61 695 757 54 224 394
Loans and Receivables

IMF Reserves 1 783 136 1 629 880
Staff loans and advances 52 579 49 663
Short-term deposits 8 512 591 13 721 547

Total Financial Assets 84 979 088 79 193 617

The above is disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Total Foreign Assets
$GG��'HULYDWLYH�LQVWUXPHQWV��OLDELOLWLHV�

84 881 006
21 770

79 111 305
8 512

Government of Botswana bonds 23 733 24 137
2WKHU�$VVHWV���VWDII�ORDQV�DQG�DGYDQFHV��1RWH��� 52 579 49 663

84 979 088 79 193 617
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2015

2015
P’000

2014
P’000

13.    CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

13.2  Financial Liabilities

Held for trading
'HULYDWLYH�LQVWUXPHQWV��1RWH����� 21 770 8 512

Other Financial Liabilities - at amortised cost
%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�&HUWL¿FDWHV
Reverse Repurchase Agreements
$OORFDWLRQ�RI�6'5��,0)�
/LDELOLWLHV�WR�*RYHUQPHQW��,0)�
Deposits
Dividend to Government
Other liabilities

8 189 922
1 672 849

893 912
358 931

5 067 372
401 782
129 509

4 201 384
304 357
789 694
364 435

6 841 828
544 689
214 974

16 736 047 13 269 873

13.3 Derivative Instruments

The Bank’s investment guidelines authorise the use of derivative instruments.  The derivatives are held for managing risk.

The Table below shows the market values and the total notional exposures of derivative instruments as at year end.
 

Asset Liabilities
Notional 
Amount Assets Liabilities

Notional 
Amount

2015 2015 2015 2014 2014 2014
�3¶���� �3¶���� �3¶���� �3¶���� �3¶���� �3¶����

Fixed Income Futures –Buy
–Sell

30 233
–

–
��������

651 841
���������

8 365 
–

–
�������

426 293
���������

Currency Futures –Buy – – – ���� – 119
30 233 �������� �������� 8 273 ������� 6 291

7KH�DERYH�GHULYDWLYHV�DUH�FODVVL¿HG�E\�W\SH�RI�DVVHW�DQG�GHULYDWLYH�LQVWUXPHQWV���7KH�DVVHWV�DQG�OLDELOLWLHV�UHÀHFW�WKH�QHW�SRVLWLRQ�
between the market values and the notional amounts.

Futures
$�IXWXUHV�FRQWUDFW�LV�DQ�DJUHHPHQW�H[HFXWHG�RQ�WKH�ÀRRU�RI�DQ�H[FKDQJH�WR�EX\�RU�VHOO�D�VSHFL¿F�DPRXQW�RI�D�VHFXULW\�RU�FDVK�DW�D�
VSHFL¿HG�SULFH�DQG�WLPH���$�¿[HG�LQFRPH�IXWXUHV�FRQWUDFW�ZRXOG�EH�DQ�DJUHHPHQW�WR�HLWKHU�EX\�RU�VHOO�D�VSHFL¿HG�DPRXQW�RI�D�¿[HG�
LQFRPH�VHFXULW\�DW�D�VSHFL¿HG�SULFH�DQG�GDWH��ZKLOH�D�FXUUHQF\�IXWXUHV�FRQWUDFW�ZLOO�EH�DQ�DJUHHPHQW�WR�HLWKHU�EX\�RU�VHOO�D�VSHFL¿HG�
DPRXQW�RI�FXUUHQF\�DW�D�VSHFL¿HG�H[FKDQJH�UDWH�DQG�GDWH���)XWXUHV�FRQWUDFWV�DUH�FROODWHUDOLVHG�E\�FDVK�RU�PDUNHWDEOH�VHFXULWLHV�DQG�
changes in the futures contract values are settled daily. 

Options
$Q�RSWLRQ�LV�DQ�H[FOXVLYH�ULJKW��XVXDOO\�REWDLQHG�IRU�D�IHH��EXW�QRW�WKH�REOLJDWLRQ�WR�EX\�RU�VHOO�D�VSHFL¿F�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQW�ZLWKLQ�
D�VSHFL¿HG�WLPH���$�¿[HG�LQFRPH�RSWLRQ�LV�WKH�H[FOXVLYH�ULJKW�WR�HLWKHU�EX\�RU�VHOO�VSHFL¿HG�XQLWV�RI�D�¿[HG�LQFRPH�VHFXULW\�E\�D�
VSHFL¿F�GDWH���$�FXUUHQF\�RSWLRQ�LV�DQ�RSWLRQ�WR�HLWKHU�EX\�RU�VHOO�D�VSHFL¿HG�FXUUHQF\�E\�D�VSHFL¿F�GDWH��

Swaps
$�VZDS�LV�DQ�DJUHHPHQW�EHWZHHQ�WZR�RU�PRUH�SDUWLHV�WR�H[FKDQJH�VHWV�RI�FDVK�ÀRZV�RYHU�D�SHULRG�LQ�WKH�IXWXUH��W\SLFDOO\�HLWKHU�
LQ�WKH�IRUP�RI�LQWHUHVW�UDWH�VZDSV�RU�FXUUHQF\�VZDSV���7KH�FDVK�ÀRZV�WKDW�WKH�FRXQWHUSDUWLHV�PDNH�DUH�OLQNHG�WR�WKH�YDOXH�RI�WKH�
XQGHUO\LQJ�GHEW�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQW�RU�WKH�IRUHLJQ�FXUUHQF\��DV�WKH�FDVH�PD\�EH�



50

BANK OF BOTSWANA ANNUAL REPORT 2015

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2015

2015
P’000

2014
P’000

14.     PAID-UP CAPITAL

Authorised and Paid-up Capital 25 000 25 000
The capital is the amount subscribed by the Government in accordance with 
6HFWLRQ���RI�WKH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�$FW��&$3����������7KH�%DQN�LV�QRW�VXEMHFW�WR�
any externally imposed capital requirements.  Therefore, capital is not actively 
managed.  Management considers the Paid-up Capital and the General Reserve 
to be capital.

15.     GENERAL RESERVE

In the opinion of the Board, the General Reserve, taken together with other 
UHVHUYHV�ZKLFK�WKH�%DQN�PDLQWDLQV��LV�VXI¿FLHQW�WR�HQVXUH�WKH�VXVWDLQDELOLW\�RI�
future operations of the Bank.

1 600 000 1 600 000
16.      INTEREST – FOREIGN EXCHANGE RESERVES

Liquidity Portfolio
Short-term deposits: loans and receivables 321 815 219 799
Bonds: held for trading 230 647 199 780
IMF Reserves: loans and receivables 383 679

Pula Fund
Short-term deposits: loans and receivables 20 235 17 390
Bonds: available-for-sale 698 232 709 768

1 271 312 1 147 416

17.     DIVIDENDS – FOREIGN EXCHANGE RESERVES

Pula Fund
Equities: available-for-sale 562 428 472 768

18.      NET GAINS FROM FAIR VALUE CHANGES ON DISPOSAL OF SE-
CURITIES

Liquidity Portfolio
Bond: held for trading �������� ��������

Pula Fund
Derivative instrument: held for trading 7 373 38 752
Bonds: available-for-sale 273 788 509 613
Equities: available-for-sale 763 946 977 994

991 575 1 446 836
,QFOXGHG�DERYH�DUH�QHW�IDLU�YDOXH�JDLQV�RI�3���������������������
3����������������ZKLFK�KDYH�EHHQ�UHFODVVL¿HG�IURP�HTXLW\�WR�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�RQ�
GLVSRVDO�RI�LQYHVWPHQWV�FODVVL¿HG�DV�DYDLODEOH�IRU�VDOH�

19.      NET REALISED CURRENCY GAINS

Liquidity Portfolio
Short-term deposits: loans and receivables 965 028 585 143
Bonds: held for trading 524 526 836 851

Pula Fund 
Derivative instruments: held for trading 8 276 ��������
Short-term deposits: loans and receivables 68 621 16 005
Bonds: available-for-sale 930 847 1 925 864
Equities: available-for-sale 602 438 364 432

3 099 736 3 711 730
,QFOXGHG�DERYH�DUH�QHW�FXUUHQF\�JDLQV�RI�3���������������������
3���������������ZKLFK�KDYH�EHHQ�UHFODVVL¿HG�IURP�HTXLW\�WR�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�RQ�
GLVSRVDO�RI�LQYHVWPHQWV�FODVVL¿HG�DV�DYDLODEOH�IRU�VDOH�
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2015 2014
P’000 P’000

20.     NET UNREALISED CURRENCY GAINS/(LOSSES)

Liquidity Portfolio
Short-term deposits: loans and receivables 101 284 ���������
Bonds: held for trading 890 898 ���������
IMF reserves: loans and receivables 54 159 10 654

Pula Fund
Short-term deposits: loans and receivables ������� 20 129
Bonds: available-for-sale 2 820 668 �����������
Derivative instruments: held for trading 10 493 1 696

3 868 432 �����������
21.     NET UNREALISED LOSSES FROM FAIR VALUE CHANGES

Liquidity Portfolio
Bonds: held for trading ��������� 537

Pula Fund
Derivative instruments: held for trading ������� �������

��������� �������
22.     INTEREST EXPENSE

%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�&HUWL¿FDWHV��%R%&V�� 113 334 173 621
Reverse Repurchase Agreements 69 267 22 547

182 601 196 168
23.   NET CURRENCY REVALUATION GAINS RETAINED IN PROFIT OR LOSS

7RWDO�QHW�UHDOLVHG�JDLQV��1RWH���� 3 099 736 3 711 730
7RWDO�QHW�XQUHDOLVHG��JDLQV��ORVVHV��1RWH���� 3 868 432 �����������
Total net currency revaluation gains 6 968 168 1 686 849

Appropriated to Currency Revaluation Reserve:

Net realised currency gains and reinvested in foreign assets ����������� �����������
1HW�XQUHDOLVHG�FXUUHQF\��JDLQV��ORVVHV��1RWH���� ����������� 2 024 881
Transfer to Currency Revaluation Reserve ����������� �����������
1HW�FXUUHQF\�UHYDOXDWLRQ�JDLQV�UHWDLQHG�LQ�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV 98 193 65 547

24.       CONTRIBUTION TO THE BANK OF BOTSWANA DEFINED CONTRIBUTION STAFF PENSION FUND

7KH�%DQN¶V�FRQWULEXWLRQ�WR�WKH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�'H¿QHG�&RQWULEXWLRQ�6WDII�3HQVLRQ�)XQG�IRU�WKH�\HDU�HQGHG�'HFHPEHU�����
�����LV�3������������������3������������

25.       STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

7KH�GH¿QLWLRQ�RI�FDVK�LQ�,$6���LV�QRW�ZKROO\�DSSURSULDWH�WR�WKH�%DQN���'XH�WR�LWV�UROH�LQ�WKH�FUHDWLRQ�DQG�ZLWKGUDZDO�RI�FXUUHQF\�
LQ�FLUFXODWLRQ��WKH�%DQN�KDV�QR�FDVK�EDODQFHV�RQ�LWV�6WDWHPHQW�RI�)LQDQFLDO�3RVLWLRQ��VHH�1RWH������+RZHYHU��WKH�%DQN�KDV�WKH�
ability to create cash when needed.



52

BANK OF BOTSWANA ANNUAL REPORT 2015

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2015

2015 2014
P’000 P’000

26.      CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 

Net income for the year adjusted for: 9 135 384 4 069 769

Net realised and unrealised exchange gains ����������� �����������
Depreciation expense 26 694 25 975
Loss on disposal of Property and Equipment 414 135
Interest: Government of Botswana bonds ������� �������

2 290 520 2 472 577
Adjustments for movements in:

Deposits: banks and other ����������� 58 120
Deposits: Government 106 994 ���������
%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�&HUWL¿FDWHV
Reverse Repurchase Agreements 

3 988 538
1 368 492

�����������
304 357

Repurchase Agreements – 302 078
Other assets 18 218 ��������
Other liabilities �������� 69 113

Cash generated from operations 5 805 846 1 690 789

27.     CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Approved and contracted for 3 174 68 970
Approved, but not contracted for 57 898 12 165

61 072 81 135
These capital commitments will be funded from internal resources.

    28.     COLLATERAL

(a) Credit Facility
7KHUH�ZHUH�QR�RSHQ�SRVLWLRQV�DV�DW�'HFHPEHU�����������������1LO��XQGHU�WKH�&UHGLW�)DFLOLW\�DFFRXQWHG�IRU�DV�³$G-
vances to banks”.

�E�������Securities Lending Programme
8QGHU�WKH�%DQN¶V�6HFXULWLHV�/HQGLQJ�3URJUDPPH��WKH�%DQN�KDV�OHQW�VHFXULWLHV�ZLWK�D�IDLU�YDOXH�RI�3��ELOOLRQ�������������
3����ELOOLRQ����7KH�%DQN�KDV�DFFHSWHG�VHFXULWLHV�ZLWK�D�IDLU�YDOXH�RI�3����ELOOLRQ��������3����ELOOLRQ��DV�FROODWHUDO�IRU�
the securities lent under this programme. 
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29. GOVERNMENT OF BOTSWANA BONDS AND TREASURY BILLS

,Q�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�6HFWLRQV����DQG����RI�WKH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�$FW��&$3���������WKH�%DQN�DFWV�DV�DJHQW�RI�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�IRU�
the issuance and management of the Government Bonds and Treasury Bills.  An analysis of the bonds and treasury bills issued 
GXULQJ�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�\HDU�HQGHG�'HFHPEHU����������LV�SURYLGHG�EHORZ��

Government of Botswana Bonds and Treasury Bills issued during the year 2015

Bond/
Treasury 
Bill Detail

BW005 BW007 BW008 BW011 BW012 BW090915 BW091215 BW090316 BW080616 Total

Date of 
Issue

Jun 10/Dec 
09, 2015

Sept/Dec 
9, 2015

Sept/Dec 
9, 2015

March 11/
June 10

Sept/Dec, 9 
2015

June 10/
Sept

Dec 9, 2015
March 11, 

2015
June 10, 

2015
Sept 9, 2015 Dec 9, 2015

Date of 
Maturity

Sept 12, 
2018

March 10, 
2025

Sept 8, 
2020

Sept  10, 
2031

June 13, 
2040

Sept 9, 
2015

Dec 9, 2015 March 9, 
2016

June 8, 2016

Interest Rate 
3HUFHQW��SHU�
DQQXP�

10 8 7.75 7.75 6 – – – –

P’000 P’000 P’000 P’000 P’000 P’000 P’000 P’000 P’000 P’000

Nominal 
Value

105 000 115 000 150 000 500 000 437 000 339 000 340 000 500 000 340  000 2 826 000

1HW��'LV-
FRXQW��
Premium

19 316 25 156 21 646 105 776 �������� ������� ������� ������� ������� 144 655

Net Pro-
ceeds

124 316 140 156 171 646 605 776 425 798 334 169 335 808 495 675 337 311 2 970 655

Interest Paid 250 600 – 9 687 10 110 4 831 4 192 – – 29 670

Interest Ac-
crued 3 202 2 856 3 673 12 029 1 361 – – 2 709 340 26 170

�D�� 1HW�SURFHHGV�UHDOLVHG�IURP�WKH�LVVXH�RI�WKH�ERQGV�RI�3���������������������3���������������ZHUH�LQYHVWHG�LQ�WKH�
Government Investment Account.  The nominal value of holdings of total outstanding Government bonds and treasury 
ELOOV�DV�DW�'HFHPEHU�����������ZDV�3���������������������3���������������

�E�� ,QWHUHVW�LV�SD\DEOH�RQ�DOO�ERQGV�RQ�D�VHPL�DQQXDO�EDVLV�LQ�DUUHDUV��'XULQJ�WKH�\HDU�WR�'HFHPEHU�����������WRWDO�LQWHU-
HVW�SD\PHQWV�RI�3������������ZHUH�PDGH��������3�������������DQG�ZHUH�IXQGHG�IURP�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW¶V�FXUUHQW�
account maintained with the Bank.

�F�� *RYHUQPHQW�ERQGV�DQG�WUHDVXU\�ELOOV�DUH�OLDELOLWLHV�RI�*RYHUQPHQW��DQG�WKH\�DUH��WKHUHIRUH��QRW�DFFRXQWHG�IRU�LQ�WKH�
Statement of Financial Position of the Bank.

30.     RISK MANAGEMENT IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

5LVN�LV�LQKHUHQW�LQ�WKH�%DQN¶V�PDQDJHPHQW�RI�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV�ZKLFK�FRPSULVH�SULPDULO\�IRUHLJQ�DVVHWV��ZKLFK�DUH�KHOG�LQ�
YDULRXV�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV���7KLV�ULVN�LV�PDQDJHG�WKURXJK�D�SURFHVV�RI�RQJRLQJ�LGHQWL¿FDWLRQ��PHDVXUHPHQW�DQG�PRQLWRULQJ�WKDW�
is subject to an extensive framework of risk limits and other controls.  The process of risk management is critical to the Bank’s 
RQJRLQJ�RSHUDWLRQV��ZLWK�WKH�GD\�WR�GD\�PDQDJHPHQW�RI�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV�EHLQJ�FRQGXFWHG�E\�WKH�)LQDQFLDO�0DUNHWV�
'HSDUWPHQW���$�NH\�HOHPHQW�LQ�WKH�ULVN�PDQDJHPHQW�RI�WKH�IRUHLJQ�H[FKDQJH�UHVHUYHV�LV�VDIHW\��GH¿QHG�DV�WKH�SUHVHUYDWLRQ�RI�
SXUFKDVLQJ�SRZHU�RI�WKH�IRUHLJQ�H[FKDQJH�UHVHUYHV���7R�WKLV�HQG��WKH�%DQN�KDV�FRQWLQXHG�WR�SXUVXH�D�FRQVHUYDWLYH�DQG�GLYHUVL¿HG�
investment strategy, with an SDR weighted currency allocation as the benchmark.  The Bank’s objectives, policies and procedures 
for managing the risk exposures and the method used to measure the risks have remained consistent with the prior year.  The risk 
management framework remains sound and effective.

29

30
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30.     RISK MANAGEMENT IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Risk Management Governance Structure 
The Bank’s risk management governance structure is broadly as follows:

�D�� Board

The Board is responsible for the Bank’s overall risk management and for approving investment policies and guide-
lines.  The Bank’s management reviews the risk management policies from time to time.

�E�� Investment Committee

The Investment Committee, which is chaired by the Governor and comprises representatives from relevant areas 
RI� WKH�%DQN��PHHWV�UHJXODUO\�WR�UHYLHZ�GHYHORSPHQWV� LQ� WKH�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�¿QDQFLDO�DQG�FDSLWDO�PDUNHWV�� �:KHUH�
necessary, the Investment Committee makes decisions on Bank managed portfolios. The Investment Committee 
also monitors the performance of the external fund managers.

�F�� Financial Markets Department

The Financial Markets Department is responsible for the management of the foreign exchange reserves and has a 
specialised Risk Management Unit focusing on the risks associated with all the investment portfolios and ensures 
compliance with Investment Guidelines.

�G�� Segregation of Duties

At an operational level, the main feature of risk control is the segregation of duties relating to dealing, settlement, 
risk monitoring and recording.  These responsibilities are split among three Departments: Financial Markets, Pay-
ments and Settlement and Finance.

Tranching of Foreign Exchange Reserves – Liquidity Portfolio and Pula Fund
7KH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�$FW��&$3��������UHTXLUHV�WKH�%DQN�WR�PDLQWDLQ�D�SULPDU\�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�UHVHUYH��WKDW�LV��WKH�/LTXLGLW\�
Portfolio, while Section 35 provides for the establishment and maintenance of a long-term investment fund, the Pula Fund.  In 
compliance with the statutory requirements, a major feature of the foreign exchange reserves management strategy is, therefore, 
to allocate a certain level of reserves to the Liquidity Portfolio, with the remaining amount invested in the Pula Fund.

Pula Fund
Investments of the Pula Fund comprise long-term assets, such as long-dated bonds and equities actively traded in liquid markets, 
with the expectation of earning a higher return than could be achieved on conventionally managed investments.  The asset al-
location between bonds and equities is determined using a combination of historical data and assumptions.  Exercises are also 
conducted in respect of the Pula Fund risk/return sensitivity analysis, using different portfolio options, where risk is measured 
by a standard deviation on the rate of return.

Liquidity Portfolio 
In terms of the investment guidelines, the Liquidity Portfolio gives priority to liquidity over return, given the constant need to 
SURYLGH�IRUHLJQ�H[FKDQJH�WR�¿QDQFH�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�WUDQVDFWLRQ�SD\PHQWV���:KLOH�WKH�HOLJLEOH�LQYHVWPHQW�FXUUHQFLHV�DUH�VLPLODU�WR�
those of the Pula Fund, the Liquidity Portfolio is largely invested in the Bank’s international transaction currencies.

There are no equities in the Liquidity Portfolio and investment instruments include government bonds of eligible grade currencies 
issued by AAA–rated supranational and AAA–rated US agencies in eligible currencies; other liquid money market instruments 
are also eligible.

Types of Risk Exposure 
7KH�%DQN¶V�LQYHVWPHQW�JXLGHOLQHV�FRYHU�EDVLF�W\SHV�RI�ULVN�H[SRVXUHV��QDPHO\��PDUNHW�ULVN��FXUUHQF\�ULVN��LQWHUHVW�UDWH�ULVN�DQG�
HTXLW\�SULFH�ULVN���FUHGLW�ULVN��OLTXLGLW\�DQG�LQVWUXPHQW�ULVN���7KHVH�W\SHV�RI�ULVN�DSSO\�WR�WKH�IRUHLJQ�DVVHWV�DQG�OLDELOLWLHV�
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30.     RISK MANAGEMENT IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

��D�� Currency Risk

The foreign exchange reserves are invested in currencies that are freely convertible, less susceptible to frequent and 
VKDUS�H[FKDQJH�UDWH�ÀXFWXDWLRQV�DQG�DUH�XVHG�LQ�ZHOO�GHYHORSHG�¿QDQFLDO�PDUNHWV���7KH�%DQN¶V�SROLF\�LV�WR�LQYHVW�
only in currencies with high ratings assigned by Moody’s Investors Service and Standard and Poor’s.  Through a 
GLYHUVL¿HG�FXUUHQF\�DOORFDWLRQ�UHODWLYH�WR�DQ�6'5�ZHLJKWHG�EHQFKPDUN��WKH�%DQN�HQVXUHV�WKDW�WKH�SXUFKDVLQJ�SRZHU�
of the foreign exchange reserves is preserved.  In terms of the investment guidelines, a maximum deviation from 
WKH�QHXWUDO�OHYHO��XVLQJ�WKH�6'5�ZHLJKWV�DV�D�EHQFKPDUN��IRU�86'�DQG�(85�RI����SHUFHQWDJH�SRLQWV�LV�SHUPLWWHG��
while a deviation of up to 5 percentage points on all other currencies is permitted.  At the end of 2015, the Bank’s 
WRWDO�H[SRVXUH�WR�6'5�DQG�UHODWHG�FXUUHQFLHV�ZDV�3�����ELOOLRQ��������3�����ELOOLRQ����7KH�%DQN�LV�DOVR�H[SRVHG�WR�
6'5�FXUUHQF\�ULVN�RQ�QHW�,0)�EDODQFHV�DPRXQWLQJ�WR�3�������������������3�������������

�E�� Interest Rate Risk

,QWHUHVW�UDWH�ULVN�LV�WKH�SRVVLEOH�ORVV�LQ�WKH�YDOXH�RI�D�¿[HG�LQFRPH�DVVHW�UHVXOWLQJ�IURP�DQ�XQH[SHFWHG�DQG�DGYHUVH�
PRYHPHQW�LQ�LQWHUHVW�UDWHV�DQG�D�FRQVHTXHQW�FKDQJH�LQ�SULFH���,QWHUHVW�UDWH�ULVN�LV�PHDVXUHG�E\�PRGL¿HG�GXUDWLRQ��ZKLFK�
measures the sensitivity of the price of a bond to changes in interest rates expressed in years.  The Bank benchmarks 
WKH�LQWHUHVW�UDWH�ULVN�IRU�WKH�3XOD�)XQG��¿[HG�LQFRPH�DVVHWV��WR�UHÀHFW�WKH�ORQJ�WHUP�QDWXUH�RI�WKH�SRUWIROLR��ZLWK�
emphasis on higher return.  The higher interest rate risk is generally compensated by higher returns expected from 
ORQJHU�PDWXULW\�ERQGV���7KH�PRGL¿HG�GXUDWLRQ�EHQFKPDUN�ZLOO�YDU\�RYHU�WLPH��DV�FKDQJLQJ�PDUNHW�FRQGLWLRQV�DQG�
LQGH[�ZHLJKWV�LPSDFW�WKH�JOREDO�PRGL¿HG�GXUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�LQGH[���$W�WKH�HQG�RI�������WKH�DYHUDJH�PRGL¿HG�GXUDWLRQ�
RI�WKH�¿[HG�LQFRPH�SRUWLRQ�RI�WKH�3XOD�)XQG�ZDV�����\HDUV����������\HDUV����$V�WKH�/LTXLGLW\�3RUWIROLR�JLYHV�SULRU-
LW\�WR�OLTXLGLW\�RYHU�UHWXUQ��JLYHQ�WKH�FRQVWDQW�QHHG�WR�SURYLGH�IRUHLJQ�H[FKDQJH�WR�¿QDQFH�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�WUDQVDFWLRQ�
payments, from the Bank’s perspective, this portfolio is exposed to minimum interest rate risk.  At the end of 2015, 
WKH�/LTXLGLW\�3RUWIROLR¶V�DYHUDJH�PRGL¿HG�GXUDWLRQ�ZDV�����\HDUV������������\HDUV��

�F�� Equity Price Risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the value of equities decrease as a result of changes in the level of equity indices 
and diminution of value of individual stocks.  The geographic allocation of equity exposure follows generally the 
market capitalisation among the major markets.  The investment guidelines stipulate the holding levels of equities.  
Holdings of more than 5 percent in one company are not permitted.  A reasonable spread among the industry sectors 
is maintained in the portfolio.  There are no investments in private placements or unquoted stocks.  At the end of 
������WKH�HTXLW\�SRUWLRQ�RI�WKH�3XOD�)XQG�ZDV�3�����ELOOLRQ��������3�����ELOOLRQ��

Market Risk Sensitivity Analysis
The set of assumptions used for each of the risk factors hereunder are not forecasts, but merely “what if” scenarios and the likely 
impact on the current portfolio, based on selected changes in risk variables over a one year horizon.

The Table below gives an indication of the risk sensitivities of the portfolio to various risk parameters.  Assuming that the prob-
DELOLW\�RI�WKH�EHQH¿FLDO�FKDQJH�LQ�WKH�ULVN�YDULDEOHV�DUH�DV�OLNHO\�WR�KDSSHQ�DV�DQ�DGYHUVH�FKDQJH��ERWK�SRWHQWLDO�LQFUHDVH�DQG�
decrease are shown for the indicated scenarios. 
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December 31, 2015

Risk Variable Adverse market change %HQH¿FLDO�PDUNHW�FKDQJH
Scenario Effect on Statement of 

3UR¿W�RU�/RVV�DQG�2WKHU�
Comprehensive Income3 

�3¶����

Scenario Effect on Statement of 
3UR¿W�RU�/RVV�DQG�2WKHU�
Comprehensive Income3 

�3µ����

Interest Rate Risk
Increase in yields by 
50 basis points �����������

Decrease in yields by 
50 basis points 1 384 841

Currency Risk

SDR curren-
cies

Strengthening of the 
Pula by 1 percent ���������

Weakening of the Pula 
by 1 percent 830 182

South Afri-
can 
rand

Strengthening of the 
Pula by 1 percent ��������

Weakening of the Pula 
by 1 Percent 18 628

Equity Risk
Global 
Equities

Decline in global 
equity prices by 5 
percent �����������

Increase in global eq-
uity prices by 5 per-
cent 1 412 661

December 31, 2014

Risk Variable Adverse market change %HQH¿FLDO�PDUNHW�FKDQJH
Scenario Effect on Statement of 

3UR¿W�RU�/RVV�DQG�2WKHU�
Comprehensive Income5 

�3¶����

Scenario Effect on Statement of 
3UR¿W�RU�/RVV�DQG�2WKHU�
Comprehensive Income3 

�3¶����

Interest Rate Risk
Increase in yields by 
50 basis points �����������

Decrease in yields by 
50 basis points 1 164 484

Currency Risk

SDR curren-
cies

Strengthening of the 
Pula by 1 percent ���������

Weakening of the 
Pula by 1 percent 754 262

South Afri-
can 
rand

Strengthening of the 
Pula by 1 percent ��������

Weakening of the 
Pula by 1 percent 36 851

Equity Risk
Global 
Equities

Decline in global 
equity prices by 5 
percent �����������

Increase in global 
equity prices by 5 
percent 1 190 886

The market risk estimates as presented in the Tables above are based on sensitivities to the individual risk factors.  The correla-
WLRQ�EHWZHHQ�WKH�ULVN�YDULDEOHV�LV�QRW�UHÀHFWHG�LQ�WKH�HIIHFW�RQ�WKH�6WDWHPHQW�RI�3UR¿W�RU�/RVV�DQG�2WKHU�&RPSUHKHQVLYH�,QFRPH�

�G�� Credit risk 

7KLV�LV�WKH�ULVN�WKDW�ZRXOG�DULVH�LI�DQ�HQWLW\�WKDW�WKH�%DQN�FRQGXFWV�EXVLQHVV�ZLWK�LV�XQDEOH�WR�PHHW�LWV�¿QDQFLDO�RE-
ligations or in the event of an adverse credit event or default.  This may be a commercial bank accepting a deposit, 
a sovereign, supranational or corporate entity issuing a bond or a counterparty with whom the market participant 
has contracted to buy or sell foreign exchange or money or capital market instruments.  In the Bank’s endeavour to 
control credit risk, it deals with only the best quality institutions or counterparties, as determined by international 
rating agencies.

Consistent with the investment guidelines, the Bank withdraws the invested funds if there has been a downgrade of 
any institution.  In cases where the new lower rating necessitates a lower exposure, funds are withdrawn to ensure 
that the new limit is not exceeded.

5 The effects are expected to have the same impact on shareholder’s funds.
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30.     RISK MANAGEMENT IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Bank mitigates credit risk by addressing the following underlying issues:

%�'H¿QLQJ�HOLJLEOH�LQYHVWPHQW�LQVWUXPHQWV�
%�3UH�TXDOLI\LQJ�FRXQWHUSDUWLHV��¿QDQFLDO�LQVWLWXWLRQV��EURNHUV�GHDOHUV��DQG�LQWHUPHGLDULHV��GRLQJ�EXVLQHVV�ZLWK�WKH�%DQN��DQG
%�Diversifying investment portfolios so as to minimise potential losses from securities or individual issuers.

The Bank has not impaired any of its assets in the current and previous period.

Exposure to Credit Risk
The Table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the Statement of Financial Position, including 
derivatives.  The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of the above mitigation factors.

Notes 2015
P’000

2014
P’000

Financial Assets

Liquidity Portfolio
Bonds: held for trading 
Short-term deposits: loans and receivables

1.1 12 904 792
9 009 628

9 559 860
13 164 041

Pula Fund
Bonds: available-for-sale
Derivative instruments: held for trading
6KRUW�WHUP�GHSRVLWV��ORDQV�DQG��SD\DEOHV��UHFHLYDEOHV

1.2 33 418 814
30 233

���������

30 382 537
8 273

557 506
International Monetary Fund- loans and receivables
Reserve tranche
Holdings of Special Drawing Rights
General Subsidy Account

2.1
2.2
2.3

424 539
1 334 931

23 666

430 044
1 178 929

20 907
Government of Botswana bonds: available-for-sale 4 23 733 24 137
Other Assets- staff loans and advances: loans and receivables 5 52 579 49 663
Total 56 725 878 55 375 897

Analysis of Credit Exposure by class:

Measured at fair value
Bonds 46 323 606 39 942 397
Derivatives 30 233 8 273
Government of Botswana bonds 23 733 24 137

Measured at amortised cost
IMF Reserves 1 783 136 1 629 880
Staff advances 52 579 49 663
Short-term deposits: loans and receivables 8 512 591 13 721 547

Total 56 725 878 55 375 897

:KLOH�VRPH�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV�DUH�UHFRUGHG�DW�IDLU�YDOXH��WKH�DPRXQWV�VKRZQ�DERYH�UHSUHVHQW�WKH�FXUUHQW�FUHGLW�ULVN�H[SRVXUH��
EXW�QRW�WKH�PD[LPXP�ULVN�H[SRVXUH�WKDW�FRXOG�DULVH�LQ�IXWXUH�DV�D�UHVXOW�RI�FKDQJHV�LQ�YDOXHV���7KH�7DEOHV�EHORZ�UHÀHFW�WKH�FUHGLW�
exposure based on the fair value of the assets with counterparties as at December 31, 2015.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2015

30.     RISK MANAGEMENT IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit Exposure on Bonds 

Moodys/S&P 
Rating

2015 2014
Government

�3¶����
Corporate
�3¶����

Total
�3¶����

Total
�3¶����

AAA 38 061 986 487 543 38 549 529 33 638 471
AA+ 351 374 58 557 409 931 2 046 855
AA 3 292 282 58 229 3 350 511 1 337 609
AA– – – – 1 813 207
A+ 2 176 371 19 171 2 195 542 –
A – 30 370 30 370 203 125
Other6 1 779 227 8 496 1 787 723 903 130

45 661 240 662 366 46 323 606 39 942 397

Credit Exposure to Banks (Short-term deposits) 

2015 2014
Fitch Rating �3¶���� �3¶����

AAA7 2 975 442 2 298 545
AA+7 528 122 207 265
A+7 – 15 637
A+5 222 222 –
a+1 – 150 593
a1 562 492 806 870
a5 1 101 506 402 877
aa-1 – 4 216 276
aa-5 668 032 1 095 798
a-5 691 733 –
a-2 – 998 671
a-1 – 338 517
BBB7 2 117 242
BBB-7 1 278 130 –
bbb1/bbb2/bbb3/bbb+1/bbb-2/bbb-3/bbb-5 484 912 1 073 256

8 512 591 13 721 547

Credit Exposure on Securities Lending Programme

The Bank’s global custodian manages a securities lending programme as agent of the Bank.  Due to the short term nature of the 
securities lending transactions, the collateral received under this programme changes on a short term basis.  The securities lend-
ing is regulated by a securities lending agreement with the global custodian and follows the general criteria for the Bank’s credit 
exposure.  The global custodian monitors the market value of the collateral and, where necessary, obtains additional collateral in 
line with the underlying agreement.

�H�� Instrument Risk 

Sovereign Bonds

In accordance with the investment guidelines, the Bank invests in eligible instruments that are direct obligations or 
obligations explicitly guaranteed by governments or local governments of 13 selected sovereign countries that are 
KLJKO\�UDWHG�E\�6WDQGDUG�DQG�3RRU¶V�DQG�0RRG\¶V�,QYHVWRUV�6HUYLFH���([SRVXUH�OLPLWV�DUH�DVVLJQHG�WR�WKH�VSHFL¿F�
sovereign countries in accordance with the ratings assigned by the credit rating agencies.

6  ‘Other’ includes investment rated below A-, but still rated investment grade as per the investment guidelines. 
7   Included in AAA, AA+, A+, BBB and BBB- are deposits held with central banks.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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30.     RISK MANAGEMENT IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Corporate Bonds

The Bank invests in a small proportion of corporate bonds rated A1 or higher, with the issuer being incorporated and 
tax resident in a country whose sovereign debt is eligible for investment by the Bank.  A reasonable geographical 
spread of issuers is maintained.

�I�� Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due, hence 
liquidity is an integral part of the Bank’s foreign exchange reserves policy.  To limit this risk, the Management 
PDQDJHV�WKH�DVVHWV�ZLWK�OLTXLGLW\�LQ�PLQG�DQG�PRQLWRUV�IXWXUH�FDVK�ÀRZV�DQG�OLTXLGLW\�RQ�D�GDLO\�EDVLV���7KH�%DQN�
is exposed to daily Pula liquidity requirements on the deposits it holds on behalf of the shareholder, Government 
RI�%RWVZDQD��WKH�EDQNLQJ�V\VWHP�DQG�RWKHU�FOLHQWV�KROGLQJ�GHSRVLWV�ZLWK�WKH�%DQN��PDLQO\�SDUDVWDWDOV����)RU�WKH�
purpose of managing foreign exchange reserves, the Bank keeps some of its assets in short-term deposits and other 
OLTXLG�PRQH\�PDUNHW�LQVWUXPHQWV�WR�HQDEOH�WKH�DYDLODELOLW\�RI�OLTXLGLW\�WR�PHHW�RXWÀRZV�ZLWKRXW�LQFXUULQJ�XQGXH�
FDSLWDO�ORVV�DQG�WR�SURYLGH�ÀH[LELOLW\�WR�UHVSRQG�HIIHFWLYHO\�WR�FKDQJLQJ�PDUNHW�UHTXLUHPHQWV�

Financial Liabilities at Undiscounted Cash Flows
7KH�WDEOH�EHORZ�VXPPDULVHV�WKH�PDWXULW\�SUR¿OH�RI�WKH�%DQN¶V�¿QDQFLDO�OLDELOLWLHV�DV�DW�'HFHPEHU�����������EDVHG�RQ�FRQWUDFWXDO�
undiscounted repayment obligations.

December 31, 2015
Less than 
3 months 
�3¶����

3–12 months
�3¶����

1–5 years 
�3¶����

Over 5 years 
�3¶����

Total
�3¶����

%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�&HUWL¿FDWHV 8 192 650 – – – 8 192 650
Reverse Repurchase Agreements 1 672 849 – – – 1 672 849
Deposits 5 067 372 – – – 5 067 372
Allocation of SDR – IMF – – – 893 912 893 912
Liabilities to Government – IMF – – – 358 931 358 931
Dividend to Government 401 782 – – – 401 782
Other Liabilities 129 509 – – – 129 509

15 464 162 1 252 843 16 717 005

December 31, 2014
Less than 
3 months 
�3¶����

3–12 months
�3¶����

1–5 years 
�3¶����

Over 5 years 
�3¶����

Total
�3¶����

%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�&HUWL¿FDWHV 4 208 000 – – – 4 208 000
Reverse Repurchase Agreements 304 357 – – – 304 357
Deposits 6 841 828 – – – 6 841 828
Allocation of SDR – IMF – – – 789 694 789 694
Liabilities to Government – IMF – – – 364 435 364 435
Dividend to Government 544 689 – – – 544 689
Other Liabilities 214 974 – – – 214 974

12 113 848 – – 1 154 129 13 267 977 

�J�� External Fund Managers and Custody

External fund managers are engaged to complement the Bank’s reserve management activity.  The Bank uses the 
services of a custodian which provides custodial services for the Bank’s assets.

�K�� Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events.  When controls 
fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications or lead to 
¿QDQFLDO�ORVV���7KH�%DQN�FDQQRW�H[SHFW�WR�HOLPLQDWH�DOO�RSHUDWLRQDO�ULVNV��EXW�WKURXJK�D�FRQWURO�IUDPHZRUN�DQG�E\�
monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Bank is able to manage the risks.  The Bank has a Risk Management 
and Planning Division within the Finance Department which focuses primarily on operational risk and coordination 
of the business continuity management.
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31.      FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

)DLU�YDOXH�RI�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV�FDUULHG�DW�DPRUWLVHG�FRVW
7KH�%RDUG�FRQVLGHUV�WKDW�WKH�FDUU\LQJ�DPRXQWV�RI�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHWV�DQG�OLDELOLWLHV�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DW�DPRU-
tised cost approximate their fair values.

)RU�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV�WKDW�WUDGH�LQIUHTXHQWO\�DQG�KDYH�OLWWOH�SULFH�WUDQVSDUHQF\��IDLU�YDOXH�LV�OHVV�REMHFWLYH�DQG�UHTXLUHV�YDU\-
ing degrees of judgement depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other 
ULVN�DIIHFWLQJ�WKH�VSHFL¿F�LQVWUXPHQW�

Valuation models and techniques
7KH�IDLU�YDOXHV�RI�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHWV�DQG�¿QDQFLDO�OLDELOLWLHV�ZLWK�VWDQGDUG�WHUPV�DQG�FRQGLWLRQV�DQG�WUDGHG�RQ�DFWLYH�OLTXLG�PDUNHWV�
DUH�GHWHUPLQHG�ZLWK�UHIHUHQFH�WR�TXRWHG�PDUNHW�SULFHV��LQFOXGHV�OLVWHG�UHGHHPDEOH�QRWHV��ELOOV�RI�H[FKDQJH��GHEHQWXUHV�DQG�
SHUSHWXDO�QRWHV��

7KH�IDLU�YDOXHV�RI�RWKHU�¿QDQFLDO�DVVHWV�DQG�¿QDQFLDO�OLDELOLWLHV��H[FOXGLQJ�GHULYDWLYH�LQVWUXPHQWV��DUH�GHWHUPLQHG�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�
with generally accepted pricing models and valuation techniques.  The fair values are based on net present value, discounted cash 
ÀRZ�PRGHOV�DQG�FRPSDULVRQ�ZLWK�SULFHV�IURP�REVHUYDEOH�FXUUHQW�PDUNHW�WUDQVDFWLRQV�DQG�GHDOHU�TXRWHV�IRU�VLPLODU�LQVWUXPHQWV�

7KH�REMHFWLYH�RI�YDOXDWLRQ�WHFKQLTXHV�LV�WR�DUULYH�DW�D�IDLU�YDOXH�PHDVXUHPHQW�WKDW�UHÀHFWV�WKH�SULFH�WKDW�ZRXOG�EH�UHFHLYHG�WR�
sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

7KH�%DQN�XVHV�ZLGHO\�UHFRJQLVHG�YDOXDWLRQ�PRGHOV�IRU�GHWHUPLQLQJ�WKH�IDLU�YDOXH�RI�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV��VXFK�DV�LQWHUHVW�UDWHV�
yields, that use only observable market data and require little management judgement and estimation.

The fair value of Government bonds is derived from market quotations.  These are prices dealers will be willing to pay for 
similar instruments.

7KH�%DQN�XVHV�GLVFRXQWHG�FDVK�ÀRZ�DQDO\VLV�WR�YDOXH�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�&HUWL¿FDWHV��%R%&V����7KH�YDOXDWLRQ�LV�EDVHG�RQ�RE-
servable market prices, with the yield curve providing the discount factors needed. 

The fair values of derivative instruments are calculated using quoted prices.  Where such prices are not available, a discounted 
FDVK�ÀRZ�DQDO\VLV�LV�SHUIRUPHG�XVLQJ�WKH�DSSOLFDEOH�\LHOG�FXUYH�IRU�WKH�GXUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�LQVWUXPHQWV�IRU�QRQ�RSWLRQDO�GHULYDWLYHV��
and option pricing models for optional derivatives.  

Foreign currency forward contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves derived from quoted 
LQWHUHVW�UDWHV�PDWFKLQJ�PDWXULWLHV�RI�WKH�FRQWUDFWV���,QWHUHVW�UDWH�VZDSV�DUH�PHDVXUHG�DW�WKH�SUHVHQW�YDOXH�RI�IXWXUH�FDVK�ÀRZV�
estimated and discounted based on the applicable yield curves derived from quoted interest rates.

)DLU�YDOXHV�DUH�FDWHJRULVHG�LQWR�GLIIHUHQW�OHYHOV�LQ�D�IDLU�YDOXH�KLHUDUFK\��ZKLFK�UHÀHFWV�WKH�VLJQL¿FDQFH�RI�WKH�LQSXWV�XVHG�LQ�
making the measurements.

/HYHO���IDLU�YDOXH�PHDVXUHPHQWV�DUH�WKRVH�GHULYHG�IURP�TXRWHG�SULFHV��XQDGMXVWHG��LQ�DFWLYH�PDUNHWV�IRU�LGHQWLFDO�DVVHWV�RU�
liabilities.

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are ob-
VHUYDEOH�IRU�WKH�DVVHW�RU�OLDELOLW\��HLWKHU�GLUHFWO\��L�H���DV�SULFHV��RU�LQGLUHFWO\��L�H���GHULYHG�IURP�SULFHV����7KLV�FDWHJRU\�LQFOXGHV�
instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar 
LQVWUXPHQWV�LQ�PDUNHWV�WKDW�DUH�FRQVLGHUHG�OHVV�DFWLYH��RU�RWKHU�YDOXDWLRQ�WHFKQLTXHV�LQ�ZKLFK�DOO�VLJQL¿FDQW�LQSXWV�DUH�GLUHFWO\�
or indirectly observable from market data.

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that 
DUH�QRW�EDVHG�RQ�REVHUYDEOH�PDUNHW�GDWD��XQREVHUYDEOH�LQSXWV��
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31.       FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability are categorised in different levels of the fair value hierarchy, 
then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input 
WKDW�LV�VLJQL¿FDQW�WR�WKH�HQWLUH�PHDVXUHPHQW�

Fair Value Measurements recognised in the Statement of Financial Position
7KH�IROORZLQJ�7DEOH�SURYLGHV�DQ�DQDO\VLV�RI�¿QDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV�WKDW�DUH�PHDVXUHG�DW�IDLU�YDOXH��LQFOXGLQJ�WKHLU�OHYHOV�LQ�WKH�
fair value hierarchy.

December 31, 2015 Note Level 1 Level 2 Total
P’000 P’000 P’000

Financial Assets
Held for trading

Bonds 12 904 792 – 12 904 792
Derivative instruments – 30 233 30 233

Available-for-sale
Bonds 33 418 814 – 33 418 814
Equities 28 253 210 – 28 253 210
Government Bonds – 23 733 23 733

Loans and Receivables – 10 348 306 10 348 306
74 576 816 10 402 272 84 979 088

Financial Liabilities
Held for trading

Derivative instruments – 21 770 21 770

2WKHU�¿QDQFLDO�OLDELOLWLHV
%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�&HUWL¿FDWHV – 8 189 922 8 189 922

Other liabilities – 8 525 934 8 525 934
16 737 626 16 737 626

December 31, 2014 Note Level 1 Level 2 Total
P’000 P’000 P’000

Financial Assets
Held for trading

Bonds 13.1 9 559 860 – 9 559 860
Derivative instruments 13.1 – 8 273 8 273

Available–for–sale
Bonds 13.1 30 382 537 – 30 382 537
Equities 13.1 23 817 720 – 23 817 720
Government Bonds 13.1 – 24 137 24 137

Loans and Receivables 13.1 – 15 401 090 15 401 090
63 760 117 15 433 500 79 193 617

Financial Liabilities
Held for trading

Derivative instruments 13.2 – 8 512 8 512

2WKHU�¿QDQFLDO�OLDELOLWLHV
%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�&HUWL¿FDWHV 13.2 – 4 201 384 4 201 384

Other liabilities 13.2 – 9 059 977 9 059 977
– 13 269 873 13 269 873

There were no transfers between levels during the year.
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32.     RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS

Balances and Transactions with the Government
The Bank provides several services to its shareholder, the Government.  The main services during the year to December 31, 
2015, were:

�D�� SURYLVLRQ�RI�EDQNLQJ�VHUYLFHV��LQFOXGLQJ�KROGLQJ�RI�WKH�SULQFLSDO�DFFRXQWV�RI�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�

�E�� PDQDJHPHQW�RI�WKH�1RWHV�DQG�&RLQ�LQ�LVVXH��LQFOXGLQJ�SULQWLQJ�DQG�PLQWLQJ�RI�QRWHV�DQG�FRLQ��DQG

�F�� EHLQJ�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�DJHQW�IRU�JRYHUQPHQW�ERQGV�DQG�WUHDVXU\�ELOOV�

The aggregate balances in Government accounts are disclosed in Note 10.

No charge is made to the Government for provision of these services.

7KH�%DQN�HDUQHG�LQWHUHVW�RQ�LWV�KROGLQJ�RI�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�RI�%RWVZDQD�ERQGV��DV�GHVFULEHG�LQ�1RWH����RI�3�����������������������������
3������������

Other Related Party Balances and Transactions
�D�� � $PRXQWV�GXH�WR�UHODWHG�SDUWLHV�

Included in the balance of outstanding “Deposits – Other” in Note 10 are the following balances with Government-owned 
institutions.

2015
P’000

2014
P’000

Botswana Savings Bank 1 172 1 781
%RWVZDQD�8QL¿HG�5HYHQXH�6HUYLFH 72 872 535 074
Total 74 044 536 855

� 7KH�DPRXQWV�RXWVWDQGLQJ�DUH�XQVHFXUHG�DQG�KDYH�QR�¿[HG�UHSD\PHQW�WHUPV�

�E�� 5HPXQHUDWLRQ of Key Management Personnel

Key management personnel comprise the Governor, Board Members, Deputy Governors, General Manager and 
Heads of Department.

Gross emoluments of the key management personnel are:

2015
P’000

2014
P’000

Non-Executive Board members 214 59
Executive Management 
6DODULHV��DOORZDQFHV�DQG�RWKHU�VKRUW�WHUP�EHQH¿WV 13 252 10 988
3RVW�HPSOR\PHQW�EHQH¿WV 2 356 2 004

15 822 13 051

2I�WKH�6WDII�/RDQV�DQG�$GYDQFHV�SHU�1RWH����3������������������3�����������DUH�DWWULEXWDEOH�WR�([HFXWLYH�0DQDJHPHQW�

33. CONTINGENCIES

The Bank is defending an action brought by one of the depositors of Kingdom Bank Africa Limited that is now under liquida-
tion.  Although liability is not admitted, if the defence against the action is unsuccessful, the claim against the Bank and legal 
costs could amount to the equivalent of approximately P34 million.
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$W�WKH�GDWH�RI�¿QDOLVDWLRQ�RI�WKH�DQQXDO�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��WKHUH�ZHUH�QR�PDWHULDO�HYHQWV�WKDW�RFFXUUHG�VXEVHTXHQW�WR�WKH�VWDWH-
PHQW�RI�¿QDQFLDO�SRVLWLRQ�GDWH�WKDW�UHTXLUH�DGMXVWPHQW�WR�RU�GLVFORVXUH�LQ�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�
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CHAPTER 1

THE BOTSWANA ECONOMY IN 2015

largest share of GDP at 21.3 percent, there is 
a long-term decline relative to the rest of the 
economy (Chart 1.2).2

Sectoral Performance
1.2 The 11.8 percent contraction in mining output 

was mainly due to a 12.2 percent decline in 
diamond production which was scaled down 
in response to subdued global demand. Thus, 
Debswana produced only 20.4 million car-
ats of rough diamonds in 2015, which was 
16 percent lower than in the previous year. 
Among other diamond producers, the Karowe 
mine continued to perform well, boosted 
by discovery and sale of exceptional, large, 
high-value stones,3 for which the demand 
remains strong. Gem Diamond’s Ghaghoo 

2 This is based on the current price measure of GDP. In constant 
prices, mining is no longer the largest sector of the economy, 
due to the relatively low prices of rough diamonds prevailing 
in 2006, the base year currently used for measuring real GDP.

3 In 2015, the mine discovered the world’s second largest 
diamond of 1 111 carats.

1. OUTPUT, EMPLOYMENT AND 
PRICES

(a) National Income Accounts

Overview
1.1 In the twelve months to September 2015, GDP 

growth is estimated at 1.2 percent, compared 
to 3.2 percent in 2014.1 Output growth was at-
tributable to the performance of the non-mining 
sectors (Chart 1.4), which grew by 3.7 percent, 
with strong performance of trade, hotels and 
restaurants (6.7 percent), transport and com-
munications (5.4 percent), general government 
(5.1 percent) and social and personal services 
(3.8 percent). In contrast, mining output fell by 
11.8 percent compared to the previous year’s 
growth rate of 0.5 percent (Chart 1.1). Although 
the mining sector continues to account for the 

1 Estimates for the ¿nal quarter of 2015 are yet to be published. 
Comparison between the twelve months to September 2015 
with the calendar year 2014 includes an overlap of one quarter.

CHART 1.1: REAL GDP GROWTH 2011 - 2014/15 
(PERCENT)

1. Data for 2014/15 are for the 12-month period 
to September 2015.

Source: Statistics Botswana

1. Measured in current prices.
Source: Statistics Botswana

CHART 1.2: SHARE OF MINING IN TOTAL GDP 
(PERCENT)
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mine, continued to build up production, 
although progress towards operating at full 
capacity was disrupted by challenges in 
the underground infrastructure and, subse-
quently falling demand for rough diamonds. 
In contrast, operations at the small Lerala 
mine remained suspended during the year.4 
Production of copper-nickel declined by 14.5 
percent, following the closure of the Boseto 
mine and the mines operated by Messina 
Copper. Furthermore, production at the BCL 
and Tati Nickel mines was badly affected by 
the temporary closure for maintenance of the 
mines’ shared smelter facility.5 Output of coal 
H[SDQGHG�E\������SHUFHQW��LQ�SDUW�UHÀHFWLQJ�
demand for exports, while the production of 
soda ash declined by 15.7 percent, from the 
high output levels of the previous year; other 
mining contracted by 14.2 percent.

1.3 Performance of trade, hotels and restaurants 
led the non-mining sectors with growth of 6.7 
percent, albeit lower than the 7.1 percent ex-
pansion in the previous year. Overall sectoral 
SHUIRUPDQFH�EHQH¿WWHG�IURP�LQFUHDVHG�DFWLY-
ity for hotels and restaurants� ����� SHUFHQW��
and retail and wholesale DFWLYLW\������SHUFHQW�
DQG�����SHUFHQW��UHVSHFWLYHO\���ZLWK�WKH�ODWWHU�
indicative of continuing expansion of domestic 
demand, including from government spending.6 

However, there was some indication that the 
number of international visitors was negatively 
affected by the continuing adverse publicity 
arising from the 2014 Ebola outbreak in West 
Africa together with the strengthening of the US 
dollar, the currency in which Botswana tourist 
destinations are often priced. 

1.4 Growth in transport and communications decel-
erated to 5.4 percent from 7.4 percent in 2014. 

4 Kimberly Diamonds has received funding to re-commission 
the Lerala mine, which is expected to take place during 
the course of 2016, with the mine projected to produce 
approximately 357 000 carats per annum over a seven-year 
life span.

5 Although planned, the maintenance took longer than expected, 
putting severe strain on the viability of both mines’ operations.

6 A further sign of robust consumer spending is the 11.9 percent 
DQQXDO� JURZWK� �LQ�PLG������� LQ� WKH� QXPEHU� RI� SDVVHQJHU�
vehicles registered in Botswana.

Expansion of communications remained strong 
at 6.4 percent, while all the main transport sub-
sectors also recorded positive growth, with the 
exception of air transport, which contracted by 
-6.1 percent compared to -3.6 percent in 2014.

1.5 Manufacturing increased at a moderate rate of 
3.7 percent in the twelve months to September 
2015, underpinned by positive growth of other 
manufacturing� ����� SHUFHQW��� DQG�beverages 
�����SHUFHQW���ZKLOH�meat and meat products re-
corded negative growth. Growth in construction 
was 3.5 percent, up from 2.8 percent in 2014. 
Construction activity was supported by govern-
ment spending on major infrastructure projects 
and continuing private sector development of 
residential, commercial and retail property. Con-
WLQXLQJ�JURZWK�LQ�FHPHQW�LPSRUWV��D�NH\�OHDG-
LQJ�LQGLFDWRU�RI�FRQVWUXFWLRQ��GXULQJ������DOVR�
points to some pick-up in construction activity. 
Finance and business services growth picked up 
slightly to 2.7 percent from 2.4 percent recorded 
in the previous year, led by banks, insurance and 
real estate but counteracted by slower growth in 
business services.

1.6 Agriculture grew marginally by 0.6 percent, with 
expansion in the livestock VXE�VHFWRU� �����SHU-
FHQW��ODUJHO\�RIIVHW�E\�UHGXFHG�RXWSXW�IRU�crops 
������SHUFHQW��DQG�other agriculture�����SHUFHQW���
Production was negatively affected by drought 
that continued into 2016, aggravated by El Nino-
induced dry weather patterns.

1.7 Value added by water and electricity contracted 
further by 91.7 percent in the twelve months 
to September 2015, following a 55.8 percent 
GHFOLQH� LQ� WKH�SUHYLRXV�\HDU� �&KDUW� ������7KH�
contraction is largely attributable to the electricity 
sub-sector, despite the easing of power shortages 
from the second quarter of 2015 as generation at 
the Morupule B power station stabilised and an 
additional diesel power plant augmented supply.7 
Performance of the water sub-sector was severely 
constrained by unprecedented water shortages 
in the more heavily-urbanised southeast of the 
country.

7 With improved supply, the increasingly negative contribution 
LV�D�UHÀHFWLRQ�RI�WKH�FRQWLQXLQJ�KHDY\�LPEDODQFHV�EHWZHHQ�WKH�
costs of service provision and the associated tariffs.
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(b) Domestic Economic Outlook
1.8 The sluggish performance in the global 

economy continues to constrain prospects for 
growth in Botswana. World output is projected 
to increase by 3.4 percent in 2016, which is 

marginally higher than 3.1 percent in 2015 
(Table 1.1),8 but lower than earlier forecasts. 
The recent fall in global oil prices is expected to 

8 World Economic Outlook (WEO) Update, January 2016, 
International Monetary Fund.

1. Data for 2014/15 are for the 12-month period to September 2015.
Source: Statistics Botswana

1. Data for 2014/15 are for the 12-month period to September 2015.
Source: Statistics Botswana

CHART 1.3: REAL GDP GROWTH BY SECTOR - 2014/15 (PERCENT) 

CHART 1.4: CONTRIBUTION TO REAL GDP GROWTH BY SECTOR (PERCENT) 
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provide some stimulus to the global economy; 
however, subdued global demand for diamonds 
continues to constrain activity in Botswana’s 
mining sector. Within the region, deterioration 
in the growth outlook for South Africa will 
adversely affect performance in neighbouring 
countries, including Botswana.

TABLE 1.1: GLOBAL GROWTH 2014 – 2016 (PERCENT)

2014 2015
Projections

2016

Global
  Advanced economies, of 
which,

USA
Euro area
Japan

3.4
1.8

2.4
0.9
0.0

3.1
1.9

2.5
1.5
0.6

3.4                       
2.1

2.6
1.7
1.0

Emerging markets and 
Developing Economies, 
of which,

Sub-Saharan Africa
China
India
Botswana

4.6

5.0

7.3
7.3
3.2

4.0

3.5

6.9
7.3
1.0

4.3

4.0

6.3
7.5
4.2

Source: International Monetary Fund, World 
Economic Outlook, January 2016

1.9 For the domestic economy, growth of 1 per-
cent was recorded in 2015 while 4.2 percent is 
projected for 2016, although the extent of the 
slowdown in mining means that the forecast 
for 2016 could be optimistic. Government 
expenditure will continue to support domestic 
activity.9 However, continued underspending 
DQG� VLJQL¿FDQW� LPSRUW� FRQWHQW�� HVSHFLDOO\� RQ�
the development budget, could moderate this 
effect. In addition, other bottlenecks, including 
water and electricity shortages, together with 
IUDJLOH� FRQ¿GHQFH� DPRQJ� ORFDO� EXVLQHVVHV��
could constrain activity in the private sector, 
which is necessary if medium-term growth 
projections are to be achieved.

�F�� ,QÀDWLRQ
����� *OREDO�LQÀDWLRQ�ZDV�EHQLJQ�LQ�������KDYLQJ�GH-

creased from 3.5 percent in 2014 to 3.3 percent 
due to weak global demand, persistent excess 
capacity in major economies as well as low com-
modity prices. International oil prices decreased 

9 Projects under the Economic Stimulus Programme are covered 
with the government expenditure budget that is 2.7 percent 
ORZHU�WKDQ�LQ�WKH�SUHYLRXV�¿VFDO�\HDU�

markedly, reaching a six-year low in December 
2015 against the backdrop of a well-supplied 
market and modest global demand. The price 
of Brent crude, which is the major international 
benchmark, fell by 39 percent from USD62.34 
per barrel in December 2014 to USD38.01 in 
December 2015.10 In the same period, the aver-
age world food price index11 declined by 17.1 
percent from 185.8 to 154.1.

1.11 For Botswana’s trading partner countries, trade-
ZHLJKWHG�DYHUDJH�LQÀDWLRQ�GHFOLQHG�IURP�����
percent in December 2014 to 2.8 percent in 
������,QÀDWLRQ�IRU�6'5�FRXQWULHV��86$��8.��
-DSDQ�DQG�HXUR�DUHD��GHFUHDVHG�VOLJKWO\�IURP�
an average of 0.5 percent to 0.4 percent in the 
VDPH�SHULRG��ZKLOH�KHDGOLQH�LQÀDWLRQ�LQ�6RXWK�
Africa fell from 5.3 percent to 5.2 percent, and 
remained within the South African Reserve 
Bank’s medium-term target range of 3 – 6 
percent �&KDUW�������

����� ,QÀDWLRQ�ÀXFWXDWHG� DURXQG� WKH� ORZHU� HQG� RI�
the Bank’s medium-term objective range of 
3 – 6 percent in 201512 and decreased from 3.8 
percent in December 2014 to 3.1 percent in De-
cember 2015. Price developments were in the 
context of modest domestic demand, including 
restrained growth in personal incomes, a reduc-
tion in fuel prices, moderate increase in other 
DGPLQLVWHUHG�SULFHV�DQG�ORZ�IRRG�SULFH�LQÀD-
WLRQ��ZKLFK�DOVR�EHQH¿WHG�IURP�DGGLWLRQDO�YDOXH�
DGGHG� WD[� �9$7�� FRQFHVVLRQV��([WHUQDO�SUHV-
sures on domestic prices were also restrained 
RZLQJ�WR�ORZ�DQG�GHFOLQLQJ�LQÀDWLRQ�LQ�WUDGLQJ�
partner countries and the appreciation of the 
3XOD�DJDLQVW�WKH�UDQG��ZKLFK�UHGXFHG�LPSRUWHG�
LQÀDWLRQ��� ,Q� SDUWLFXODU�� IRRG� SULFH� LQÀDWLRQ�

10 Another major benchmark, West Texas Intermediate, averaged 
USD37.19 per barrel in December 2015, which was a decrease 
of 37.3 percent from USD59.29 per barrel in December 
2014. Meanwhile, the Organisation of Petroleum Exporting 
&RXQWULHV¶��23(&��UHIHUHQFH�FUXGH�RLO�EDVNHW�GHFOLQHG�E\������
percent from USD59.46 per barrel to USD33.64 per barrel in 
the same period.

11 Food Price Index compiled by the United Nations’ Food and 
Agriculture Organisation.

12 There was a breach of the lower bound of the objective range 
RQ�IRXU�RFFDVLRQV��LQ�)HEUXDU\�DQG�0DUFK������SHUFHQW��DQG�
LQ�6HSWHPEHU�DQG�1RYHPEHU�����������SHUFHQW���)RU�WKH�\HDU�
DV�ZKROH��DYHUDJH�LQÀDWLRQ�ZDV���SHUFHQW��
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eased from 2.5 percent in December 2014 to 0.7 
percent in December 2015,13 while fuel prices 
fell by 15.7 percent in the same period. The core 
PHDVXUHV�RI�LQÀDWLRQ�����SHUFHQW�WULPPHG�PHDQ�
DQG� LQÀDWLRQ� H[FOXGLQJ� DGPLQLVWHUHG� SULFHV��
decreased from 3.7 percent and 4.9 percent in 
December 2014 to 3.2 percent and 4.5 percent 
in December 2015, respectively. 

�G�� ,QÀDWLRQ�2XWORRN
����� *OREDO�LQÀDWLRQ�LV�IRUHFDVW�WR�EH�����SHUFHQW�LQ�

2016, marginally higher than the 3.3 percent 
recorded in 2015, against the background of 
low commodity prices, weak demand and per-
sistent spare capacity in advanced economies. 
In Botswana, it is anticipated that non-mining 
output growth will continue to be below trend, 
as constrained by electricity and water supply 
shortages and modest growth in major trading 
SDUWQHUV��3UHVVXUH�RQ�LQÀDWLRQ�IURP�GRPHVWLF�
factors is expected to be limited due to re-

13 The amendments to the Value Added Tax Act that came into 
effect at the beginning of 2015 extended the range of goods 
that are zero rated to include additional staple foodstuffs, thus 
reducing that component of food prices.

strained growth in personal incomes and, over-
DOO��LW�LV�SURMHFWHG�WKDW�GRPHVWLF�LQÀDWLRQ�ZLOO�
remain within the 3 – 6 percent objective range 
LQ�WKH�PHGLXP�WHUP��8SVLGH�ULVNV�WR�WKH�LQÀDWLRQ�
outlook relate to any substantial upward adjust-
ment in administered prices and government 
levies and any increase in international food 
and oil prices beyond current projections. In 
DGGLWLRQ��WKHUH�LV�D�ULVN�WKDW�IRRG�SULFH�LQÀDWLRQ�
could increase in the context of drought in the 
region and at a time when the base effects of 
the reduction in VAT for key food items in 2015 
are dissipating. Nevertheless, there are down-
side risks arising from continuing low global 
growth and resulting decrease in commodity 
SULFHV� WKDW�FRXOG� OHDG� WR� ORZHU� LQÀDWLRQ� WKDQ�
currently projected.

2. PUBLIC FINANCE AND THE 
2016/17 BUDGET14

2.1 The Government budget for 2016/17 marks 
the end of the extended National Development 
Plan 10 and transition from Vision 2016 to Vi-

14�7KH�¿JXUHV�UHSRUWHG�IRU�*RYHUQPHQW�GHEW�DUH�WDNHQ�IURP�7DEOH�
V of the Financial Statements, Tables and Estimates of the 
Consolidated and Development Funds Revenues. These may 
differ in some instances from those included in the Budget in 
Brief.

CHART 1.5: BOTSWANA AND TRADING PARTNER 
COUNTRIES’ INFLATION (2011 - 2015)

Source:  Statistics Botswana, Bank of Botswana and 
Bloomberg

CHART 1.6: BOTSWANA HEADLINE AND CORE INFLATION 
(2010 – 2015)

Source: Statistics Botswana.
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sion 2036; at the same time, there is a global 
move from the United Nations’ Millennium 
'HYHORSPHQW�*RDOV� �0'*V�� WR� WKH�6XVWDLQ-
DEOH�'HYHORSPHQW�*RDOV��6'*V���7KH�EXGJHW�
was presented in the context of continued 
sluggish growth in the global economy and 
falling commodity prices which have severely 
affected Government revenues and resulted in 
D�SURMHFWHG�EXGJHW�GH¿FLW�RI�3����ELOOLRQ������
SHUFHQW�RI�*'3��DQG�3��ELOOLRQ�RU�����SHUFHQW�
of projected GDP for 2015/16 and 2016/17, re-
spectively.15 In response to the recent slowdown 
of the domestic economy, the Government 
introduced the Economic Stimulus Programme 
�(63���VXEVXPHG�ZLWKLQ�WKH�EXGJHW�� WR�ERRVW�
economic activity and employment creation.16 
The budget priorities for 2016/17 are, there-
fore, aligned with the interrelated objectives of 
the ESP, NDP 11, Vision 2036 and the SDGs. 
Thus the 2016 Budget Speech emphasised the 
priorities of infrastructure investment; creat-
ing employment opportunities; strengthening 
human capital; enhancing national security; 
strengthening local governance; and estab-
lishing a path towards sustainable economic 
development.

(a) Budget Performance: 2014/15 and 
2015/16

2014/15 Budget Outturn
���� 7KH�EXGJHW�RXWWXUQ�IRU� WKH���������¿QDQFLDO�

\HDU�ZDV�D�VXUSOXV�RI�3����ELOOLRQ��VLJQL¿FDQWO\�
higher than the revised estimate surplus of P281 

15 Ministry of Finance and Development Planning GDP 
projections.

16 This is a public expenditure driven programme intended 
primarily to accelerate NDP 10 projects and programmes 
WKDW�ZHUH� GHIHUUHG� GXH� WR� WKH� JOREDO� ¿QDQFLDO� FULVLV� DQG�
economic recession, with a particular emphasis on providing 
opportunities for local businesses and job creation, especially 
for the youth. The ESP projects are expected to run for a 
period of three years, with P1.4 billion and P2.2 billion so far 
allocated for 2015/16 and 2016/17, respectively. Beyond the 
initial phase of infrastructure development, targeted sectors 
include: agricultural production, tourism development, the 
(FRQRPLF�'LYHUVLILFDWLRQ�'ULYH� �(''���PDQXIDFWXULQJ��
construction and maintenance of buildings and roads, re-
skilling of youth and the establishment of Special Economic 
=RQHV��6(=V��

million.17 This was mostly attributable to a com-
bination of higher revenue and underspending 
�7DEOH������

2.3 Revenue18� LQFUHDVHG�E\�3��ELOOLRQ� ������SHU-
FHQW�� LQ��������� WR�3���ELOOLRQ��XQGHUSLQQHG�
by higher mineral revenues and payments from 
WKH�6RXWKHUQ�$IULFDQ�&XVWRPV�8QLRQ��6$&8���
Non-mineral income tax, VAT and revenue 
from the Bank of Botswana also increased 
VLJQL¿FDQWO\��7RWDO�H[SHQGLWXUH�DQG�QHW�OHQGLQJ�
also rose from P41.7 billion in the previous 
year to P50.6 billion, but was slightly below the 
revised estimate of P51.3 billion. The shortfall 
in total spending was due to under-expenditure 
of recurrent and development budgets, which 
were below the revised estimates by P278 mil-
lion and P406 million, respectively. 

 2015/16 Revised Estimates
2.4 The revised estimates of the budget for 2015/16 

VKRZV�D�GH¿FLW�RI�3����ELOOLRQ��FRPSDUHG�WR�WKH�
original projection of a surplus of P1.2 billion. 
This is due to a combination of additional fund-
ing, in particular for the development budget, 
together with a shortfall in revenue. However, 
due to the sharp reduction in mineral revenues, 
WKH�GH¿FLW�DV�DW�'HFHPEHU�������QLQH�PRQWKV�
RI�WKH�¿VFDO�\HDU��ZDV�3��ELOOLRQ��WKXV�LQGLFDW-
LQJ� WKDW� WKH�¿QDO�GH¿FLW� FRXOG�EH� ODUJHU� WKDQ�
indicated in the revised estimates. 

2.5 The revised estimates show reduced revenue 
of P51.8 billion due to a downward revision 
by 6.5 percent from P55.4 billion in the origi-
nal budget as a result of lower receipts from 
minerals, SACU and VAT. The estimate for 
expenditure and net lending has been revised 
upwards from P54.2 billion to P56 billion. The 
increase comprises additional spending in the 
recurrent and development budgets of P423 
million and P1.4 billion, respectively, with the 
latter mainly to meet the additional costs of 
addressing water and electricity shortages.

17 Botswana Government, 2016 Budget Speech.

18 Total revenue includes grants.
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(b) The 2016/17 Budget Proposals
2.6 The proposed budget allocations for 2016/17 

were mainly informed by the need to stimulate 
economic growth and employment creation. 
However, spending will be implemented with 
SUXGHQFH�WR�HQVXUH�¿VFDO�VXVWDLQDELOLW\�LQ�WKH�
PHGLXP�WHUP��7KH�DQWLFLSDWHG�EXGJHW�GH¿FLW�RI�
3��ELOOLRQ�ZLOO�EH�¿QDQFHG�E\�GUDZLQJ�GRZQ�
Government savings and through domestic 
and foreign borrowing. In addition to existing 
legislation that puts a ceiling on Government 
GHEW��LW�ZDV�LQGLFDWHG�WKDW�IXWXUH�EXGJHW�GH¿FLWV�
would be limited to a maximum of 4 percent of 
GDP. 

 Revenue
2.7 Revenue for 2016/17, including grants, is pro-

jected to be P48.4 billion, which is 6.5 percent 
lower than the revised budget for 2015/16 
�7DEOH������DQG�UHÀHFWV�WKH�XQFHUWDLQ�HFRQRPLF�
outlook. In this regard, mineral receipts will fall 
by 6.9 percent from P18.3 billion in 2015/16 
to P17 billion in 2016/17, but will remain the 
largest source of revenue, representing 35.2 
percent of the total. Receipts from SACU are 
also forecast to decrease from P15.5 billion 
to P11.8 billion, equivalent to 24.3 percent of 

total revenue. The substantial reduction in the 
two major sources of government revenue, 
which together account for 59.5 percent of the 
total, highlights the need to further diversify 
the revenue base. Non-mineral income tax is 
projected to increase by 9.8 percent to P10.3 
billion, thus accounting for 21.2 percent of 
budgeted revenue; VAT collections are also 
expected to grow by 10.1 percent to P6 billion 
������SHUFHQW�RI�WRWDO�UHYHQXH��LQ����������

 Expenditure
2.8 Total expenditure and net lending for 2016/17 

is budgeted at P54.4 billion, which is a decrease 
of 2.7 percent from P56 billion in the revised 
HVWLPDWHV� IRU� �������� �7DEOH� ������5HFXUUHQW�
expenditure is projected to decline by 4.8 per-
cent, from P41.7 billion to P39.7 billion, and 
account for 72.9 percent of total spending. In 
contrast, development spending is expected to 
grow by 3.5 percent from a revised P14.3 bil-
lion in 2015/16 to P14.8 billion in 2016/17.

2.9 The bulk of recurrent spending, P18.1 billion 
������ SHUFHQW��� LV� RQ� SHUVRQDO� HPROXPHQWV��
which includes wages and salaries as well as 
pensions and gratuities. The balance is account-
ed for by grants and subventions to parastatals 

TABLE 1.2: GOVERNMENT BUDGET 2014/15 – 2016/17 (P MILLION)

 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

 Budget Revised Final Budget Revised Budget

Revenue 50 183 51 544 55 904 55 382 51 764 48 398
 

    Mineral Revenue 15 241 17 243 21 532 20 144 18 299 17 033

Non-Mineral Revenue 34 942 34 301 34 372 35 238 33 465 31 365
  

Expenditure 48 857 51 263 50 564 54 153 55 961 54 445
  

Recurrent Expenditure 36 693 37 861 37 583 41 296 41 719 39 699

Personal Emoluments 15 749 16 377 16 589 16 057 16 072 18 107

Grants & Subventions 9 809 9 930 10 597 10 864 10 969 10 986

Public Debt Interest 907 907 702 1 079 1 079 736

Other Charges 10 228 10 647 9 696 13 296 13 600 9 871

Development Expenditure 12 240 13 478 13 072 12 933 14 318 14 821

Net Lending -76 -76 -91 -76 -76 -76
    

Balance 1 326 281 5 340 1 229 -4 197 -6 046

Source: Ministry of Finance and Development Planning
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and local authorities which amount to P11 
ELOOLRQ�������SHUFHQW���³RWKHU�FKDUJHV´�DW�3����
ELOOLRQ� ������SHUFHQW��� DQG� LQWHUHVW� RQ�SXEOLF�
GHEW�DW�3����PLOOLRQ������SHUFHQW���%\�PLQLVWH-
rial allocation, Education has the largest share 
RI�WKH�UHFXUUHQW�EXGJHW�������SHUFHQW���+HDOWK��
Local Government and Rural Development, 
Defence, Justice and Security and Transport 
and Communication account for 14.5 percent, 
12.6 percent, 12.5 percent and 5.1 percent, 
respectively, of recurrent expenditure.

2.10 As indicated in the 2016 Budget Speech, 
the main focus of the development budget is 
towards enhancing national security, sustain-
ing ongoing major infrastructure projects and 
using ESP to fast-track completion of projects 
that had previously been postponed. Thus, 
3����ELOOLRQ�������SHUFHQW�RI�WKH�GHYHORSPHQW�
EXGJHW��ZDV�DOORFDWHG�WR�WKH�0LQLVWU\�RI�'H-
fence, Justice and Security, while P3.4 billion 
������ SHUFHQW��ZDV� DOORFDWHG� WR� WKH�0LQLVWU\�
of Minerals, Energy and Water Resources, 

and includes P1.7 billion for the Botswana 
3RZHU�&RUSRUDWLRQ� �%3&��19 The Ministry of 
Transport and Communications was allocated 
the third highest share of 9.5 percent or P1.4 
ELOOLRQ��PRVWO\� WR� ¿QDQFH� ,&7�� URDG� DQG� DLU�

19 This is to cover the costs of both the emergency power supply 
SURJUDPPH�DQG�H[SDQVLRQ�RI�UXUDO�HOHFWUL¿FDWLRQ�

transport infrastructure. The budget allocation 
to the Ministry of Local Government and Rural 
Development was 8.2 percent and amounts to 
P1.2 billion, the bulk of which is for the Ipel-
egeng and Destitute programmes, together with 
funding for village infrastructure and primary 
school construction projects.

 Debt Management
2.11 Government and government-guaranteed debt 

DV�DW�WKH�HQG�RI�WKH���������¿VFDO�\HDU�LV�SUR-
jected at P33.8 billion,20 of which P25.2 billion 
is Government’s own debt, while the balance is 
JRYHUQPHQW�JXDUDQWHHG�GHEW��7DEOH�������([-
ternal debt amounts to P25.1 billion. The P8.7 
billion of internal debt includes P8.1 billion of 
government securities, with the balance being 
of guarantees. Overall, total projected debt as 
at March 31 2015 is equivalent to 22 percent of 
forecast GDP, thus below the statutory ceiling 
of 40 percent of GDP.21

20 An increase of 2.1 percent compared to the balance outstanding 
DW�WKH�HQG�RI���������¿VFDO�\HDU�

21�0RVW�¿JXUHV�UHSRUWHG�IRU�*RYHUQPHQW�GHEW�DUH� WDNHQ�IURP�
Table VII of the Financial Statements, Tables and Estimates 
of the Consolidated and Development Funds Revenues. These 
may differ in some instances from those included in the Budget 
in Brief.

TABLE 1.3: GOVERNMENT BUDGET 2011/12 – 2016/17
Fiscal Years (FY) 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
*'3�FXUUHQW�SULFHV���3�0LOOLRQ��
1RPLQDO�*'3�*URZWK��3HUFHQW�

109 481
19.4

113 674
3.8

129 425
13.9

145 435
12.4

153 844
5.8

159 888
3.9

Budget Revised 
Budget

Budget

Revenue & Grants
Recurrent Expenditure
Development Expenditure
Net Lending
Expenditure & Net Lending
Balance
Share of GDP (percent)
Revenues & Grants
Recurrent Expenditure
Development Expenditure
Expenditure & Net Lending
Balance 

38 486
28 836
9 956
-124

38 667
-181

35.2
26.3
9.1

35.3
-0.2

41 658
32 106
8 280

351
40 736

922

36.6
28.2
7.3

35.8
0.8

48 951
33 220
8 909
-399

41 730
7 222

37.8
25.7
6.9

32.2
5.6

55 904
37 583
13 072

-91
50 564
5 340

38.4
25.8
9.0

34.8
3.7

51 764
41 719
14 318

-76
55 961
-4 197

33.6
27.1
9.3

36.4
-2.7

48 398
39 699
14 821

-76
54 445
-6 046

30.3
24.8
9.3

34.1
-3.8

Source: Ministry of Finance and Development Planning
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3. EXCHANGE RATES, BALANCE OF 
PAYMENTS AND INTERNATIONAL 
INVESTMENT POSITION

(a)  Exchange Rates
3.1 The exchange rate policy aims at supporting 

competitiveness of domestic industries in the 
international and domestic markets, thus con-
tributing to the national objectives of economic 
GLYHUVL¿FDWLRQ�DQG�HPSOR\PHQW�FUHDWLRQ��7KLV�
is achieved through maintaining a stable real 
HIIHFWLYH�H[FKDQJH�UDWH��5((5�22 of the Pula 
against a basket of currencies of major trading 
partner countries. In 2015, the weights of the 
currencies in the Pula basket were 50 percent 
each for the South African rand and the Inter-
national Monetary Fund’s Special Drawing 
5LJKWV� �6'5��� WKXV� UHÀHFWLQJ� WKH� FRXQWU\¶V�
trade patterns.

3.2 Consistent with the policy objective of main-
taining a stable REER of the Pula, the Bank 
implemented a zero rate of crawl of the NEER as 
WKH�SURMHFWHG�GRPHVWLF�LQÀDWLRQ�ZDV�FORVH�WR�WKH�
ORZHU�HQG�RI�WKH�PHGLXP�WHUP�LQÀDWLRQ�REMHF-
tive and similar to the trading partner countries’ 
IRUHFDVW� DYHUDJH� LQÀDWLRQ��&RQVHTXHQWO\�� WKH�
trade-weighted NEER of the Pula was stable 
in the twelve months to December 2015 and 
JLYHQ�WKH�VPDOO�GLIIHUHQFH�EHWZHHQ�LQÀDWLRQ�LQ�

22 The REER is a trade-weighted exchange rate of the Pula 
�DJDLQVW� D� IL[HG� EDVNHW� RI� FXUUHQFLHV�� DIWHU� DOORZLQJ� IRU�
UHODWLYH� LQÀDWLRQ��� ,W� LV� XVHG�DV� DQ� LQGLFDWRU�RI� WKH� UHODWLYH�
competitiveness of the country’s tradeable goods and services.

Botswana and in trading partner countries, the 
5((5�ZDV�VLPLODUO\�ODUJHO\�FRQVWDQW��PDUJLQDO�
����SHUFHQW�DSSUHFLDWLRQ��LQ�WKH�\HDU�WR�'HFHP-
ber 2015. Although the REER is a measure of 
competitiveness, it should be noted that stability 
RI�WKH�H[FKDQJH�UDWH�DORQH�LV�QRW�VXI¿FLHQW�WR�HQ-
sure the competitiveness of local producers. The 
attainment of durable improvement in competi-
tiveness of domestic producers is mainly through 
increased productivity, which also contributes to 
ORZHU�LQÀDWLRQ�

(b)  Balance of Payments
���� 7KH�EDODQFH�RI�SD\PHQWV�ZDV�LQ�RYHUDOO�GH¿FLW�

of P57 million in 2015, compared to a surplus of 
3�����ELOOLRQ�LQ�������&KDUW�����DQG�7DEOH�������
7KH�GH¿FLW�ZDV�DWWULEXWDEOH�WR�GHWHULRUDWLRQ�LQ�
the trade balance, as exports of rough diamonds 
slowed sharply in 2015.Current Account23

3.4 The current account surplus is estimated at 
P11.3 billion in 2015 compared to a revised 
P22.2 billion in 2014. The lower surplus is 
SULPDULO\�WKH�UHVXOW�RI�D�PHUFKDQGLVH�WUDGH�GH¿-
cit, arising mainly from the decline in mineral 
exports that was only partly offset by rising 
LQÀRZV�IURP�6$&8�DQG�QHW�VHUYLFH�UHFHLSWV�

 Merchandise Trade24

3.5 Trends in merchandise trade continue to be 

23 The current account comprises trade in goods and services, 
the income account and the net current transfers.

24 Note that the trade data used in preparing the balance of 

TABLE 1.4: GOVERNMENT DEBT AND GUARANTEES FOR 2014/15 – 2015/16 (P MILLION)
Debt & Liabilities as at March 31, 2015 External Internal Total
External Debt 17 981   
External Contingent Liabilities 7 160   
Internal Debt  7 466  
Internal Contingent Liabilities  520  
Total Debt & Contingent liabilities as at March 31, 2015 25 141 7 986 33 127
GDP for FY 2014/15   145 435
Debt as percentage of GDP 17.3 5.5 22.8
Total Debt & Contingent Liabilities anticipated March 31, 2016 25 070 8 731 33 801
GDP forecast for FY 2015/16   153 844
Debt as percentage of GDP 16.3 5.7 22.0
Source: Ministry of Finance and Development Planning



76

BANK OF BOTSWANA ANNUAL REPORT 2015

driven by the aggregation and sales functions 
of De Beers that relocated to Botswana in 2012, 

payments does not fully match the monthly trade statistics 
prepared by Statistics Botswana. For some exports, the trade 
statistics are supplemented by additional information collected 
directly from exporters.

thus establishing a substantial re-export trade 
for rough diamonds in the country.25 This also 
EHQH¿WHG�ORFDO�GLDPRQG�FXWWLQJ�DQG�SROLVKLQJ�
EXVLQHVVHV��7DEOH�������ZKLOH�WKH�GHFOLQH�RI�WKH�
United Kingdom as a major export destination26 
was matched by the growing importance of 
trade with other global diamond processing 
FHQWUHV�VXFK�DV�%HOJLXP��,QGLD�DQG�,VUDHO��7D-
EOH�������

3.6 However, in 2015 trade in rough and polished 
diamonds slowed due to decreased demand 
LQ�JOREDO�PDUNHWV��KHQFH�ORZHU�H[SRUWV���ERWK�
LQ� YDOXH� DQG�YROXPHV��� DV� D� UHVXOW�� GLDPRQG�
exports fell by 19.4 percent to P52.7 billion 
�7DEOH� ������7KH� GHFOLQH� LQ� H[SRUWV�ZDV� DJ-
gravated by lower sales of copper and nickel, 
which decreased by 15.4 percent to P3.7 billion; 
exports of gold also declined by 21.6 percent to 
P283 million. Overall, despite some growth in 
exports of beef, vehicles and other goods, total 
exports fell by 16.9 percent, with the result that 
WKH�PHUFKDQGLVH�WUDGH�GH¿FLW�ZDV�3����ELOOLRQ�
in 2015, compared to a surplus of P4.7 billion 
in 2014.

3.7 Imports for 2015 are estimated at P71.8 billion, 
which is an increase of 0.1 percent from the re-
YLVHG�3�����ELOOLRQ�LQ�������7DEOH��������,PSRUWV�
RI�GLDPRQGV��URXJK�DQG�SROLVKHG��GHFOLQHG�E\�
7.1 percent as a result of low global demand for 
their subsequent re-export. Fuel imports also 
IHOO�E\������SHUFHQW�DQG�EHQH¿WLQJ�IURP�ORZHU�
global oil prices, rather than a decline in volume. 
However, the overall decline in imports was 
moderated by growth in imports of food, ma-
chinery and electrical equipment and chemicals 
and rubber products by 11.7 percent, 11.5 percent 
and 8.3 percent, respectively.

25 In addition to Botswana, De Beers Global Sightholder 
6HUYLFHV� �'%*66�� SURFHVVHV� URXJK� GLDPRQGV� IURP�RWKHU�
countries where De Beers has mining operations: that is 
Canada, Namibia and South Africa. The aggregation and sales 
processes add value to the imported rough diamonds, which is 
UHÀHFWHG�LQ�WKH�WUDGH�EDODQFH��6RPH�DVSHFWV�RI�WKH�VWDWLVWLFDO�
WUHDWPHQW�RI�GLDPRQG�WUDGH�ÀRZV�FRQWLQXH�WR�EH�UHYLHZHG�DQG��
as such, may be subject to further revision.

26 De Beers’ aggregation and sales functions were previously 
carried out in the UK.

TABLE 1.5: PULA EXCHANGE RATES AGAINST SELECTED 
CURRENCIES

Nominal Exchange Rates (Foreign Currency per Pula)
As at end of

Currency
2014 2015 Change 

(Percent) 
SA rand
US dollar
British pound 
Japanese yen
SDR
Euro
NEER (index, Sept. 
2006 = 100)

1.2169
0.1051
0.0675
12.58

0.0726
0.0865

85.3

1.3830
0.0890
0.0600
10.72

0.0642
0.0814

85.4

13.6
-15.3
-11.1
-14.8
-11.6
-5.8
0.1

Real Pula Exchange Rate Indices1 (Sept. 2006 = 100)

Currency
2014

(December)
2015

(December)
Change 

(Percent) 
SA rand
US dollar
British pound 
Japanese yen
Euro
SDR
REER

109.7
103.3
115.8
117.8
109.3
106.1
106.8

122.2
89.5

105.9
103.2
105.9
96.3

107.2

11.4
-13.3
-8.5

-12.3
-3.1
-9.2
0.4

1.  All real indices calculated using headline 
LQÀDWLRQ�

Source: Bank of Botswana

Source: Bank of Botswana

CHART 1.7: QUARTERLY BALANCE OF PAYMENTS 2014 
- 2015

-6

-4

-2

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

P 
B

ill
io

n

2014 Quarterly 2015 Quarterly
2014 Cumulative 2015 Cumulative



77

CHAPTER 1: THE BOTSWANA ECONOMY IN 2015

 Services27

3.8 In 2015, the services account recorded a sur-
plus of P6.3 billion, compared to the revised 
surplus of P5.2 billion in the previous year 
�&KDUW�������7RWDO�H[SRUWV�RI�VHUYLFHV��DW�3�����
billion, were 4.6 percent higher than the pre-

27 Data on services should be interpreted with caution due to 
challenges relating to data collection.

vious year. Transportation and travel��PDLQO\�
WRXULVP�UHFHLSWV���LQFUHDVHG�E\������SHUFHQW�DQG�
9.5 percent respectively, while export of other 
services decreased by 12.1 percent.28 Imports 
of services declined by 8.4 percent to P6.4 
billion, due to lower imports of transportation 

28 Estimates for this category now incorporate additional 
information on tourist-related expenditures prepared by the 
Department of Tourism.

TABLE 1.6: BALANCE OF PAYMENTS 2011-2015 (P MILLION)

2011* 2012* 2013* 2014# 2015#

Current Account 3 250 -1 274 11 624 22 240 11 314

Of which:
Merchandise Trade -4 779 -16 713 -2 353 4 693 -8 264
Services 952 1 836 2 974 5 187 6 332
Income -768 331 -3 152 -3 102 -3 013
Net Current Transfers 7 846 13 272 14 156 15 463 16 260

Financial Account 7 008 1 523 -8 101 2 658 -8 590
Capital Account 3 - 1 - -
Net Errors and Omissions -6 831 - 1 112 -2 184 -13 494 -2 782
Overall Balance 3 430  -862  1 340 11 404 -57

* Revised
# Provisional
Source: Bank of Botswana

TABLE 1.7: DIAMOND TRADE 2015 (P MILLION)

Period

Exports

Imports
(5)

Net Re-Exports
(6) = ((2) – (1)) – (5)

Rough
Polished 
Exports

(3)

Total (Rough and 
Polished)

(4) = (2) + (3)

Botswana 
Exports

(1)

Total 
Exports

(2)

2013 28 469 48 693 6 674 55 367 24 507 -4 282

2014 35 512 57 952 7 375 65 327 25 980 -3 539

2015   Q1 9 483 15 271 1 192 16 463 6 619 -831

         Q2 8 361 15 360 1 258 16 618 7 920 -921

         Q3 6 767 8 486 1 123 9 609 6 013 -4 293

         Q4 1 198 9 094 871 9 965 3 593 4 303
Total 25 809 48 211 4 444 52 655 24 145 -1 743

1.  Botswana Exports: Refers to the value of rough diamonds mined in Botswana and sold abroad. These are 
LPSRUWDQW�IRU�EDODQFH�RI�SD\PHQWV�SXUSRVHV��DV�VXFK�H[SRUWV�DUH�DFFRPSDQLHG�E\�¿QDQFLDO�LQÀRZV�UHSRUWHG�LQ�
WKH�¿QDQFLDO�DFFRXQW�

2.  Total Exports: Represents the value of rough diamonds from Botswana, including re-exports. Subtracting 
Botswana diamonds from this total approximates the gross value of re-exports. However, this is subject to 
distortions due to time lags, which mean that the two sets of data are not fully comparable, especially over 
short time periods.

3.  Net Re-Exports of Rough Diamonds: This is important for balance of payments purposes and is approximated 
by subtracting the value of imports from the gross value of re-exports. It is subject to similar limitation as the 
gross measure.

Source: Bank of Botswana
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and travel �WUDYHO�DEURDG�E\�ORFDOV���ZKLFK�IHOO�
by 47.2 percent and 1.4 percent, respectively.

Income Account
���� 7KH�LQFRPH�DFFRXQW�UHJLVWHUHG�D�GH¿FLW�RI�3��

billion in 2015, which is slightly lower than 
WKH�UHYLVHG�GH¿FLW�RI�3����ELOOLRQ�LQ�������7KH�
credit side of this account comprises mainly 
earnings from foreign exchange reserves which 
increased by 13.3 percent to P1.9 billion. 
The debit component consists of dividends 
and retained earnings29 of foreign companies 

29 Retained earnings by foreign-owned businesses are treated 
DV�DQ�LPSXWHG�RXWÀRZ�RQ�WKH�LQFRPH�DFFRXQW��PDWFKHG�E\�DQ�
RIIVHWWLQJ�LQÀRZ�IRU�IRUHLJQ�GLUHFW�LQYHVWPHQW�

operating in Botswana and interest payments 
on external debt, which decreased from P4.8 
billion in 2014 to P4.7 billion in 2015.

Current Transfers
3.10 Net current transfers continue to rise, mainly 

due to both SACU receipts and private trans-
fers. These increased from a surplus of P15.5 
billion in 2014 to P16.3 billion in 2015, with net 
Government transfers growing by 3.5 percent 
to P15.8 billion. Net private transfers registered 
a surplus of P451 million, compared to P188 
million in 2014.

TABLE 1.8: TOTAL EXPORTS BY DESTINATION IN 2011 - 2015 (PERCENT) 1 
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

United Kingdom 62.4 60.4 31.0 0.9 0.9
Belgium 2.7 4.3 12.0 23.6 19.7
Namibia 0.5 1.9 11.7 9.8 11.0
United Arab Emirates 0.2 0.3 1.0 4.3 5.9
Israel 5.2 5.4 5.7 7.7 6.5
India 1.3 1.1 2.7 13.7 13.3
United States of America 1.1 1.2 1.3 2.7 2.6
South Africa 13.6 13.2 15.4 13.4 14.8
Canada 0.0 0.0 6.3 6.5 5.9
Norway 4.8 5.3 4.4 2.6 2.8
Other 13.0 12.2 12.9 17.4 19.3
Total 100 100 100 100 100

1.  Countries for which exports of diamonds are particularly important are highlighted.
Source: Bank of Botswana

TABLE 1.9: EXPORTS 2014 – 2015 (P MILLION) 
 Percent Percentage

2014 2015 2014 2015 Change

Total Exports 76 417 63 528  -16.9

of which:
Diamonds 65 327 52 656 85.5 82.9 -19.4
Copper-Nickel 4 392 3 716 5.7 5.8 -15.4
Beef 1 002 1 057 1.3 1.7 5.4
Soda Ash  862  924 1.1 1.5 7.3
Gold  361  283 0.5 0.4 -21.6
Textile  376  373 0.5 0.6 -0.7
Vehicles  600  701 0.8 1.1 16.8
Other Goods 3 497 3 819 4.6 6.0 9.2

Source: Bank of Botswana
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Capital and Financial Accounts
����� 7KH�FDSLWDO�DFFRXQW�UHFRUGV�WUDQVIHUV�RI�¿QDQ-

cial assets by migrants to and from Botswana 
and, as in previous years, such transfers were 
LQVLJQL¿FDQW�LQ������

����� 7KH�¿QDQFLDO� DFFRXQW��ZKLFK� LV�PDGH� XS� RI�
direct investment, portfolio investment and 

“other” investment,30�UHJLVWHUHG�D�QHW�RXWÀRZ�
of P8.6 billion in 2015 compared to the revised 
QHW�LQÀRZ�RI�3����ELOOLRQ�LQ������31�7KLV�UHÀHFWV�
increased holdings of offshore assets by pen-
sion funds and external deposits by commercial 
banks.

 Foreign Exchange Reserves
3.13 The foreign exchange reserves increased by 7.3 

percent from P79.1 billion in December 2014 
WR�3�����ELOOLRQ�LQ�'HFHPEHU�������&KDUW�������
This was equivalent to 18.3 months of import 
cover32 in December 2015, compared to 17.6 
months the previous year. The increase in 
UHVHUYHV� UHÀHFWV�PDUNHW� DQG� FXUUHQF\�YDOXD-
WLRQ�JDLQV�� GHVSLWH� QHW� RXWÀRZV� DULVLQJ� IURP�
WKH� RYHUDOO� EDODQFH� RI� SD\PHQWV� GH¿FLW��7KH�
currency valuation gains resulted from the 
depreciation of the Pula against currencies in 
which the reserves are held. In foreign currency 

30 Other investment comprises borrowing from and lending to 
IRUHLJQ�HQWLWLHV�QRW�FODVVL¿HG�DV�GLUHFW�LQYHVWPHQW�DQG�SRUWIROLR�
investment.

31 The 2015 position is based on preliminary estimates and is 
subject to revision following completion of the 2015 Balance 
of Payments Survey. 

32 The calculation of import cover excludes imports of rough 
diamonds, as these are mainly for re-export. 

-

-

CHART 1.8: BALANCE OF TRADE IN SERVICES (2010 - 
2015) 

Source: Bank of Botswana

TABLE 1.10: IMPORTS 2014 – 2015 (P MILLION)

Percent
Percentage 

Change2014 2015 2014 2015

Total Imports 71 724 71 792 0.1

of which:

Diamonds 25 980 24 145 36.2 33.6 -7.1

Fuel 10 894 9 103 15.2 12.7 -16.4

Food 6 286 7 020 8.8 9.8 11.7

Machinery & Electrical Equipment 8 251 9 196 11.5 12.8 11.5

Chemicals & Rubber Products 5 870 6 358 8.2 8.9 8.3

Metals & Metal Products 2 802 2 904 3.9 4.0 3.7

Textile & Footwear 2 047 2 171 2.9 3.0 6.1
Vehicles & Transport Equipment 5 616 5 313 7.8 7.4 -5.4

Other 3 980 5 583 5.5 7.8 40.3

Source: Bank of Botswana
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terms, the level of reserves declined by 9.3 
percent to USD7.5 billion and by 5.3 percent 
to SDR5.4 billion.

(c) Balance of Payments Outlook
3.14 Although a gradual recovery can be expected 

in the medium term, the downward pressure 
on the current account seen in the second half 
of 2015 is likely to continue in the short term. 
Volumes of rough diamond sales will continue 
to be constrained by weak global demand and 
further price reductions are also possible. At 
the same time, some slowdown in receipts from 
SACU is also anticipated, following several 
years of buoyant growth. Imports are expected 
to increase to support growth in other sectors 
of the economy, and may be boosted by gov-
ernment expenditure. InÀows on the ¿nancial 
account will, to a large extent, ¿nance private 
sector investment.

(d) International Investment Position 
(IIP) and Foreign Investment 

3.15 Detailed estimates for the IIP, which records 
the stock of foreign assets and liabilities, are 
only available up to 2014. For 2015, only pre-

liminary estimates for the major aggregate are 
available. 

(i) International Investment Position33

3.16 Preliminary estimates for 2015 indicate that 
Botswana’s net international investment was 
P67.4 billion, which was 21.8 percent higher 
than P55.3 billion in 2014. This was driven 
by an increase of 12.9 percent in foreign as-
sets from P133.7 billion in 2014 to P150.9 
billion; foreign liabilities rose by 6.7 percent 
from P78.3 billion to P83.6 billion in the same 
period. On the asset side, the stock of ‘direct 
investment’, ‘portfolio investment’, ‘other 
investment’ and ‘reserve assets’ increased by 
10.7 percent, 24.5 percent, 18.1 percent and 
7.3 percent, respectively. Reserve assets, which 
rose by 7.3 percent to P84.9 billion in 2015, 
continue to make a signi¿cant positive contri-
bution to the total stock of foreign assets. On the 
liabilities side, ‘direct investment’ increased by 
8.1 percent from P49.5 billion in 2014 to P53.5 
billion in 2015, ‘portfolio investment’ was un-
changed and ‘other investment’ increased by 
4.8 percent from P26 billion to P27.3 billion.

(ii) Investment in Botswana by Industry and Coun-
WU\�&ODVVL¿FDWLRQ�LQ�����

3.17 Tables 1.11 and 1.12 34 show the stock of Bot-
swana’s foreign liabilities at the end of 2014, 
classi¿ed by industry and country, respectively. 
The mining and ¿nance sectors have the larg-
est shares of foreign direct investment at 44.6 
percent and 35.7 percent, respectively. Africa 
is the major source of direct investment in 
Botswana accounting for 49.9 percent, of which 
investment from South Africa makes up 32.6 
percent, followed by Europe with 43.5 percent. 
The bulk of direct investment from Europe is 
from Luxembourg (with 27.9 percent) due to 
the residence status of the major mining inves-
tors in Botswana.

33 There have been revisions to the data to align it with balance 
of payments Àows.

34 These ¿gures are based on the 2014 Balance of Payments 
Survey conducted by the Bank of Botswana.

CHART 1.9:  LEVEL OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RESERVES

Source: Bank of Botswana
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����� ,Q�������JRYHUQPHQW�H[WHUQDO�GHEW��FODVVL¿HG�
under ‘public administration’ constituted 47 
percent of ‘other investment’ by foreigners. 
This was followed by electricity, gas and water 
�GRPLQDWHG� E\� GHEW�¿QDQFLQJ�� VRXUFHG� IURP�
&KLQD��IRU�WKH�0RUXSXOH�%�SRZHU�SODQW���DQG�
mining with respective shares of 19.6 and 19 
percent. By country, the largest share of ‘other 
investment’ was for the ‘other’ category with 
59 percent, which includes public borrowing 
from multilateral development partners, such 
DV�WKH�$IULFDQ�'HYHORSPHQW�%DQN��$I'%��DQG�

WKH�:RUOG�%DQN��IROORZHG�E\�$VLD�3DFL¿F�����
SHUFHQW��DQG�6RXWK�$IULFD������SHUFHQW���

4. MONEY AND CAPITAL MARKETS

(a) Monetary Policy
4.1 The primary objective of the Bank’s monetary 

policy is to achieve price stability, which is 
GH¿QHG�DV�D�VXVWDLQDEOH�OHYHO�RI�LQÀDWLRQ�WKDW�
is within the medium-term objective range of 
3 – 6 percent. The policy is also formulated 
with a view to safeguarding the stability of the 

TABLE 1:12: LEVELS OF FOREIGN INVESTMENT IN BOTSWANA BY COUNTRY 2014 (P MILLION)
Country Foreign Direct Investment Other Investment Total
North and Central America  277  686  963

   Of which
     United States  122  683  805
Europe 8 330 1 298 9 628

   Of which
     United Kingdom 1 679  248 1 927
     Netherlands  225  0  225
     Luxembourg 5 340  549 5 889
     Other Europe 1 085  500 1 586
$VLD�3DFL¿F  281 6 731 7 012
Africa 9 544 4 955 14 499

   Of which
     South Africa 6 232 2 307 8 539
Middle East  116  145  260
Other  583 19 907 36 351
Total 19 131 33 722 52 853

Source: Bank of Botswana

TABLE 1.11: LEVEL OF FOREIGN INVESTMENT IN BOTSWANA BY INDUSTRY 2014 (P MILLION)
Industry Direct Investment Other Investment Total
Mining 8 531 6 415 14 945
Manufacturing  466  277  743
Finance 6 832 2 266 9 098
Retail and wholesale 1 143 1 025 2 168
Electricity, gas and water  0 6 602 6 602
Real estate and business services  292  18  310
Transport, storage and communications  155  41  196
Construction  38  0  38
Hospitality  122  26  148
Public administration  0 15 861 15 861
Other 1 552 1 192 2 744
Total 19 131 33 722 52 853

Source: Bank of Botswana
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¿QDQFLDO�V\VWHP��$�ORZ�DQG�SUHGLFWDEOH�OHYHO�
RI�LQÀDWLRQ�DQG�D�FRQGXFLYH�¿QDQFLDO�HQYLURQ-
ment foster savings mobilisation, productive 
investment and international competitiveness 
of domestic producers which, in turn, contrib-
ute towards the broader national objective of 
sustainable economic development.

4.2 The monetary policy framework is based on 
a forecast, with a medium-term outlook that 
primarily guides the Bank’s response to pro-
MHFWHG�PRYHPHQWV� LQ� LQÀDWLRQ��ZKLOH� WDNLQJ�
account of prospects for economic growth and 
GHYHORSPHQWV�UHODWLQJ�WR�VWDELOLW\�RI�WKH�¿QDQ-
cial system. To this end, in assessing the policy 
stance, the Bank factors in projections of real 
monetary conditions35 in the context of other 
relevant domestic and international economic 
DQG�¿QDQFLDO�GHYHORSPHQWV��DQG�WKHLU�LPSDFW�
on the output gap36�DQG��XOWLPDWHO\�� LQÀDWLRQ��
The policy framework also recognises the im-
portance of communication with stakeholders 
LQ�RUGHU�WR�LQÀXHQFH�H[SHFWDWLRQV��$FFRUGLQJO\��
the Bank issues a press release after the meet-
ings of the Monetary Policy Committee to 
announce policy decisions and their rationale. 

(b) Interest Rates and Bank of Botswana 
&HUWL¿FDWHV

4.3 In 2015, monetary policy was conducted in 
an environment of slow growth in global eco-
nomic activity,� EHQLJQ� LQÀDWLRQDU\�SUHVVXUHV�
and lower commodity prices, particularly for 
oil. Below-trend domestic economic growth 
LQGLFDWHG�D�QRQ�LQÀDWLRQDU\�RXWSXW�JDS��ZKLFK�
alongside modest domestic demand and sub-

35�7KH� UHDO�PRQHWDU\� FRQGLWLRQV� LQGH[� �50&,��PHDVXUHV� WKH�
relative looseness or tightness of monetary conditions and 
gauges the likely effect that monetary policy has on the 
economy through changes in the exchange rate and interest 
rates. The real monetary conditions are measured by the RMCI 
that combines, through a weighted average, the deviations 
of the real exchange rate and real interest rate from their 
respective trend values.

36 The output gap refers to the difference between actual output 
DQG� ORQJ�WHUP� WUHQG� RXWSXW� �DV� DQ� LQGLFDWRU� RI� SURGXFWLYH�
FDSDFLW\���$�QHJDWLYH�RXWSXW�JDS�PHDQV� WKH�DFWXDO� OHYHO�RI�
output for a given period is below the trend level for that 
period, thus indicating the economy is operating below its 
estimated potential.

dued external price pressures contributed to 
WKH� SRVLWLYH� LQÀDWLRQ�RXWORRN� LQ� WKH�PHGLXP�
term. Thus, an accommodative monetary policy 
stance was adopted to support economic activ-
ity, with the Bank Rate reduced by a cumulative 
150 basis points from 7.5 percent to 6 percent 
in the course of the year. As a result, the prime 
lending rate of commercial banks decreased 
from 9 percent to 7.5 percent. The yield on the 
���GD\�%DQN�RI�%RWVZDQD�&HUWL¿FDWHV��%R%&V��
decreased from 3.07 percent in December 2014 
to 0.97 percent in December 2015, while the 
3-month BoBC yield declined from 3.19 per-
cent to 1.17 percent.37

4.4 The real 3-month BoBC yield decreased from 
������SHUFHQW� WR� ������SHUFHQW�� WKXV� UHÀHFWLQJ�
the bigger decrease in the nominal interest rate 
FRPSDUHG�WR�WKDW�RI�LQÀDWLRQ�EHWZHHQ�'HFHP-
ber 2014 and December 2015. The real 14-day 
BoBC rate decreased from -0.7 percent in De-
cember 2014 to -2.07 percent in December 2015.

4.5 Implementation of monetary policy entailed 
open market operations, with excess liquidity 
absorbed through the sale of BoBCs to achieve 
interest rates consistent with the policy stance. 
Temporary liquidity shortfalls experienced by 
individual banks at the beginning of the year 
�ZKLFK�� WR� VRPH�H[WHQW�� UHÀHFWHG� LQHI¿FLHQF\�
of the interbank market and volatility of bulky 
FRUSRUDWH�IXQG�PDQDJHU�GHSRVLWV��FRQWLQXHG�WR�
be addressed through recourse to the Bank’s 
credit facilities. In addition, the primary reserve 
UHTXLUHPHQW� �355�� IRU�3XOD�GHQRPLQDWHG�GH-
posits was reduced from 10 percent to 5 percent 
effective April 1, 2015; this adjustment of the 
PRR injected about P2.3 billion into the banking 
system. Given a higher level of excess liquidity, 
the value of outstanding BoBCs was P8.2 billion 
in December 2015, up from P4.2 billion in De-
FHPEHU�������&KDUW��������5HYHUVH�UHSXUFKDVH�
DJUHHPHQWV��UHYHUVH�UHSRV��ZHUH�XVHG�WR�PDQDJH�
intra-auction liquidity. In December 2015, the 
amount of excess liquidity absorbed through 
reverse repos was P1.7 billion, compared to P304 
million in December 2014.

37 The quoted yields for both the 14-day and 91-day maturities 
are a weighted average of winning bids’ yields at auction.
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(c) Banking System

Domestic Credit
4.6 Annual growth in commercial bank credit 

eased from 13.5 percent in 2014 to 7.1 percent 
in 2015 due to a decline in growth of lending 
to the business sector from 17.2 percent to -0.3 
percent. In contrast, growth in household credit 
increased from 10.7 percent to 12.8 percent in 
the same period (Chart 1.12). As at December 
2015, the share of household credit in total pri-
vate commercial bank credit was 59.4 percent 
compared to 56.4 percent in December 2014.

4.7 Annual growth in unsecured lending to house-
holds increased from 7.4 percent in 2014 to 15.5 
percent in 2015 while growth in mortgage lend-
ing declined from 18.4 percent to 7.2 percent. 
Developments with respect to household credit 
are in line with the slower growth in incomes 
and augur well for maintenance of ¿nancial 
stability. In particular, the moderation in mort-
gage credit growth against the background of 
the weaker property market reduces potential 
risks in this area. Thus, the prevailing low and 
stable default ratios for household borrowing38 
and suf¿cient provisioning by banks, alongside 

38 The aggregate ratio of non-performing loans to total credit was 
3.3 percent at the end of December 2015, but with a range of 
zero to 8.4 percent for individual banks.

capital, asset quality, liquidity and pro¿tability 
levels that meet prudential requirements for 
banks, underpin a stable financial system. 
Moreover, the favourable prospects for sus-
tained positive economic performance imply 
potential growth in incomes and demand to 
support a sound ¿nancial system.

4.8 Growth in commercial bank credit to house-
holds continues to be monitored for potential 
impact on demand and financial stability. 
Overall, banking system indicators, including 
low default ratios for household borrowing, 
point to a stable ¿nancial environment. House-
hold loans, at 59.4 percent share of credit as 
at the end of December 2015, continue to 
dominate commercial bank credit. The con-
centration of household credit in unsecured 
lending (65.8 percent) remains a concern, 
including the degree of productivity of such 
lending. However, the risk to ¿nancial stability 
is moderated by the extent to which such credit 
is diversi¿ed and potentially contributes to an 
increase in wealth.39 Furthermore, the bulk of 
household credit is to salaried individuals, 

39 There can be wealth gains if such borrowing is used to acquire, 
construct or improve property that subsequently increases in 
value.
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CHART 1.10: OUTSTANDING BANK OF BOTSWANA 
CERTIFICATES

Source: Bank of Botswana

CHART 1.11: REAL INTEREST RATES - INTERNATIONAL 
COMPARISONS

Note:  There was no auction for the 3-month BoBC 
in November 2011.

Source: Bank of Botswana
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which allows for proper credit evaluation 
using proven wage income as the basis for 
determining ability to pay. Where the risk 
of loss of employment is low and the loan is 
protected by credit life insurance, credit risk 
FDQ�EH�ORZ��%XVLQHVV�FUHGLW�LV�DOVR�GLYHUVL¿HG�
across economic sectors.

Monetary Aggregates
4.9 Annual growth in broad money supply in-

creased from 4.6 percent in December 2014 
to 19.9 percent in December 2015. The ac-
FHOHUDWHG�SDFH�RI�JURZWK�UHÀHFWHG�WKH�LPSDFW�
of the expansion in credit and the increase in 
net foreign assets, as well as the decline in 
government deposits at the Bank of Botswana. 
By component, currency outside depository 
corporations and other deposits grew annually 
by 0.3 percent and 24.8 percent, respectively, 
in December 2015. Meanwhile, transferable 
GHSRVLWV� �L�H��� FXUUHQW� DFFRXQWV�� JUHZ�E\�����
percent in the same period. The Pula value of 
GHSRVLWV�LQ�IRUHLJQ�FXUUHQF\�DFFRXQWV��)&$V��
increased by 16.4 percent in the twelve months 
to December 2015 and accounted for 15.5 per-
cent of total deposits at commercial banks. 

Bank of Botswana
4.10 Total assets and liabilities of the Bank of 

Botswana grew by 7.2 percent, from P79.7 
billion in December 2014 to P85.4 billion in 
December 2015. The expansion in the bal-
DQFH�VKHHW�LQ������UHÀHFWHG�WKH�LPSDFW�RI�WKH�
7.3 percent increase in the foreign exchange 
reserves. Shareholder’s funds, which largely 
comprise the Government’s share of the Pula 
Fund and Liquidity Portfolio, increased by 
3.4 percent from P63.8 billion to P66 billion. 
The Government investment account stood at 
P35.5 billion in December 2015, a decrease of 
4.7 percent from P37.3 billion in December 
2014. Commercial bank deposits at the Bank of 
%RWVZDQD��LQFOXGLQJ�SULPDU\�UHVHUYH�UHTXLUH-
PHQW�EDODQFHV��GHFOLQHG�IURP�3����ELOOLRQ�WR�
3��ELOOLRQ�� ODUJHO\� UHÀHFWLQJ� WKH� UHGXFWLRQ� LQ�
the reserve requirement ratio in April 2015. 
The value of outstanding BoBCs rose by 94.9 
percent in 2015 from P4.2 billion to P8.2 billion 
due to an increase in excess liquidity, which 
resulted from a reduction in primary reserve 
UHTXLUHPHQWV��LQWHQGHG�WR�DGGUHVV�WLJKW�OLTXLG-
LW\�HDUOLHU�LQ�������DQG�JURZWK�LQ�GHSRVLWV�DW�
commercial banks. Among others, the increase 
LQ�GHSRVLWV�ZDV�GXH�WR�D�VLJQL¿FDQW�SODFHPHQW�
E\�WKH�%RWVZDQD�3XEOLF�2I¿FHUV�3HQVLRQ�)XQG�
and expansion in government spending, includ-
ing lending to parastatals. 

Commercial Banks
4.11 Total banking sector assets amounted to P76.7 

billion in December 2015, an increase of 12.8 
percent from P68 billion in December 2014. 
This growth was attributable to an increase of 
6.5 percent in loans and advances from P44.1 
billion to P47 billion, along with growth of 91.9 
percent in BoBCs held by banks. Similarly, 
year-on-year to December 2015, domestic 
banks’ deposits held in foreign banks grew by 
26.8 percent, while “other assets” expanded by 
21.6 percent. On the liabilities side, deposits at 
commercial banks increased by 16.3 percent in 
the same period. A continuing feature of com-
mercial banks’ balance sheets is that funding 
is supported by wholesale business deposits 
������ SHUFHQW� RI� WRWDO� GHSRVLWV� LQ�'HFHPEHU�

CHART 1.12: YEAR-ON-YEAR COMMERCIAL BANK 
CREDIT GROWTH

Source: Bank of Botswana
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�������ZKLFK�VXVWDLQV�WKH�QHW�GHEWRU�SRVLWLRQ�
of households in relation to banks. The ratio 
of commercial bank assets to nominal GDP 
remained relatively stable at around 50 percent 
in both 2014 and 2015, while the credit to GDP 
ratio was 31.7 percent in the same period.

(d) Other Financial Institutions
4.12 The balance sheet of the Botswana Building 

6RFLHW\�JUHZ�E\������SHUFHQW� LQ������������
SHUFHQW�LQ�������IURP�3����ELOOLRQ�LQ�'HFHP-
ber 2014 to P4.3 billion in December 2015. 
Loans and advances increased by 7.2 percent, 
while the Society’s cash and deposits rose by 
164.6 percent in the same period. These were 
¿QDQFHG�E\�WKH�\HDU�RQ�\HDU�LQFUHDVH�RI������
percent in customer deposits. Meanwhile, 
capital and reserves contracted by 27.9 percent 
from P1.5 billion in December 2014 to P1.1 
billion in December 2015. Total assets and 
liabilities of the National Development Bank 
contracted by 21.2 percent from P1.9 billion 
in December 2014 to P1.5 billion in December 
������ UHÀHFWLQJ� WKH� GHFOLQH� RI� ����� SHUFHQW�
in lending in 2015 compared to the increase 
of 16.1 percent in the previous year.40 For 
Botswana Savings Bank, the balance sheet 
increased by 25.1 percent year-on-year to 
'HFHPEHU�����������SHUFHQW�LQ�������DV�OHQG-
LQJ�H[SDQGHG�E\������SHUFHQW�������SHUFHQW�LQ�
�������0RELOLVDWLRQ�RI�VDYLQJV�ZDV�DOVR�VXV-
tained, with deposits growing by 14.8 percent 
in 2015, higher than the growth of 10.8 percent 
in 2014. With respect to Botswana Develop-
ment Corporation, assets increased by 10.7 
percent to P2.3 billion in the twelve months 
to December 2015, from P2.1 billion in 2014; 
WKXV�UHÀHFWLQJ�JURZWK�RI������SHUFHQW�LQ�LQ-
vestments in related companies, which offset 
the decline in loans, advances and leasing.

4.13 The Domestic Companies Index of the Bot-
VZDQD�6WRFN�([FKDQJH��%6(��LQFUHDVHG�E\������
percent in 2015 to 10 602.3; this compares to 
the growth of 5.4 percent in 2014. Trading was 

40�7KH�FRQWUDFWLRQ�LQ�OHQGLQJ�UHÀHFWHG�DQ�LQFUHDVH�LQ�SURYLVLRQV�
for loan losses, which increased by 80.2 percent, from P211 
million in 2014 to P381 million in 2015, and indicating a 
deterioration in the quality of the bank’s loan book.

active, with 834.1 million shares valued at P3 
billion traded during the year, compared to 602 
million shares valued at P2.2 billion in 2014. 
The market capitalisation of domestic compa-
nies grew by 8.2 percent from P46.2 billion in 
December 2014 to P50 billion in December 
2015 due to the significant increase in the 
share prices of most of the listed companies in 
2015. However, the number of listed domestic 
companies in 2015 fell from 24 at the end of 
2014 to 22 in December 2015 as a result of 
the delisting of African Banking Corporation 
Holdings Limited and FSG Limited from the 
stock exchange. The Foreign Companies Index 
�)&,��GHFOLQHG�E\�����SHUFHQW�LQ�������HQGLQJ�
the year at 1 572.4, following a contraction of 
0.3 percent in 2014. Ten companies were listed 
on Foreign Companies board at the end of 2015, 
down from 12 in 2014. 

4.14 Pension funds’ assets increased by 21 percent, 
from P59.4 billion in December 2014 to P71.9 
ELOOLRQ� LQ� 6HSWHPEHU� ����� �&KDUW� �������%\�
class of asset holdings, domestic equities grew 
by 24.8 percent to P16.6 billion in the same pe-
riod, while offshore equities increased by 33.1 
percent to P35.8 billion. Meanwhile, the value 
of domestic bonds held by pension funds fell 

CHART 1.13: BOTSWANA PENSION FUND ASSETS 
(2010 - 2015)

Source: NBFIRA
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by 24.5 percent to P5.9 billion, while offshore 
bonds increased by 24.2 percent to P7.5 billion. 
The proportion of assets invested offshore by 
pension funds increased from 58.8 percent in 
December 2014 to 60.5 percent in September 
2015.

4.15 The Government remains supportive of capital 
market development through issuing securities 
under the P15 billion Bond Note Programme. In 
������VHYHUDO�ERQGV��RI�����\HDUV����\HDUV��DQG�
���\HDUV�PDWXULW\��ZHUH�UH�RSHQHG��ZKLOH�IRXU�
rollovers of the 6 months Treasury Bills were 
conducted. As at December 2015, the total par 
value of outstanding bonds and Treasury Bills 
ZDV�3����ELOOLRQ��WKH�VDPH�DV� LQ��������ZLWK�
24.3 percent and 75.4 percent held by primary 
GHDOHUV��EDQNV��DQG�WKHLU�FOLHQWV��UHVSHFWLYHO\��
The Bank of Botswana held the balance of P20 
PLOOLRQ� ����� SHUFHQW�� IRU� SRWHQWLDO� VHFRQGDU\�
market activity.

(e) Credit Rating
4.16 Both the international sovereign credit rating 

DJHQFLHV��0RRG\¶V�,QYHVWRUV�6HUYLFH��0RRG\¶V��
DQG�6WDQGDUG�	�3RRU¶V��6�	�3���PDLQWDLQHG�WKH�
investment grade sovereign credit ratings for 
%RWVZDQD�RI�$��DQG�$��$����VKRUW�ORQJ�WHUP���
respectively, and the stable outlook. The ratings 
DUH�VXSSRUWHG�E\�WKH�VWURQJ�H[WHUQDO�DQG�¿VFDO�
balance sheets, net external creditor position 
and low public debt. The agencies recognised 
the country’s continued political stability, pres-
ence of strong institutional frameworks, which 
resulted in prudent policy making. While the 
risk of a ratings downgrade remains low, there 
continues to be concern about the narrow 
economic base and relatively slow progress in 
HFRQRPLF�GLYHUVL¿FDWLRQ�
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1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Botswana economy has performed well 
by most economic and developmental criteria 
since independence in 1966. Annual growth 
averaged 6.4 percent in real terms between 1981 
and 2014, resulting in a near seven-fold expan-
sion of the economy, underpinned by sustained 
macroeconomic stability. In turn, this translated 
into higher living standards across the popula-
WLRQ��DV�LQGLFDWHG�E\�D�VLJQL¿FDQW�UHGXFWLRQ�LQ�WKH�
incidence of poverty, rising household incomes, 
improved provision of social services and public 
infrastructure. Moreover, prudent macroeco-
nomic management has meant that this record of 
strong economic growth has been accompanied 
E\�WKH�EXLOG�XS�RI�VLJQL¿FDQW�¿QDQFLDO�UHVHUYHV��
enabling the country to weather major economic 
shocks and make provision for future genera-
tions at the time when the diamond resource is 
depleted.

1.2 The major blight on this otherwise impressive 
track record is unemployment. The economy 
is still dominated by capital-intensive mining 
and job creation has not matched the pace of 
economic expansion and growth in the la-
bour force. Unemployment is estimated at 20 
percent of the active labour force, while for 
many, and although not technically counted 
as unemployed, employment is in the form of 
low income informal/subsistence and often 
part-time activities. Looking ahead, providing 
enough jobs will become more challenging in 
the context of modest rates of economic growth 
compared to the past. Like many countries in 
Africa, the increase in the number of younger, 
better-educated generations has the potential 
to become a “demographic dividend”; how-
ever, on current trends, this threatens to be a 
“demographic time bomb” if chronic youth 
unemployment is not addressed.

1.3 Unemployment imposes a variety of costs on 
society as a major cause of poverty, crime, ill-
health and social unrest. Conversely, reducing 
unemployment through creating sustainable job 
opportunities supports inclusive growth, rising 
living standards and social stability. As a result of 
persistent unemployment, poverty and inequality 
remain widespread at levels unacceptable for 
a country in Botswana’s position, with aspira-
tions to become a high-income economy. There 
is, therefore, a need to rethink the development 
VWUDWHJLHV�ZLWK�D�YLHZ�WR�VSUHDGLQJ�WKH�EHQH¿WV�
of economic growth widely.

1.4 Unemployment is the result of varied and 
complex sources. Slow progress in diversify-
ing Botswana’s economy potentially limits the 
availability of job opportunities, and this can be 
aggravated by lower rates of growth. However, 
persistent unemployment at such high levels that 
compare unfavourably with most comparator 
countries suggests that structural factors are also 
involved. Notably, skills gaps can result in low 
productivity, with a negative impact on business 
viability or even failure to take up available 
opportunities. Related to skills are also issues 
of motivation and readiness for employment or 
self-employment.

1.5 As fundamental to economic growth and diver-
VL¿FDWLRQ��LW�LV�QHFHVVDU\�WR�LGHQWLI\�WKH�UHOHYDQW�
indicators of productivity and competitiveness 
and how these relate to important facets of growth, 
innovation and access to markets that would sup-
SRUW�HFRQRPLF�GLYHUVL¿FDWLRQ��&RPSDULVRQ�RI�%RW-
swana with more successful countries with respect 
to competitiveness and productivity could provide 
lessons in terms of relevant policy interventions at 
the macro and micro levels. 

1.6 A country’s performance in global rankings of 
SURGXFWLYLW\�DQG�FRPSHWLWLYHQHVV�LV�D�UHÀHFWLRQ�
of government policies, effectiveness of institu-

CHAPTER 2

EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES, PRODUCTIVITY AND COMPETITIVENESS 
AS CONTRIBUTORS TO SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIC GROWTH: 

BOTSWANA’S CASE
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tions, the regulatory environment and capacity 
to implement projects and programmes. Over 
the years, Botswana has undertaken measures to 
address impediments in this regard, and progress 
has to be examined, taking into account instances 
where government intervention may have only 
a limited impact.

1.7 As critical inputs to production, infrastructure 
and effective delivery of utilities are also vital 
for productivity and competitiveness. Country 
comparisons in relation to access to, among 
others, electricity, water, transport, information 
and communications technology help ascertain 
if these are indeed a constraint. Apart from the 
direct provision of infrastructure and services 
by government and/or state-owned enterprises, 
there are issues of pricing, the role of the private 
sector and regional cooperation and integration 
that are also relevant.

1.8 There is a perennial argument in Botswana that 
the education system does not produce skills 
required for productive employment. Reasons 
IRU� WKLV� FRXOG� LQFOXGH�GH¿FLHQW�LQDSSURSULDWH�
curricula, weak instruction and lacklustre quality 
control and enforcement of standards. However, 
industry also has a role to play in preparing 
new entrants for the job market, and adopting 
management practices that encourage high 
productivity. An overview and assessment of 
the education system, supervisory environment, 
industrial relations and industry participation 
could thus illuminate the relevant issues.

���� 7R�DGGUHVV�WKHVH�LVVXHV��6HFWLRQ���ORRNV�¿UVW�DW�
the concepts of unemployment, productivity and 
competitiveness, including how they are meas-
ured in practice and highlighting interlinkages. 
This is followed by Section 3 which examines 
the long-term historical trends in unemployment 
and productivity in Botswana. The role of gov-
ernment in promoting employment, productivity 
and competitiveness is considered in the next 
WZR�VHFWLRQV��ORRNLQJ�¿UVW�DW�WKH�UROH�RI�SROLFLHV�
and institutions in Section 4 and then, in Section 
5, the provision of infrastructure and utilities. 
Finally, before concluding, Section 6 examines 
challenges arising from the labour market and 
skills development.

2. FUNDAMENTALS OF PRODUCTIV-
ITY AND COMPETITIVENESS, AND 
THEIR IMPACT ON UNEMPLOY-
MENT AND JOB CREATION

2.1 This Section outlines the basic analytical 
framework used in addressing unemployment, 
productivity and competitiveness. This includes 
GH¿QLWLRQV��PHDVXUHV� DQG� UHODWHG� LQGLFDWRUV��
and the key inter-relationships so as to shed 
light on the critical choices faced by policymak-
ers to achieve development that encompasses 
economic growth, rising living standards and 
full employment.

(a) Unemployment
���� 7KH�,QWHUQDWLRQDO�/DERXU�2UJDQLVDWLRQ��,/2��

GHILQHV� XQHPSOR\PHQW� �U�� DV�PHPEHUV� RI�
WKH� ODERXU� IRUFH� �LF��ZKR� DUH�ZLWKRXW� SDLG�
employment or self-employment, but who are 
willing, able, available and actively looking for 
such employment.1 Taking E as representing 
employed persons, u the unemployment rate 
and LFPR as the Labour Force Participation 
Rate or the proportion of economically active 
SHRSOH�RI�ZRUNLQJ�DJH��:���XQHPSOR\PHQW�LV�
GH¿QHG�DV�2

U = LFPR x W – E� � ���

 Equation 1 implies that unemployment may fall 
not only through job creation, but also due to a 
decline in the LFPR, including an increase in 
discouraged job seekers.

2.3 Figure 1 provides a schematic overview of 
this basic framework, from which measures of 
unemployment and labour force participation 
can also be calculated for sub-groups within 
the labour force, including by age, gender, level 
of education, profession, previous occupation 
and geographical location. However, there are 

1 Adopted by the Thirteenth International Conference of Labour 
6WDWLVWLFLDQV��*HQHYD��������

2 Equation 1 is derived from a combination of the following 
equations;

� X� �8�/)� ��/)�±�(��/)

� ZKHUH��/)� �(���8� � � �D�

� /)35� �/)�:� RU���/)� �/)35�[�:� �E�
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several conceptual, practical and measurement 
dif¿culties associated with these measures. As 
a result, measures of unemployment used in 
practice may vary considerably from country to 
country, or over time within any given country.

2.4 The major disagreement is over the criterion 
that people must be actively looking for work 
to count as being unemployed and, in par-
ticular, where the lack of job opportunities 
has discouraged them from looking for work. 
In effect, there are suggestions that excluding 
“discouraged workers” from of¿cial statistics 
may signi¿cantly understate the “true” level 
of unemployment. For this reason, some coun-
tries, including Botswana, have also produced 
alternative measures of unemployment where 
the working age population who are discour-
aged from seeking work are included. Also, in 
some countries, the distinction between being 
able to work and actively looking to do so has 
been dropped entirely.3

3 In more formal labour market settings, where job-search activities 
are mainly through a range of established channels, it may be 
relatively easy to identify those who are actively looking for 
work. However, in developing economies, the labour market is 
largely not organised and self-and/or informal employment are 
more prevalent. This may be more challenging to the extent that 
the ILO recognises that the distinction between those who are able 
and those who are willing to work can be dropped in practice. In 
such cases, the working age population and the labour force are 

2.5 Other key issues include the meaning of “work-
ing age”, being “without work”, “economically 
inactive” and “actively looking for work”:

(i) Working age: the standard de¿nition of 
the working age population (i.e., those 
who are potentially economically active) 
is those aged between 15 and 64, with 
most controversy surrounding the bottom 
end, due to concerns about child labour.4 
The choice of 15 is in line with the basic 
minimum working age in the relevant ILO 
convention.

(ii) Without work: the standard practice is to 
apply a strict meaning to unemployment as 
the complete absence of work, meaning that 
even minimal part-time work is counted as 
employment. This results in a further major 
criticism of of¿cial statistics for not taking 
proper account of underemployment. 

(iii) (FRQRPLFDOO\� LQDFWLYH: by de¿nition, the 
economically inactive population is the 
portion of the working age population 
which is neither employed nor actively 

treated as equivalent.

4 The upper limit of 64 is less contentious, in line with the 
standard retirement age in many countries; however, this 
could be subject to review given longer life expectancy and 
the resultant growth in those over 64 who remain economically 
active.

FIGURE 3: POPULATION AGED 15 YEARS AND ABOVE 

Source: Statistics Botswana, Population & Housing Census 2011

Population aged 15 years & above

Elderly, SickHouse WorkersEmployed Unemployed Students Other

Economically Active Economically Inactive
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seeking work and these include students, 
full-time homemakers or those engaged 
in various “non-economic” activities. 
:RUN� �SDLG� RU� RWKHUZLVH�� WKDW� PD\� EH�
more properly regarded as part of social 
ZHOIDUH� SURJUDPPHV� �IRU� H[DPSOH�� WKH�
Ipelegeng�SURJUDPPH�LQ�%RWVZDQD��FRXOG�
be included in this category.5

2.6 Regarding measurement of unemployment, 
two major data sources, namely, labour force 
surveys and management data are used, often 
in conjunction. Management data is sourced 
from the records of either employment bureaus 
or social welfare programmes related to unem-
ployment. However, this is often lacking for 
developing economies as they generally do not 
have the necessary formal labour market and 
related institutions.  On the other hand, surveys 
are infrequent because of resource intensity and 
costs involved.

2.7 Analytically, different types of unemployment 
KDYH�EHHQ�LGHQWL¿HG��VR�DV�WR�EUHDN�GRZQ�WRWDO�
unemployment by its major causes. These 
include:

�L�� frictional unemployment which, represents 
WKH� QDWXUDO� ³FKXUQ´� �LQFOXGLQJ� WKURXJK�
MRE�VHDUFK�DFWLYLWLHV��LQ�WKH�ODERXU�PDUNHW�
as workers move between jobs, and is 
indicative of a dynamic, developing 
economy; 

�LL�� cyclical unemployment arises when there 
LV�LQVXI¿FLHQW�GHPDQG�LQ�WKH�HFRQRP\�WR�
provide jobs for everyone who is willing 
to work;

�LLL��s t r u c t u r a l  u n e m p l o y m e n t  where 
unemployment remains chronically high 
in the face of economic growth, due either 
WR�WKH�JURZWK�QRW�JHQHUDWLQJ�VXI¿FLHQW�MRE�
opportunities, or unwillingness/inability 
of workers to take advantage of available 
opportunities; 

�LY��voluntary unemployment occurs in 
situations where jobs may be available, 

5 Production for own use, including subsistence agriculture, may 
also be treated as a non-economic activity. However, this is 
not the case in Botswana where such activities are regarded 
as employment.

but prevailing wages are below the level 
at which the unemployed are prepared to 
ZRUN��WKH�VR�FDOOHG�UHVHUYDWLRQ�ZDJH��

(b) Productivity6

2.8 The most basic measure of productivity is 
ODERXU� SURGXFWLYLW\� �PL��� WKDW� LV�� RXWSXW� �Y��
GLYLGHG�E\�WKH�WRWDO�LQSXW�RI�ODERXU��L���L�H��

PL = Y/L or Y = L x PL � ���

 Similar relationships can be used to calculate 
SURGXFWLYLW\�RI�RWKHU�LQSXWV��QRWDEO\�FDSLWDO��K��

2.9 This simple formulation demonstrates the fun-
damental point that an increase in output results 
from either more of an input or greater pro-
ductivity from that input. Thus fundamentally, 
productivity is higher if there is more output 
for the same level of input.7 Another implica-
tion is that there is a clear connection between 
labour productivity and living standards. If Y 
is the output of the whole economy and L is 
the total population8, then labour productiv-
ity is the equivalent of per capita income, a 
standard welfare indicator. Thus, a sustain-
able increase in living standards can only be 
achieved through improved labour productivity. 
From this economy-wide measure, it is also 
clear that unemployment undermines national 
productivity.9

2.10 Increased labour productivity results from one 
or more of four distinct sources. Most directly, 
the quality of labour can be improved, includ-
ing through skills acquisition and education 
�NQRZQ� DV� ³KXPDQ� FDSLWDO´� GHYHORSPHQW���
Labour productivity may also be boosted by 

6 Reference to the 2004 Annual Report, where the theme topic 
was “Improved Productivity – The Key to Sustained Growth 
and Higher Living Standards for All”.

�� ,Q� WKH�FRQWH[W�RI�HTXDWLRQ������ZRUNLQJ�KDUGHU� UHIHUV� WR�DQ�
increase in L rather than PL.

8 Or employed labour is a constant proportion of the total 
population.

9 The productivity of the unemployed is zero, imposing a 
deadweight loss on the output of the whole economy. High 
levels of dependency, which reduce the LFPR, may also have a 
similar effect. This has the important implication that increased 
employment, even through low-productivity jobs, will boost 
average productivity at the national level.
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more or better quality of other inputs. Most 
importantly, technological progress is funda-
mental to improved labour productivity and, 
hence, living standards. Furthermore, labour 
productivity can be enhanced by improving the 
HI¿FLHQF\�ZLWK�ZKLFK�SURGXFWLYH�LQSXWV�RSHU-
DWH� WRJHWKHU��NQRZQ�DV� WRWDO� �RU�PXOWL�� IDFWRU�
SURGXFWLYLW\��7)3���%R[�����SURYLGHV�D�GHWDLOHG�
discussion of the calculation and interpretation 
of TFP measures��

2.11 Several studies have sought to identify the main fac-
tors that contribute to higher productivity, and Table 
2.1 lists some that may be considered relevant for 
Botswana. It is particularly noteworthy the extent to 
which many of the potential drivers of productivity 
DUH�ODUJHO\�RXWVLGH�WKH�GLUHFW�LQÀXHQFH�RI�EXVLQHVV��
Indeed, of the eleven factors included in Table 2.1, 
only “management quality” is predominantly deter-
mined by internal business decisions, underscoring 
the importance of “external economies” in deter-
mining productivity. However, the responsibility 
IRU�UHDOLVLQJ�WKH�SRWHQWLDO�IRU�VXFK�HI¿FLHQFLHV�LQ�
practice lies with businesses.

(c) Competitiveness
2.12 Competitiveness is achieved when the cost 

of inputs used in production is aligned with 
WKHLU�SURGXFWLYLW\�VR�WKDW�WKH�¿QDO�SURGXFW�FDQ�
be produced in line with the price and quality 
SUHYDLOLQJ�LQ�WKH�PDUNHW�V��ZKHUH�WKH�SURGXFW�
is to be sold. In turn, such “correct” pricing 
of productive inputs requires that markets for 
WKHVH�LQSXWV�DUH�VXI¿FLHQWO\�ÀH[LEOH�LQ�WHUPV�RI�
both pricing mechanisms and allowing supply 

of the input to respond to price signals. The 
labour market, where various restrictions that 
OLPLW�ÀH[LELOLW\� DUH� RIWHQ� HQFRXQWHUHG�� QHHGV�
to be examined critically in this respect, and 
these issues are considered in more detail in the 
FRQWH[W�RI�%RWVZDQD�LQ�6HFWLRQ����%XW�LQÀH[-
ibility may also be present in the market for 
other inputs, such as land, where controls on 
pricing, and/or supply or use are common; or 
restrictions on access to imported inputs, which 
may be critical for competiveness, especially 
when producing for export. 

BOX 2.1: CALCULATING AND INTERPRETING MEASURES OF TOTAL FACTOR PRODUCTIVITY

Measures of TFP are derived from a “growth accounting” framework based on the following standard equation 
relating output to inputs:

Y = ALĮKȕ�� RU�\� �D���ĮO���ȕN�  where lower case letters are natural logarithms

Expressing this “production function” in terms of growth rates data, Y, L, and K are then used to derive rates of 
change for a, which is the measure of productivity growth through which output growth differs from growth 
in physical inputs. In turn, once a robust series of values for a has been established, this can be compared with 
other indicators to identify possible explanations for changes in productivity. The simple model can also be 
extended to cover a wider range of factor inputs, with a common addition being to break down L into separate 
measures of skilled and unskilled labour. 

This is potentially a powerful measure of trends in productivity that addresses some of the limitations of single 
factor measures of productivity by more clearly identifying the sources of output growth. For this reason TFP 
has been widely used in economic analysis, including for Botswana where low, or even negative values for 
TFP growth have supported the assertion that productivity growth in the country has declined to very low 
OHYHOV��VHH�6HFWLRQ�����

1RQHWKHOHVV��LQGLFDWRUV�RI�7)3�DUH�GLI¿FXOW�WR�PHDVXUH�DQG�LQWHUSUHW�DQG��DV�VXFK��PXVW�EH�XVHG�ZLWK�FDXWLRQ��
In particular, a is not measured directly, but as a residual, with the effect that estimates will be vulnerable to 
any mis-measurement in the other data categories. This includes not only values of Y, L and K, all of which can 
EH�SUREOHPDWLF��EXW�DOVR�WKH�ZHLJKWV��Į�and�ȕ��DVVLJQHG�WR�LQSXWV�ZKLFK�DUH�W\SLFDOO\�GHULYHG�IURP�VLPSOLI\LQJ�
assumptions about the structure of the economy. Therefore, while measures of productivity based on TFP can 
EH�LQGLFDWLYH��LW�LV�LPSRUWDQW�WKDW�WKH�UHVXOWV�DUH�FRQ¿UPHG�WKURXJK�UHOHYDQW�VXSSRUWLQJ�DQDO\VLV�
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����� 0RUHRYHU��KROGLQJ�SULFHV�DUWL¿FLDOO\�ORZ�LQ�VXS-
port of competitiveness may not be effective as 
it can distort allocation in favour of unproductive 
activities, while also requiring subsidies that must 
EH�¿QDQFHG�E\�LQFUHDVHG�WD[DWLRQ�HOVHZKHUH��WKXV�

discouraging production in those areas. In terms 
RI�PHDVXUHPHQW��NH\�IDFWRUV�WKDW�KHOS�LQÀXHQFH�
competitiveness may be monitored directly. For 
instance, movement in wage rates, adjusted for 
changes in productivity, can be an indicator of 

TABLE 2.1: KEY FACTORS THAT INFLUENCE PRODUCTIVITY

Factor Responsibility Comment/Relevance to Botswana
Good governance 
and effective public 
administration

Government $UELWUDU\�DQG�LQHI¿FLHQW�DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ��LQFOXGLQJ�H[FHVVLYH�EXUHDXFUDF\��
is a major hindrance to boosting productivity, diverting resources from 
production to coping with administrative requirements.

Macroeconomic 
stability

Government 0DFURHFRQRPLF�LQVWDELOLW\��IRU�H[DPSOH��LQ�WKH�IRUP�RI�XQHYHQ�JURZWK�RU�
KLJK�DQG�YRODWLOH�LQÀDWLRQ��FDQ�MHRSDUGLVH�LQYHVWPHQW�E\�EXVLQHVVHV�WKDW�
are essential for productivity improvement.

Human capital 
development

Government, 
businesses and 
individuals

Including both general education and specialised skills relevant for po-
tential areas of employment, together with a capacity to learn new skills, 
including through on-the-job training. Health is also a key component of 
human capital.

Work ethic and 
incentives

Government, 
businesses and 
individuals

+XPDQ�FDSLWDO�GHYHORSPHQW�PD\�QRW�EH�VXI¿FLHQW�LI�ZRUNHUV�DUH�LQVXI¿-
FLHQWO\�PRWLYDWHG��&RQYHUVHO\��VLJQL¿FDQW�SURGXFWLYLW\�JDLQV�DUH�VWLOO�SRV-
sible where workers are motivated, even in the absence of major investments 
in human capital. There may be some external causes, but the problem 
may also be due to poor workplace environment, including incentives and 
OHDGHUVKLS��7KLV�KDV�EHHQ�UHJXODUO\�LGHQWL¿HG�DV�D�PDMRU�FKDOOHQJH�IDFLQJ�
businesses in Botswana.

Management quality Businesses 1RQH�RI�WKH�SURGXFWLYLW\�GULYHUV�FDQ�IXO¿OO�WKHLU�SRWHQWLDO�LQ�WKH�DEVHQFH�
of effective management.

Competitive markets Government Gaining an advantage over competitors is a major spur for productivity; 
conversely, insulating business from competition through “protectionist” 
SROLFLHV��LQFOXGLQJ�H[FHVVLYH�GHSHQGHQF\�RQ�JRYHUQPHQW�SDWURQDJH��FDQ�
undermine long-term competitiveness. Competitive markets also help en-
VXUH�WKDW�SURGXFWLRQ�LV�HI¿FLHQW�DQG�LQ�OLQH�ZLWK�FRQVXPHU�GHPDQG�

Economic openness Government (FRQRPLF�RSHQQHVV�HQFRXUDJHV�SURGXFWLYH�HI¿FLHQF\��LQFOXGLQJ�DV�SDUW�RI�
global value chains, and allows access to necessary resource inputs, skills, 
capital and technology. This is particularly relevant for small economies 
with limited domestic resource bases and small markets where competition 
may otherwise be limited.

Infrastructure 
provision 

Government and 
private providers 
of infrastructure/  
utilities

Effective transport and communications infrastructure, together with provi-
sion of core utilities are essential for all businesses. As a landlocked country, 
%RWVZDQD�LV�KHDYLO\�GHSHQGHQW�RQ�HI¿FLHQW�WUDQVSRUW�DQG�FRPPXQLFDWLRQV��
and where utilities provision is relatively expensive and erratic, businesses 
face productivity and competitiveness challenges.

(I¿FLHQW�DQG�
LQFOXVLYH�¿QDQFLDO�
intermediation

Government 
DQG�¿QDQFLDO�
institutions

(I¿FLHQW� ¿QDQFLDO� LQWHUPHGLDWLRQ� HQVXUHV� WKDW� UHVRXUFHV� DYDLODEOH� IRU�
investment are directed to productive use and where they can earn the 
highest return. Financial inclusion also helps to maximise the range of 
economic opportunities and promote social cohesion. However, inclusion 
LV�QRW�VROHO\��RU�HYHQ�PDLQO\��LQGLFDWHG�E\�DFFHVV�WR�FUHGLW��ZKLOH�ULVNV�WR�
¿QDQFLDO�VWDELOLW\�PXVW�EH�JXDUGHG�DJDLQVW���

Innovation and 
use of appropriate 
technologies

Government and 
businesses

Businesses face the challenge of identifying, adapting and, where ap-
propriate, developing relevant technologies. More basic Research and 
'HYHORSPHQW��5	'��LV�D�SXEOLF�JRRG�IRU�ZKLFK�JRYHUQPHQWV�KDYH�VRPH�
UHVSRQVLELOLW\��LQFOXGLQJ�QRW�RQO\�FXWWLQJ�HGJH�UHVHDUFK��EXW�DOVR��RI�SDU-
WLFXODU�LPSRUWDQFH�IRU�GHYHORSLQJ�HFRQRPLHV��VXSSRUWLQJ�WKH�DGRSWLRQ�RI�
relevant technologies developed elsewhere.

Urbanisation Government Cities have been shown to have higher levels of productivity compared to 
smaller population settlements. However, this can be undermined by con-
VWUDLQWV�RQ�HI¿FLHQW�XUEDQLVDWLRQ�DULVLQJ��LQ�SDUWLFXODU��IURP�ODQG�DOORFDWLRQ�
and transportation networks.
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whether a business, a region or a country is be-
coming more or less competitive.

2.14 Similarly, a critical factor that may impact on 
the competitiveness of domestic businesses 
vis-á-vis competitors in other countries is the 
exchange rate. For this reason, even if it is not 
targeted for policy purposes, movements in 
WKH�UHDO�H[FKDQJH�UDWH��L�H���QRPLQDO�H[FKDQJH�
rate movements adjusted for changes in the 
UHOHYDQW�SULFH�LQGLFHV��DUH�ZLGHO\�DFFHSWHG�DV�D�
key indicator of national competiveness.10 Real 
exchange rate appreciation typically signals 
some loss of competitiveness.

Global Competitiveness Index (GCI) and the 
Ease of Doing Business (EDB)

2.15 A second approach to measurement is to use 
proximate indicators: i.e., examining the preva-
lence of conditions that typically promote or 
hinder competitiveness. This is the basis for 
the various rankings of countries11 according 

10 Measurement of real exchange rates in practice is now more 
complicated due to the increasing prevalence of production 
that is part of global value chains. This is a challenge for 
exchange rate measures that have assumed that production 
predominantly takes place in a single country; this is the 
subject of the growing research literature on “value added 
exchange rates”.

11 The same approach can be applied to ranking areas within 
countries or by economic sector rather than for the whole 
economy.

WR�WKHLU�FRPSHWLYHQHVV��WKH�WZR�PRVW�LQÀXHQ-
tial of which are the GCI and the EDB survey 
conducted by the World Economic Forum and 
the World Bank, respectively.12

2.16 The GCI focuses on a range of indicators 
broadly in line with the productivity driv-
ers listed in Table 2.1, grouped under three 
EURDG�FDWHJRULHV��7KHVH�DUH�EULHÀ\�GHVFULEHG�
LQ�%R[������7KH�('%�ORRNV�PRUH�VSHFL¿FDOO\�
DW� WKH� LPSDFW� RI� EXUHDXFUDWLF� LQHI¿FLHQFLHV�
on business costs, thus providing a guide for 
a reform agenda for policymakers in terms of 
streamlining bureaucracy.13 

2.17 Table 2.2 shows the most recent rankings by 
WKHVH�WZR�PHDVXUHV�IRU���D��WKH�WRS�WHQ�JOREDOO\��
�E��WKH�WRS�¿YH�IRU�6XE�6DKDUDQ�$IULFD��66$���
DQG��F��¿YH�RWKHU�XSSHU�PLGGOH�LQFRPH�FRXQ-
WULHV��80,&V��IURP�RXWVLGH�$IULFD�ZLWK�ZKLFK�
Botswana is sometimes compared. Previous 
rankings from 2009/10 are also shown for these 

12 Other widely-used similar measures include the Corruption 
Perceptions Index and the Index of Economic Freedom 
prepared by Transparency International and the Heritage 
Foundation, respectively.

13 The EDB measure does not suggest that all regulation is bad; 
indeed, some regulation is essential for the smooth functioning 
of a modern economy. But, at the same time, regulation that is 
poorly designed or badly implemented can be a cumbersome 
impediment for business.

BOX 2.2: COMPILATION OF THE GLOBAL COMPETITIVENESS INDEX

Indicators in the GCI are divided into 12 “pillars” under three broad categories as follows:

�D�� %DVLF� UHTXLUHPHQWV: institutions, infrastructure, macroeconomic environment and health and primary 
education.

�E�� (I¿FLHQF\� HQKDQFHUV�� LQFOXGHV� KLJKHU� HGXFDWLRQ� DQG� WUDLQLQJ�� JRRGV�PDUNHW� HI¿FLHQF\�� ODERXU�PDUNHW�
HI¿FLHQF\��¿QDQFLDO�PDUNHW�GHYHORSPHQW��WHFKQRORJLFDO�UHDGLQHVV�DQG�PDUNHW�VL]H�

�F�� Innovation and sophistication factors: business sophistication and innovation.

The level of countries’ development is also taken into account to determine the weighting accorded to the three 
PDLQ�FDWHJRULHV��$�FRXQWU\�FDQ�EH���L��IDFWRU�GULYHQ���LL��HI¿FLHQF\�GULYHQ���LLL��LQQRYDWLRQ�GULYHQ��RU��LY��LQ�WUDQVLWLRQ�
EHWZHHQ��L��DQG��LL��RU��LL��DQG��LLL���%RWVZDQD�LV�FXUUHQWO\�UDQNHG�DV�EHLQJ�LQ�WUDQVLWLRQ�EHWZHHQ�IDFWRU�DQG�HI¿FLHQF\�
GULYHQ��LQGLFDWLQJ�WKDW�LWV�SULRULWLHV�VKRXOG�EH�GHYHORSLQJ�HI¿FLHQW�PDUNHWV�DQG�KXPDQ�FDSLWDO��ZLWK�UHODWLYHO\�OHVV�
attention to productivity drivers based on innovation and procuring advanced technologies.
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same countries to indicate the extent to which 
their performance has changed. At the global 
level, there is some degree of overlap, with six 
FRXQWULHV��KLJKOLJKWHG�LQ�EROG��FODVVHG�DV�WRS�
performers in both the GCI and EDB; however, 
WKHUH�LV�DOVR�FRQVLGHUDEOH�GLYHUVLW\��FRQ¿UPLQJ�
that the extent of business regulation is only 
one dimension of competitiveness. For Africa, 
the degree of overlap is even greater, possibly 
indicating the more extensive role played by 
government in these economies. This is also 
the case in the leading UMICs, where con-
certed commitment to improving the business 
environment has paid dividends in terms of 
LPSURYHG� FRPSHWLWLYHQHVV� �WKH� SHUIRUPDQFH�
of Macedonia is particularly impressive in this 
UHVSHFW���)RU�$IULFD��WKLV�LV�DOVR�DSSDUHQW�LQ�WKH�

case of both Mauritius and Rwanda, while rank-
ings have generally deteriorated in the cases 
of South Africa and Botswana, although both 
countries retain relatively high position within 
both indices. Overall, Botswana has performed 
best in terms of the basic requirements includ-
ing institutional strength and macroeconomic 
management, but less favourably in relation to 
WKH�YDULRXV�HI¿FLHQF\�HQKDQFHUV�

2.18 In interpreting these indicators, it is also impor-
tant to appreciate that both the GCI and EDB 
are relative measures, meaning that merely 
maintaining existing levels of competitiveness 
ZLOO�QRW�EH�VXI¿FLHQW�LI�RWKHU�FRXQWULHV�DUH�WDNLQJ�
measures to improve theirs.14 Thus to improve 
their competitive positions, countries need not 
only enhance their business environments, but 
must do so more effectively than their peers.

 Other Indices and Rankings
2.19 Chart 2.1 shows Africa’s most attractive invest-

ment destinations, compiled by South Africa’s 
5DQG�0HUFKDQW�%DQN��50%���%RWVZDQD¶V�UDQN-
ing of twelfth and thirteenth in 2014 and 2015, 
respectively, out of 53 is modest at best and is, 
according to the survey, a result of deteriora-
WLRQ�LQ�WKH�RSHUDWLQJ�HQYLURQPHQW��TXDOLW\�RI�
RYHUDOO�LQIUDVWUXFWXUH�DQG�EXVLQHVV�UHJXODWLRQV���
The attractiveness of Botswana improves to 
tenth position when membership to a regional 
economic group15�LV�WDNHQ�LQWR�DFFRXQW��7DEOH�
������/LNHZLVH��ZKHQ� WKH�GRPHVWLF�RSHUDWLQJ�
environment is considered, Botswana’s ranking 
gets better. This suggests that, for Botswana, 
membership to a regional grouping is prefer-
able to a stand-alone position. This is important 
since the commitment to regional integration 
�WKXV� LQFUHDVLQJ�HIIHFWLYH�PDUNHW� VL]H�� DQG�D�
conducive business environment are primarily 
a result of policy decisions.

14 For example, Doing Business data for the past 12 years shows 
that between 2003 and 2015, the global average for the time 
taken to start a new business had more than halved from 53 
days to 20 days. 

15 The methodology determines whether membership of 
a regional economic grouping improves a country’s 
attractiveness.

TABLE 2.2: GLOBAL COMPETITIVENESS RANKINGS,a, b 
2010 AND 2015

Global
Global Competitiveness 
Index

Ease of Doing 
Business

1. 6ZLW]HUODQG���� Singapore (1)
2. Singapore (3) 1HZ�=HDODQG����
3. United States (2) 'HQPDUN����
4. *HUPDQ\���� 6RXWK�.RUHD�����
5. 1HWKHUODQGV����� Hong Kong (3)
6. -DSDQ���� United Kingdom (5)
7. Hong Kong (11) United States (4)
8. Finland (6) Sweden (18)
9. Sweden (4) 1RUZD\�����
10. United Kingdom (13) Finland (16)
Sub-Saharan Africa
46. Mauritius (57) 32. Mauritius (17)
49. South Africa (45) 62. Rwanda (67)
58. Rwanda (80)c 72. Botswana (45)
71. Botswana (66) 73. South Africa (34)
85. 1DPLELD����� 97. =DPELD�����
Selected Other Upper Middle Income Countries 
12. 0DFHGRQLD����� 16. (VWRQLD�����
18. 0DOD\VLD����� 18. 0DOD\VLD�����
30. (VWRQLD����� 48. &KLOH�����
32. 7KDLODQG����� 49. 7KDLODQG�����
35. &KLOH����� 60. 0DFHGRQLD�����
Notes: 
a. Countries in both measures highlighted in 

bold
b. Rankings for 2009/10 in brackets 
c. The ranking in brackets for Rwanda is for 

2010/11 as the country was not included in 
the 2009/10 survey

Sources: World Economic Forum, World Bank
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TABLE 2.3: 2015/16 MOST ATTRACTIVE INVESTMENT 
DESTINATIONS (TAKING REGIONALISATION AND 
DOMESTIC OPERATING ENVIRONMENT INTO ACCOUNT)
Regionalisation Domestic Operating 

Environment
Rank Countrya Rank Countrya

1. 0DXULWLXV����� 1. 6RXWK�$IULFD����
2. 0RURFFR���� 2. 0RURFFR����
3. *KDQD���� 3. (J\SW����
4. 6RXWK�$IULFD���� 4. *KDQD����
5. =DPELD����� 5. 7XQLVLD����
6. .HQ\D����� 6. 0DXULWLXV�����
7. (J\SW���� 7. 5ZDQGD�����
8. 7XQLVLD���� 8. %RWVZDQD�����
9. 5ZDQGD����� 9. 1LJHULD����
10. %RWVZDQD����� 10. (WKLRSLD����

a  The numbers in parentheses show the 
country’s original ranking, i.e., prior to 
adjusting for regionalisation and domestic 
operating environment

Source: RMB, Where to Invest in Africa

2.22 A Composite Operating Environment Index 
FRPSLOHG�E\�WKH�50%��7DEOH������WKDW�FRP-
bines the independent global assessments 
from the WEF, World Bank, Transparency 
International and the Heritage Foundation 
shows Botswana as having the second 
best operating environment in Africa, after 
Mauritius, which is relevant for competitive-
ness and the potential to continue to attract 
investors.

Key Interlinkages and Challenges
2.21 Unemployment, productivity and competitive-

ness have thus far been considered mainly in 
isolation. However, it is important to recognise 
the key inter-linkages and, in turn, the resulting 
challenges that face economic policymakers.

2.22 Although competitiveness is closely related to 
productivity, they are distinct concepts. Impor-
tantly, productivity is neither a necessary nor 
VXI¿FLHQW�FRQGLWLRQ�IRU�FRPSHWLWLYHQHVV��,W� LV�
possible to have situations where low produc-
WLYLW\�LV�QRQHWKHOHVV�FRPSHWLWLYH��LI�LQSXW�SULFHV�
DUH�VXI¿FLHQWO\�ORZ��RU��FRQYHUVHO\��ZKHUH�KLJK�
productivity is nonetheless uncompetitive, 
because wages and other costs are too high. 
However, while it is possible for businesses or 
economies characterised by low productivity to 
remain competitive, it is not possible to remain 
as competitive while increasing remuneration 
to factors of production, unless productivity is 
also increasing. Thus, productivity is essential 
for prosperity.

2.23 The linkage between competitiveness and 
unemployment is not clear cut. Clearly, un-
FRPSHWLWLYH�ODERXU�ZLOO�QRW�EH�HPSOR\HG��RU��
LI�HPSOR\HG��ZLOO�QRW�UHPDLQ�VR�IRU�ORQJ���%XW��
to the extent that unemployment is due to weak 
DJJUHJDWH�GHPDQG��L�H���LW�LV�F\FOLFDO�RU�.H\QHV-
LDQ�LQ�QDWXUH���D�SUHVFULSWLRQ�EDVHG�RQ�ORZHU�UHDO�
wages in order to make labour more competi-
tive may not be effective. For this reason, it is 
very important to have a well-based view not 
just on the extent of unemployment, which is 
itself not a straightforward task, but also of the 
underlying causes.

2.24 The link between productivity and unemploy-

CHART 2.1: MOST ATTRACTIVE INVESTMENT 
DESTINATIONS IN AFRICA

Source: RMB, Where to Invest in Africa

TABLE 2.4: COMPOSITE OPERATING ENVIRONMENT 
INDEX - TOP FIVE AFRICAN COUNTRIES

Rank Country Score
1 Mauritius Good
2 Botswana Good
3 Rwanda Good
4 South Africa Moderately Good
5 Ghana Moderately Good

Source: RMB, Where to Invest in Africa
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ment is also problematic or, more precisely, the 
implications of that link. As already mentioned, 
increased labour productivity means that, by 
GH¿QLWLRQ��WKH�VDPH�DPRXQW�RI�RXWSXW�FDQ�EH�
produced with less labour; thus, if output is 
constant, unemployment will result from higher 
productivity. This underlies the concern that 
SROLFLHV�WR�LPSURYH�SURGXFWLYH�HI¿FLHQF\��VXFK�
as privatisation for example, may result in job 
losses. 

2.25 Overall, therefore, translating productivity and 
competitiveness into sustained growth and 
employment creation requires governments to 
effectively address the paradox that, in many 
instances, increased productivity will be labour 
VDYLQJ��7KLV� UHTXLUHV� FUHDWLQJ� D�ÀH[LEOH� DQG�
dynamic economic environment, where the 
natural redundancy arising from technological 
progress is more than offset by the emergence 
of new opportunities and not by an attempt by 
government to have a direct role in job creation. 
Here, key policy choices face many countries 
LQ�$IULFD��DQG�HOVHZKHUH��WR�DFKLHYH�D�³GHPR-
graphic dividend”, based on growth and rising 
living standards rather than a “demographic 
time bomb” in the form of prolonged and 
chronic youth unemployment.

3. UNEMPLOYMENT, PRODUCTIV-
ITY AND COMPETITIVENESS IN 
BOTSWANA

Historical Trends/Developments in 
Unemployment, Productivity and 
Competitiveness

3.1 Botswana has had a long-standing unemploy-
ment problem, even prior to independence, 
ZKLFK�ZDV�UHÀHFWHG� LQ�PLJUDQW� ODERXU�ZRUN-
ing outside the country, low-productivity and, 
hence, only low income employment oppor-
tunities, mainly in drought-prone agriculture. 
Large scale unemployment was apparent in the 
DEVHQFH�RI�VLJQL¿FDQW�IRUPDO�HFRQRPLF�DFWLYLW\��
apart from an emergent civil service. Subse-
TXHQWO\��KRZHYHU��WKH�SUR¿OH�RI�XQHPSOR\PHQW�
LQ�%RWVZDQD�KDV�FKDQJHG��UHÀHFWLQJ�WKH�WUDQVL-
tion from the low-income, mainly subsistence 

rural economy at the time of independence to a 
modern, upper middle-income economy, where 
the majority of the population resides in urban 
areas and the formal sector is the main source 
of employment. A key feature of this transition 
has been the increasing concentration of unem-
SOR\PHQW�LQ�FRKRUWV�ZLWK�KLJKHU�TXDOL¿FDWLRQV�
as access to post-primary and post-secondary 
levels of education rapidly expanded.16

Total and Working Age Population 
3.2 The population of Botswana has grown con-

tinuously since independence, albeit with a 
declining rate of growth observed in every 
Population and Housing Census since 1971 
�7DEOH�������,Q�WKH����\HDU�SHULRG�IURP�������
the population increased at an average annual 
UDWH�RI�����SHUFHQW��IURP���������LQ������WR���
��������LQ��������RI�ZKLFK������SHUFHQW�ZHUH�
male and 51.2 percent female.

TABLE 2.5: POPULATION AND WORKING AGE 
POPULATION GROWTH RATES, 1972 – 2011 (PERCENT) 

Period Total Population
Working Age 
Population

1971 – 1981 5.1 5.4
1981 – 1991 3.5 4.2
1991 – 2001 2.4 3.6
2001 – 2011 1.9 2.6

Source: Statistics Botswana

3.3 Alongside the overall increase in population, 
WKH�ZRUNLQJ� DJH� FRKRUW� �L�H��� WKRVH� DJHG�EH-
WZHHQ����DQG�����LQFUHDVHG�E\�DQ�DYHUDJH�RI�
3.4 percent per annum between 1971 and 2011; 
WKH�VOLJKWO\�IDVWHU�LQFUHDVH�UHÀHFWHG�PRUH�UDSLG�
growth among the younger age cohorts as a 
result of declining rates of infant and child 
mortality. However, growth in the working 
age population was weighed down by falling 
birth rates and the impact of the HIV/AIDS 
pandemic. It is also notable that the male work-

16 Thus, what emerged in the period following independence as a 
“Standard 7 Leaver Problem” has gradually evolved through, 
¿UVW�� MXQLRU� DQG� WKHQ� VHQLRU� VHFRQGDU\� HGXFDWLRQ� DV�PDMRU�
problem areas for unemployment. While this still remains 
broadly the case, the emerging concern is the increasing 
number of those with tertiary education who are unemployed.
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ing age population has grown more rapidly, 
UHÀHFWLQJ� UHGXFHG� QXPEHUV� RI�ZRUNLQJ� DJH�
males migrating out of the country in search of 
employment. Nonetheless, as of 2011, females 
VWLOO�DFFRXQWHG�IRU�WKH�PDMRULW\�������SHUFHQW��
of the working age population.

Labour Force, Unemployment and 
Formal Sector Employment

Labour Force Participation
3.4 Labour force participation has increased from 

���SHUFHQW�LQ������WR����SHUFHQW�LQ�������7DEOH�
������EXW�ZLWK�FRQWUDVWLQJ�WUHQGV�IRU�PDOHV��D�
GHFUHDVH� IURP����SHUFHQW� WR����SHUFHQW��DQG�
IHPDOHV� �DQ� LQFUHDVH� IURP���� SHUFHQW� WR� ���
SHUFHQW��� ,W� LV� QRWLFHDEOH�� KRZHYHU�� WKDW� WKH�
male LFPR continues to be higher than that 
for females. Overall, these changes can be 
attributed to a number of factors, including 
increased prospects for female participation in 
the labour force, and improved access to educa-
tion providing greater opportunities for people 

�PDLQO\�\RXQJHU��WR�GHOD\�WKHLU�HQWU\�LQWR�WKH�
labour force.

3.5 Botswana’s labour force participation rate is 
lower than that of its comparator countries in 
Africa, being only better than South Africa 
among the selected countries; this is generally 
WUXH�IRU�ERWK�WKH�PDOH�DQG�IHPDOH�/)35V��7DEOH�
������+RZHYHU��%RWVZDQD�LV�EHWWHU�WKDQ�0DXUL-
tius with respect to the female LFPR. Notably 
a number of African countries that fare better 
than Botswana have high female participation 
rates. At the same time, most of the comparator 
countries have experienced an increase in the 
female LFPRs while that of males has tended to 
decline, somewhat similar to that of Botswana. 
Considering developments in comparator coun-
tries, it would seem that there is scope for an 
increase in both the male and the female labour 
force participation rates in Botswana if growth 
in productive employment opportunities can be 
DFFHOHUDWHG�VXI¿FLHQWO\�

TABLE 2.6: LABOUR FORCE PARTICIPATION 1981 – 2011 (‘000)

Year
Economically Active (1) Total Working Age Population (2) LFPR (Percent)

(3) = (1)/(2)
Male Female Total Male Female Total Male Female Total

1981 188.3 127.2 315.5 258.1 311.7 569.8 73 41 55
1991 271.4 169.8 441.2 393.2 450.8 844.0 69 38 52
2001 330.4 259.4 589.8 567.1 622.6 1 189.7 58 42 50
2011 439.7 358.4 798.1 653.0 707.2 1 360.1 67 51 59

Source: Statistics Botswana

TABLE 2.7: LABOUR FORCE PARTICIPATION RATES (PERCENT)
Country Year Total Male Female
Botswana 2011 58.7 67.3 50.7
Ghana 2013 79.6 82.2 77.3
Lesotho 2013 65.2 74.0 57.3
Malawi 2013 74.7 75.1 74.3
Mauritius 2014 59.8 75.1 45.1
Namibia 2013 71.0 74.3 73.1
Rwanda 2012 73.6 75.6 71.7
South Africa 2014 53.3 60.8 46.4
Uganda 2013 85.9 88.2 83.8
Zambia 2012 74.4 79.7 69.3
Zimbabwe 2012 66.8 76.8 58.1

Source: International Labour Organisation, Statistics Botswana
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Employment: Formal Sector, Infor-
mal Sector and Agriculture

3.6 In the forty-year period from 1971, the number 
of persons employed in both the formal and 
LQIRUPDO� VHFWRUV� �LQFOXGLQJ� WKRVH�HQJDJHG� LQ�
SHULRGLF�SLHFH�ZRUN��JUHZ�DW�DQ�DYHUDJH�DQQXDO�
UDWH�RI�����SHUFHQW��7DEOH�������)RUPDO�VHFWRU�
employment grew at an average rate of 6 per-
cent per annum, while informal sector employ-
ment grew at an estimated rate of 6.2 percent. 
However, the population engaged in traditional 
agriculture is estimated to have decreased by an 
average annual rate of 2.1 percent in the same 
period.17 Thus, the overall growth in employ-
ment was 2.1 percent compared to growth of 
3.4 percent in the working age population in 
the same period.

3.7 Since 1981, the labour force has grown at an 
average annual rate of 3.1 percent, while the 
number of persons unemployed and actively 
looking for work has grown by 5.5 percent 
SHU�DQQXP��7KDW�GLIIHUHQFH�LV�UHÀHFWHG�LQ�WKH�
increase of the unemployment rate from 10.2 
percent to 19.9 percent in the 30-year period to 
2011. Estimates of unemployment since 1981 
from sources other than the population census-
es18 are also broadly consistent with this trend. 

17�7KH�GHFOLQH�LQ�HPSOR\PHQW�LQ�WUDGLWLRQDO�DJULFXOWXUH�UHÀHFWHG�
patterns of growth in the formal economy, together with 
trends in assistance by government for small scale farmers. 
Thus there was initially a sharp decline, which was, in part, 
reversed between 2001 and 2011.

18 The sources include dedicated Labour Force Surveys, together 
with other surveys which also asked questions regarding 
respondents’ employment status. Although these surveys 
provide valuable information on trends in unemployment, 

The most recent estimate for the national rate 
of unemployment is 20 percent in 2013,19 with 
rates of 17.8 percent and 2                percent for 
PDOHV�DQG�IHPDOHV��UHVSHFWLYHO\��VLQFH�UHFRUGV�
began, the unemployment rate for males has 
always been below that of females, averaging 
about 75 percent of the female unemployment 
UDWH��

3.8 In terms of both formal and informal sectors 
employment outside of traditional agriculture, 
growth over the period has been robust, av-
eraging 4.7 percent per annum for the former 
and 4.4 percent per annum for the latter, both 
greater than the 3.1 percent average annual rate 
of labour force growth. In large measure, the 
increase in unemployment can be attributed to 
the reduction in employment opportunities in 
traditional agriculture, where the number of 
persons engaged over the period from 1981 
declined from 143 805 to 98 182. 

3.9 As shown in Chart 2.2, as the national unem-
ployment rate has trended upward since 1981, 
the unemployment rates for all age cohorts 
have risen, especially for the youth cohorts, 
age 15 - 19, 20 - 24 and 25 - 29. For those aged 
15 - 19, the unemployment rate rose from 20 
percent in 1981 to 51.8 percent in 2011, with an 
especially sharp rise in the decade to 2001. The 

the results are typically reported only after a considerable lag, 
with the result that up-to-date estimates are not available. This 
is detrimental to reasoned discussion and analysis of what 
is a highly topical issue and falls considerably short of best 
SUDFWLFH�IRU�ODERXU�PDUNHW�LQGLFDWRUV��DV�VHW�RXW�LQ�WKH�6SHFLDO�
'DWD�'LVVHPLQDWLRQ�6WDQGDUG��6''6��RI�WKH�,0)��

19 The 2013 Botswana AIDS Impact Survey.

TABLE 2.8: POPULATION ENGAGED IN FORMAL SECTOR, INFORMAL SECTOR AND TRADITIONAL AGRICULTURAL 
ACTIVITIES, 1971 – 2011 (‘000)

Year
Economically 

Active 

Employed

Traditional 
Agriculture

Other, of 
which: Formal Informal Unemployed

Unemployment 
(Percent )

1971 – 231.0 51.4 37.5 13.9 – –
1981 315.5 143.8 139.4 97.4 42.0 32.2 10.2
1991 441.2 67.6 312.3 228.9 83.4 61.3 13.9
2001 589.8 17.6 457.3 270.6 186.7 114.9 19.5
2011 798.1 98.2 541.0 388.0 153.0 159.0 19.9

Source: Statistics Botswana �3RSXODWLRQ�DQG�+RXVLQJ�&HQVXVHV�DQG�UHOHYDQW�VXUYH\V�IRU�IRUPDO�VHFWRU�HPSOR\PHQW�
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unemployment rate for the 20 - 24 year old age 
cohort also rose dramatically from 17.3 percent 
to 40.1 percent in the 30-year period (with the 
unemployment rate rising by 15.6 percentage 
points to 38 percent in the ten-year period to 
2001). Similarly, the unemployment rate for 
the 25 - 29 year old age cohort almost doubled 
from 10.4 percent in 1981 to 20.6 percent in 
2001 and rose further to 24.5 percent in 2011.

3.10 In contrast, the increase in unemployment was 
less pronounced for the older age groups with 
unemployment rates consistently lower than 
those for the youth, with a negative relation-
ship as one moved to higher age cohorts that 
tapered off to around 5 percent for the cohorts 
50 years of age or higher. This negative rela-
tionship between age and the unemployment 
rate is sometimes interpreted to mean that the 
unemployment problem dissipates with age 
and time. This may be true to a certain extent, 
especially in cases where expectations regard-
ing employment among young people that were 
initially set too high are set more realistically 
as they become older. But it can also mean that 
those who are unemployed on a long-term basis 
withdraw from the economically active popu-
lation, thus contributing to what is described 
as hidden unemployment. There may be some 
evidence of this latter effect to the extent that 

in the most recent census the LFPR for old age 
groups has declined from the higher levels seen 
previously.

3.11 In relation to other African countries, Bot-
swana’s unemployment rate (20 percent) in 
2013 (Table 2.9), is relatively high, although 
broadly comparable with some members of the 
Southern African Customs Union (SACU; i.e., 
Lesotho (24.4 percent), Namibia (29.7 percent) 
and South Africa (24.9 percent)). This has led 
to some speculation that the economic and 
social structure of SACU member countries 
may be particularly prone to unemployment, at 
least as captured in these statistics. In contrast, 
in other African countries, unemployment is 
signi¿cantly lower (typically in single digits), 
possibly reÀecting a greater capacity for agri-
culture and informal sector activity to absorb 
surplus labour. Outside Africa, unemployment 
in countries with which Botswana is often 
compared (in this case, Chile, Malaysia and 
Singapore) is signi¿cantly lower, at levels that 
would generally be considered as represent-
ing full employment. The considerations for 
Botswana in seeking to emulate these countries 
are considered in more detail in Section 6.

3.12 In terms of gender, Botswana is generally in 
line with most of the other countries reviewed, 

CHART 2.2: UNEMPLOYMENT RATE BY AGE COHORT 1981 - 2011

Source: Statistics Botswana
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all of which show, to a greater or lesser extent, 
higher levels of unemployment for women than 
men. The ratio of the male unemployment rate 
to the female rate for Botswana was 80 percent 
LQ�������7DEOH�������)DLUO\�VLPLODU�UDWLRV�RI�PDOH�
to female unemployment rates were found in 
6RXWKHUQ�$IULFDQ��/HVRWKR� ���� SHUFHQW�� DQG�
1DPLELD�����SHUFHQW���,Q�=DPELD��WKH�IHPDOH�
XQHPSOR\PHQW�UDWH������SHUFHQW��ZDV�DOPRVW�DW�
WKH�VDPH�OHYHO�DV�WKH�PDOH�UDWH������SHUFHQW���
The difference is more pronounced in Mauritius 
and Zimbabwe where the female unemploy-
ment rate was more than twice as large as the 
male unemployment rate. The much higher 
unemployment rates for females in Mauritius, 
in conjunction with the much lower female 
labour force participation rates, poses questions 
regarding the success of their development 
model and lessons that can be gained from it.

Migrants: Inward and Outward
3.13 Botswana has experienced two disparate trends 

with respect to migration. Historically, for 
many years prior to independence, substantial 
numbers of Batswana migrated to South Africa 
for work. At the time of the 1971 census, an 
HVWLPDWHG��������FLWL]HQV�RI�%RWVZDQD��DERXW�

��SHUFHQW�RI�WKH�SRSXODWLRQ��ZHUH�OLYLQJ�RXWVLGH�
WKH�FRXQWU\��7DEOH��������PDLQO\�LQ�6RXWK�$I-
rica.20 The number of Botswana citizens living 
abroad has steadily decreased in each subse-
quent census, to 23 032 in 2011. This partly 
UHÀHFWV�WKH�UHGXFHG�PLJUDWLRQ�WR�ZRUN�LQ�WKH�
South African mines, as well as the growth in 
employment opportunities in Botswana, partly 
offset by numbers of students and skilled work-
ers living outside Botswana.

3.14 In contrast, the number of non-citizens living 
in Botswana has increased steadily over the 
period since 1971 from 10 861 to 111 485 in 
2011, an average annual rate of increase of 6.8 
percent. There are both push and pull factors 
that can explain such growth. In the early years 
after independence, when only a small number 
of citizens had any post-secondary education 
and/or training, there was an acute shortage 
of skilled manpower. Even as the economy of 
Botswana develops, new economic activities 
emerge that involve advanced technology and 
manpower shortages can develop that can best 
be addressed through imported skills, while 
programmes are being designed to address the 

20 Even then, there was speculation that the census had seriously 
under-estimated that number by more than a third.

CHART 2.3: YOUTH UNEMPLOYMENT (PERCENT OF 
LABOUR FORCE AGED 15-24)

Source: World Bank

CHART 2.4: FEMALE UNEMPLOYMENT 
(PERCENT OF LABOUR FORCE)
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skills gap in the longer term. In this regard, 
the relevant expatriate manpower coming into 
Botswana can help to address impediments 
to development and should overall be in the 
FRXQWU\¶V�LQWHUHVW��LQ�SDUWLFXODU�WR�¿OO�WKH�VNLOOV�
gap and/or coming alongside foreign direct 
investment.

3.15 On the push side, other countries which do 
not perform well in generating employment 
opportunities may induce their population to 
move to better destinations; and this has cer-
tainly been the case for some of the migration 
to Botswana, especially from countries in the 
region. Depending upon how this is managed 

and the skills and resources such migrants 
bring, such migration can also be in Botswana’s 
best interest.

Gross Domestic Product, Labour 
Productivity and Elasticity of Em-
ployment

3.16 Between 1981 and 1991 real GDP increased 
at an average annual rate of 10.7 percent. All 
sectors of the economy, except agriculture, reg-
istered double-digit rates of economic growth, 
with especially high rates for transport and 
FRPPXQLFDWLRQV�������SHUFHQW���VRFLDO�DQG�SHU-
VRQDO�VHUYLFHV�����SHUFHQW��DQG�¿QDQFH��UHDO�HV-
WDWH�DQG�EXVLQHVV�VHUYLFHV�������SHUFHQW���*'3�
growth was lower in the subsequent inter-censal 
periods, with average annual growth rates of 4 
percent and 4.4 percent in the decades to 2001 
and 2011, respectively. However, relatively 
higher growth rates were recorded for manu-
facturing, trade, hotels and restaurants, trans-
SRUW�DQG�FRPPXQLFDWLRQV��¿QDQFH��UHDO�HVWDWH�
and business services and social and personal 
services. Overall, for the period 1981 to 2013, 

TABLE 2.9: UNEMPLOYMENT RATES

Unemployment Rate (Percent)
Ratio: Male to Female 

RateCountry Year Total Male Female

Botswana 2013 20.0 17.8 22.3 0.80
Africa

Ghana 2013 5.2 4.8 5.5 0.87

Lesotho 2013 24.4 22.1 27.2 0.81

Malawi 2013 6.4 6.1 6.7 0.91

Mauritius 2014 7.7 5.4 11.4 0.47

Namibia 2013 29.7 25.8 33.1 0.78

Rwanda 2012 3.4 2.8 4.0 0.70

South Africa 2014 24.9 23.1 27.0 0.86

Uganda 2013 1.9 1.4 2.4 0.58

Zambia 2012 7.9 7.8 7.9 0.99

Zimbabwe 2014 11.3 7.3 14.9 0.49
Other Comparator Countries
Chile 2013 5.9 5.3 6.9 0.77
Malaysia 2013 2.9 2.7 3.2 0.84
Singapore 2013 2.8 2.7 2.9 0.93
Source: International Labour Organisation, 2013 Botswana AIDS Impact Survey

TABLE 2.10: CITIZENS OUTSIDE BOTSWANA AND NON-
CITIZEN MIGRANTS TO BOTSWANA

Period
Citizen Out-

Migrants
Non-Citizen 

Residents
1971 45 735 10 861
1981 42 069 15 677
1991 38 606 29 557
2001 28 210 60 716
2011 23 032 111 485

Source: Statistics Botswana
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total GDP and non-mining GDP growth aver-
aged 6.3 percent and 7.4 percent, respectively.

3.17 Comparing formal sector employment21 with 
output provides a measure of labour productiv-
LW\��RXWSXW�SHU�ZRUNHU���7DEOH������VKRZV�DYHU-
age rates of labour productivity growth since 
1981, both for the economy as a whole and 
excluding the mining and general government 
sectors. Overall, the generally positive levels 
of labour productivity growth, especially since 
1991, were supportive of a steady increase in 
living standards for those in formal employ-
ment and, thus, supported competitiveness of 
producers in Botswana. 

3.18 However, this picture is more nuanced when 
viewed from the perspective of other indica-
tors, including the broader measure of TFP 
described in Section 2, as illustrated in Chart 
2.5 using data for 1991 to 2011. It shows that 
the continued growth in output per head has 
been due, in large part, to the expansion of the 
capital stock. Moreover, in this period, growth 
in total factor productivity was negative, sug-
gesting that the economy has been functioning 
LQFUHDVLQJO\�OHVV�HI¿FLHQWO\�

Elasticity of Employment
3.19 The data on formal sector employment and 

sectoral output also allows for investigation of 
the responsiveness of employment to changes 

21 This is largely appropriate given that the informal sector and 
subsistence agriculture makes only a very small contribution 
to measured GDP in Botswana.

in output; i.e., the elasticity of employment with 
respect to output, or how much employment 
changes when there is a change in output. It 
is measured by the percentage change in em-
ployment divided by the percentage change in 
output over any period. For example, over the 
period 1981 to 1991, total formal sector em-
ployment increased by 135 percent compared 
to cumulative output growth of 176.9 percent. 
Thus, for each one percent change in output 
WKHUH�ZDV�D������� �����������SHUFHQW�FKDQJH�
in employment or an employment elasticity of 
0.76. 

3.20 Similarly, for the period 1981 to 2013, the 

TABLE 2.11: PRODUCTIVITY GROWTH 1981 - 2011
Period Overall Excluding Mining 

and Government 
Comment

1981 – 1991 1.7 1.6 9HU\�UDSLG�JURZWK�LQ�ODERXU�SURGXFWLYLW\�LQ�PLQLQJ�������SHUFHQW�SHU�DQQXP��DV�
production increased sharply, offset by decreases in labour productivity in other 
VHFWRUV��LQFOXGLQJ�PDQXIDFWXULQJ�DV�WKH�VHFWRU�GLYHUVL¿HG�LQWR�PRUH�ODERXU�LQWHQVLYH�
activities where labour productivity was low compared to the established beef and 
beverages industries.

1991 – 2001 2.4 4.6 All sectors showed increased labour productivity, especially in mining and among 
the service sectors. 

2001 – 2011 2.1 4.9 Overall decline driven by mining where output fell while employment increased. 
Except for water and electricity, all other sectors recorded positive labour 
productivity growth. 

Source: Own calculations

Source: Ministry of Finance and Development 
Planning

CHART 2.5: TRENDS IN LABOUR PRODUCTIVITY, 
CAPITAL STOCK AND TOTAL PRODUCTIVITY GROWTH
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average estimated employment elasticity for 
the economy as a whole is 0.41. This can help 
provide some focus for addressing employment 
creation in Botswana. For example, with GDP 
growth forecasts in the range of 3 - 5 percent 
per annum in the next 20 years, on the basis of 
past trends, employment growth would be pro-
jected in the range of 1 - 2 percent per annum. 
This is probably not enough to keep pace with 
the expected growth in the labour force; and 
certainly not enough to make any major impact 
in the high double digit unemployment rates 
that Botswana has been registering, especially 
among the youth. Thus, a change in direction 
with respect to drivers of growth and related 
policies is warranted. This should focus on 
accelerating growth to levels at, or higher than, 
the upper end of the rates currently envisaged 
and/or promoting sectors with higher employ-
ment elasticity. A more explicit focus on pro-
moting labour-intensive employment should, 
however, be approached cautiously, given that 
this may tend to support growth based on low 
productivity, thus limiting scope for rising liv-
ing standards in the longer term.

3.21 Given non-mining growth since the early 1980s 
averaging in excess of 7 percent, it is hard 
to conclude that the shortfall in employment 
JURZWK� KDV� EHHQ� GXH� WR� JHQHUDOO\�GH¿FLHQW�
domestic demand. Thus other factors should 
not be ignored, perhaps especially as they 
might impact on the chronic problem of youth 
unemployment. In this regard, as explained in 
the previous Section, it is relevant to look at 
the prevalence of conditions that might foster 
structural and, in some instances, “voluntary” 
unemployment in the country. 

4. GOVERNMENT POLICIES AND 
INSTITUTIONS THAT INFLUENCE 
PRODUCTIVITY, COMPETITIVENESS 
AND EMPLOYMENT CREATION 

4.1 The ability to produce goods and services at 
costs that are commensurate with quality and 
SULFHV��UHODWLYH�SURGXFWLYLW\�DQG�FRPSHWLWLYH-
QHVV��SUHYDLOLQJ�LQ�WKH�WDUJHW�PDUNHWV�LV�SDUWLFX-
larly important for small, open economies such 

DV�%RWVZDQD��ZKLFK�DUH�UHODWLYHO\�XQGLYHUVL¿HG�
DQG� UHO\� RQ� WUDGH� �VSHFL¿FDOO\� H[SRUWV�� DQG�
RU�IRUHLJQ�GLUHFW�LQYHVWPHQW��)',��WR�SURYLGH�
the scale necessary to drive improvements in 
living standards. In this respect, government 
can impact on competitiveness through mac-
roeconomic policies and the microeconomic 
dimensions of regulation and administrative 
capacity. Critically, there is need for proper 
alignment of policies, institutional support and 
facilitation by Government to promote rather 
than undermine or disrupt business and other 
economic activity.

(a) Macroeconomic Policy 
���� 7KXV��¿VFDO��PRQHWDU\��H[FKDQJH�UDWH�DQG�WUDGH�

policies are relevant at the macroeconomic 
level. The 2015 Monetary Policy Statement 
DQG�RWKHUV�EHIRUH�KLJKOLJKW�WKH�EHQH¿WV�RI�WKH�
existing monetary policy framework: a low and 
SUHGLFWDEOH�OHYHO�RI�LQÀDWLRQ�DQG�D�FRQGXFLYH�
¿QDQFLDO�HQYLURQPHQW�WR�IRVWHU�VDYLQJV�PRELOL-
sation, productive investment and international 
competitiveness of domestic producers and, 
thus, contribute towards the broader national 
REMHFWLYH�RI�VXVWDLQDEOH�HFRQRPLF�GLYHUVL¿FD-
tion and development. In this respect, price 
VWDELOLW\�LV�GH¿QHG�DV�D�VXVWDLQDEOH�OHYHO�RI�LQ-
ÀDWLRQ�WKDW�LV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�PHGLXP�WHUP�REMHFWLYH�
range of 3 – 6 percent. The policy framework 
has been largely successful in moderating 
ERWK� WKH� OHYHO� DQG� H[SHFWDWLRQV� RI� LQÀDWLRQ��
Additionally, policy is formulated with a view 
to safeguarding the soundness and stability of 
WKH�¿QDQFLDO�V\VWHP��ZKLFK�LV�NH\�WR�HIIHFWLYH�
¿QDQFLDO� LQWHUPHGLDWLRQ� DQG� WKH� FRQGXFW� RI�
economic transactions. 

4.3 Similarly, the exchange rate policy, through the 
crawling band arrangement, supports the com-
petitiveness of domestic producers of tradeable 
goods and services in that any sustained differ-
HQWLDO�EHWZHHQ�LQÀDWLRQ�LQ�%RWVZDQD�DQG�WUDG-
LQJ�SDUWQHU�FRXQWULHV�LQÀDWLRQ�LV�FRUUHFWHG�E\�
the gradual adjustment of the nominal effective 
exchange rate, in order to maintain competi-
tiveness. To be aligned to the competitors, the 
3XOD�LV�SHJJHG�WR�D�EDVNHW�RI�FXUUHQFLHV��6'5�
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DQG�WKH�UDQG��ZLWK�ZHLJKWV�EDVHG�RQ�WKH�WUDGH�
pattern. The basket arrangement also helps to 
PRGHUDWH�ÀXFWXDWLRQV�RI�WKH�3XOD�DJDLQVW�DQ\�
individual trading partner currency. The policy 
SDUDPHWHUV��ZHLJKWV�DQG�UDWH�RI�FUDZO��DQG�WKHLU�
determination are also publicly disclosed to aid 
economic decision-making and expectations. 
Since the adoption of the crawling band, the 
real effective exchange rate of the Pula has 
been relatively stable, albeit with marginal ap-
preciation. Productivity increases and appropri-
ate alignment of factor costs must, therefore, 
accompany the exchange rate channel in order 
to have more competitive industries.

���� )LVFDO� SROLF\� �SDUWLFXODUO\� WD[DWLRQ� SROLF\��
is also relevant for investment, allocation of 
resources and pricing decisions, especially in 
competition with other jurisdictions, has also 
been used to enhance the country’s competitive-
ness. Botswana’s taxation regime is internation-
DOO\� FRPSHWLWLYH� �7DEOH� ������� )RU� H[DPSOH��
resident companies pay a company tax rate of 
22 percent plus a general withholding tax rate of 
7.5 percent on all dividends. Moreover, manu-
facturing enterprises and businesses operating 
in the Innovation Hub and the International 
Financial Services Centre pay a lower tax rate 
RI� ���SHUFHQW��$� WD[�KROLGD\� �]HUR� FRUSRUDWH�
WD[��FDQ�EH�DYDLOHG�WR�LQYHVWRUV�IRU�D�SHULRG�RI�
5 years to 10 years, while further concessions 
through Development Approval Orders may 
be available in exceptional circumstances. 
The absence of foreign exchange controls also 
means that companies are free to repatriate 
SUR¿WV�� GLYLGHQGV� DQG� FDSLWDO��+RZHYHU�� WKH�
relatively low company tax rates and absence 
of exchange controls need to be supplemented 
by other factors, which impact on productiv-
LW\�DQG�SUR¿WDELOLW\�RI�EXVLQHVVHV�RSHUDWLQJ�LQ�
Botswana.

(b) Trade and Industrialisation Policies
4.5 The industrialisation and trade policies and 

related institutional arrangements operate in 
the context of an open economy with no ex-
change controls. Botswana continues, in the 
main, to pursue an outward-looking strategy 

in order to both support market expansion and 
easy access to imports. Thus, among others, 
trade agreements and efforts towards regional 
integration aim at facilitating market access 
and easing constraints to trade. The policy also 
entails attraction of FDI, which is critical as a 
source of new investment capital, expansion of 
production and economic activity, promoting 
skills and technology transfer, enhancing mar-
ket access, and, as a result, serves as a catalyst 
IRU� H[SHGLWLQJ� HFRQRPLF�GLYHUVL¿FDWLRQ��7KH�
industrialisation policy also encompasses 
GHYHORSPHQW�RI� WKH�SULYDWH� VHFWRU� �LQFOXGLQJ�
SULYDWLVDWLRQ�RI�SDUDVWDWDOV���HQWUHSUHQHXUVKLS�
DQG�IRVWHULQJ�DFFHVV�WR�¿QDQFH��7KH�IROORZLQJ�
points highlight some of the key initiatives 
aimed at promoting industrialisation and trade.

 Privatisation
4.6 The Public Enterprises Evaluation and Privati-

VDWLRQ�$JHQF\��3((3$��VSHDUKHDGV�WKH�SULYD-
tisation initiative and advises the Government 
on appropriate strategies and sets performance 
targets for public enterprises. The Privatisation 
Policy of 2000 and Master Plans of 2005 and 
2012-2017 provide the broad framework for 
the commercialisation and, ultimately, sale of a 

TABLE 2.12: CORPORATE TAX IN SELECTED 
ECONOMIES IN 2015 (PERCENT)

Country 2015
Botswana 22
SADC
Mauritius 15
South Africa 28
Namibia 33
Angola 35
Upper Middle Income Countries
Chile 22.5
Malaysia 25
Thailand 20
Mexico 30
Developed Economies
UK 20
USA 40
Japan 33
Germany 30

Source: KPMG
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wide range of state-owned enterprises to private 
investors. The assumption is that privatised 
HQWLWLHV�ZLOO�EH�PRUH�HI¿FLHQW�LQ�SURYLGLQJ�UHO-
evant products, services and utilities and thus 
contribute positively to national output and 
employment creation, as well as ease the burden 
RQ�JRYHUQPHQW�¿QDQFHV��,Q�WKLV�UHJDUG��VHYHUDO�
state-owned enterprises, including the National 
Development Bank, Botswana Telecommuni-
cations Corporation Limited and Air Botswana, 
have been or are actively being considered for 
privatisation, while outsourcing of services 
previously provided by the Government is also 
being undertaken. 

4.7 However, the pace of privatisation has been 
slow for reasons that include: weak perfor-
mance and the low value that can be derived 
from the sale with respect to some entities; 
concerns about possible job losses; and dif-
¿FXOW\�LQ�FRQFOXGLQJ�FRPSOH[�DSSRUWLRQPHQW�
RI�VKDUHKROGLQJ��IRU�H[DPSOH��UHTXLUHPHQWV�IRU�
UHWHQWLRQ�RI� VLJQL¿FDQW� VKDUH�E\� WKH�*RYHUQ-
PHQW��FLWL]HQV�DQG�HPSOR\HHV��DQG�KRZ�WKLV�LV�
funded. In this regard, productivity and output 
improvements arising from privatisation are yet 
to be realised, while disruptions relating to ef-
fective delivery of key infrastructure and inputs 
appear to intensify. Nonetheless, for reasons 
elaborated on in the next section, it remains 
important for the Government to continue to 
pursue privatisation.22

Special Economic Zones and Cluster Develop-
ment

4.8 As part of the industrialisation and economic 
GLYHUVL¿FDWLRQ� VWUDWHJ\�� WKH�*RYHUQPHQW� KDV�
LQWURGXFHG�WKH�6SHFLDO�(FRQRPLF�=RQHV��6(=��
Policy and adopted the related legislation 
to attract domestic and foreign investors to 
designated zones across the country. It is en-

22 While privatisation efforts have not taken off as envisaged, 
PEEPA has had some success with public enterprises 
UDWLRQDOLVDWLRQ�� DV� WKH�PHUJHU� RI� VRPH� SDUDVWDWDOV� �IRU�
example Botswana Technology Centre and Rural Industries 
3URPRWLRQ�&RPSDQ\�DV�ZHOO�DV�%(',$�DQG�,)6&��KDV�EHHQ�
successfully completed. The privatisation of the Botswana 
Telecommunications Corporation also appears to be gathering 
pace.

visaged that the zones will offer an enhanced, 
competitive and investor-friendly environment 
with fast-tracked and streamlined authorisation 
and licensing of businesses. The policy will be 
LPSOHPHQWHG�LQ�SKDVHV��HDFK�WDUJHWHG�DW�VSHFL¿F�
industrial sectors.23 

4.9 The initiatives covered in the Cluster Develop-
ment Strategy are also relevant in this regard.24 
Broadly, cluster development refers to con-
centration of complementary businesses that 
create productive synergies and value chains 
arising from geographic proximity and inter-
dependence of companies and institutions in a 
SDUWLFXODU�¿HOG��7KH�GHYHORSPHQW�RI�FOXVWHUV�LQ�
Botswana is premised on potential for enhanced 
industrialisation and export diversification 
based on natural endowments and areas where 
WKHUH�KDV�EHHQ�JRRG�SHUIRUPDQFH��VSHFL¿FDOO\�
diamonds, tourism, beef, mining, health and 
¿QDQFLDO� VHUYLFHV�� ,W� LV� HQYLVDJHG� WKDW� D�1D-
tional Cluster Development Strategy will be 
implemented as part of NDP 11.25 In terms of 
relationship with other initiatives, cluster-based 
development is a feature of the Innovation Hub 
and the planned SEZs. 

4.10 Cluster development is also undertaken in the 
context of economic “hubs”, established in 
2008 to coordinate activities in various sectors, 
LQFOXGLQJ� DJULFXOWXUH�� GLDPRQGV� �SURPRWLQJ�
GRZQVWUHDP�EHQH¿FLDWLRQ��� WUDQVSRUW�� KHDOWK��
education and innovation, with the last two 
hubs aimed at transforming Botswana into a 
knowledge economy. In some cases, the hubs’ 

23�7KH�¿UVW�SKDVH�ZLOO�FRYHU�WKH�6LU�6HUHWVH�.KDPD�,QWHUQDWLRQDO�
$LUSRUW� �66.,$��PL[HG� XVH� VLWH� DQG� WKH� 6HOHEL�3KLNZH�
(FRQRPLF�'LYHUVL¿FDWLRQ�8QLW� �63('8��VLWHV��7KH�VHFRQG�
phase covers Lobatse, Gaborone Fairgrounds, Pandamatenga 
and Palapye, while the third phase covers Francistown and 
the Tuli Block.

24 Cluster Development Strategy came to prominence in 
1990 following a book by Professor Michael Porter, “The 
Competitive Advantage of Nations”. This strategy was 
embraced by the Government of Botswana following 
Professor Porter’s presentation to the Economic Committee 
of Cabinet in 2012. An announcement on the adoption of the 
FOXVWHU�GHYHORSPHQW�VWUDWHJ\�LQ�%RWVZDQD�ZDV�¿UVW�PDGH�WR�
the High Level Consultative Council in 2013.

25�,Q�VXSSRUW�RI�WKLV�LQLWLDWLYH��WKH�1DWLRQDO�6WUDWHJ\�2I¿FH��162��
has been assigned responsibility to undertake an in-depth study 
to provide the relevant baseline information.
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mandate encompasses the development of 
relevant infrastructure; while for others, the 
emphasis is on facilitating a conducive oper-
ating environment, including through targeted 
government support.

� (FRQRPLF�'LYHUVL¿FDWLRQ�'ULYH��(''�
����� 7KH�(FRQRPLF�'LYHUVL¿FDWLRQ�'ULYH� �(''���

which commenced in 2010 is intended to pro-
mote growth in the private sector through two 
distinct components. In the short-term, prefer-
ential treatment of local suppliers and producers 
for public procurement mobilises government 
purchasing power in support of domestic busi-
nesses. Since the programme commenced in 
2010, this phase has resulted in more than P18 
billion worth of goods and services being pur-
chased, with approximately 1 400 businesses 
�LQ�WXUQ��ZLWK�FRPELQHG�HPSOR\PHQW�RI��������
HPSOR\HHV��UHJLVWHUHG�DV�(''�VXSSOLHUV�26

4.12 In the medium-to-long-term, however, the ob-
jective is to identify and implement strategies 
to develop local industries that can operate 
with little or no need for government support, 
contributing positively to the domestic value 
chain. Areas that are currently receiving sup-
port, with a view to both promoting exports 
and reducing dependency on imports, include 
dairy production, leather products and utilis-
ing domestic salt resources. To be successful 
in meeting these ambitious objectives, there 
is need to carefully manage the challenge of 
transitioning between the two phases of the 
SURJUDPPH��WKDW� LV�� UHGXFLQJ�GHSHQGHQF\�RQ�
JRYHUQPHQW���PLQLPLVLQJ� DVVRFLDWHG� EXUHDX-
cracy, and maintaining a focus on a few key 
sectors targeted for assistance.

4.13 Regarding industrialisation and trade policies 
generally, it is clear that, given related or similar 
LQLWLDWLYHV��SULYDWLVDWLRQ��6(=V��FOXVWHU�GHYHORS-
PHQW��KXEV��(''��HWF���WRZDUGV�WKH�VDPH�HQG��
there should be coordination to optimise on 
UHVRXUFHV�DQG�EHQH¿W�IURP�WKH�LQLWLDWLYHV��(YL-
GHQWO\��WKH�SURYLVLRQ�RI�HI¿FLHQW�LQIUDVWUXFWXUH��
supportive land allocation policies and business 

26 Republic of Botswana, State of the Nation Address, 2015

registration and licensing procedures, as well as 
access to requisite services and skills and other 
inputs, would be critical for the success of the 
efforts relating to industrialisation.27 

(c) Selected Business Support Institu-
tions

4.14 The broad strategies highlighted above are 
complemented by various institutions set up 
to promote entrepreneurship, business devel-
opment, as well as local industry productivity 
DQG�FRPSHWLWLYHQHVV��7DEOH�������

4.15 The BNPC in particular, is modelled on the 
Singapore approach. Therefore, a comparison 
of progress in the two countries in the attain-
ment of high productivity levels is illuminating. 
Singapore went through three stages of the 
productivity movement.28

�L�� Awareness: where the focus is on positive 
attitudes towards work, through public 
education, strengthening corporate identity, 
and promotion of joint consultation be-
tween management and labour promoting 
productivity in the public sector. A national 
productivity council was also formed.

�LL��Action: in order to translate awareness into 
VSHFL¿F�SURJUDPPHV� WKDW� LPSURYH�ZRUN-
place productivity, for both management 
and workers.

�LLL��Ownership: which entails encouraging 
ownership of the productivity movement 
and making it self-sustaining.

4.16 Singapore progressed through all these stages in 
DERXW�WHQ�\HDUV��IURP������WR�WKH�HDUO\�����V���
By contrast, Botswana is still in the Awareness 
stage after more than 20 years. Indeed, the 
Global Competitiveness Reports still regularly 
cite a poor work ethic as one of the factors con-
tributing to slowing economic growth in Bot-

27�6HH�=HQJ��'��=�� �������� µ*OREDO�([SHULHQFHV�ZLWK�6SHFLDO�
Economic Zones – with a Focus on China and Africa’, 
available at http://www.worldbank.org/content/dam/
Worldbank/Event/Africa.

28 The discussion on BNPC draws on a paper by Kitaw, D., 
��������µ%RWVZDQD�3URGXFWLYLW\�0RYHPHQW¶��.DL]HQ�1DWLRQDO�
Movement – A Study of Quality and Productivity in Asia and 
Africa, available at www.grips.ac.jp.
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TABLE 2.13: GOVERNMENT INSTITUTIONS/PROGRAMMES INFLUENCING PRODUCTIVITY, COMPETITIVENESS AND 
EMPLOYMENT CREATION 
Institution Mandate Success/Achievements
Botswana National 
Productivity Centre 
�HVWDEOLVKHG������

%� To provide guidance on productivity 
related matters.

%� To enhance productivity in Botswana 
through both advocacy and training 
DQG�RWKHU�DGYLFH��IRU�H[DPSOH��DVVLVWLQJ�
organisations to adopt best management 
SUDFWLFHV���

 BNPC has a long way to go in achieving its mandate 
as it has not yet managed to translate productivity 
awareness into actionable programmes that improve 
workplace productivity. 

Furthermore, there is a low uptake of BNPC’s ser-
vices, especially outside the public sector and by 
smaller enterprises, partly due to perceived high 
consultancy fees which may require some revision 
to the centre’s current funding model. 

Botswana Investment and 
7UDGH�&HQWUH��HVWDEOLVKHG�
�����

%� Investment promotion and attraction, 
export promotion and development. 

%� Serves as a “one stop” service centre for 
investors which should ideally help to 
minimise regulatory and bureaucratic 
costs. In particular, BITC provides busi-
ness facilitation services such as com-
pany and business registration, trade 
licence applications and entry visas, work 
and residence permits.

Thus far, there are 35 International Financial Ser-
YLFHV�&HQWUH� �,)6&�� UHJLVWHUHG� FRPSDQLHV�ZKLFK�
have employed 1 275 citizens. In addition, BITC 
has attracted 16 companies, during 2013/14, on the 
FDI front involved in manufacturing, agriculture, 
WRXULVP��GLDPRQG�FXWWLQJ�DQG�SROLVKLQJ�DQG�¿QDQ-
cial and business services. The combined projected 
capital investment is P462.9 million with a projected 
creation of 2 098 jobs, once the companies are fully 
operational. During 2014/15, over 3 000 jobs were 
FUHDWHG��VXUSDVVLQJ�D�WDUJHW�RI�������MREV��PRVWO\�
through business expansions of companies attracted 
by BITC. Total capital investment was P3.2 billion, 
against an annual target of P1.16 billion. Further-
more, BITC has been mandated with the roll-out of 
the Special Economic Zones programme.

Competition Authority 
�HVWDEOLVKHG������

%� To prevent any anti-competitive conduct 
in the economy. 

%� Advise Government on domestic legis-
lation and international agreements that 
may have an impact on competition.

%� To investigate complaints of anti-com-
SHWLWLYH�FRQGXFW��LQFOXGLQJ�ELG�ULJJLQJ�
DQG�SULFH�¿[LQJ��IRU�H[DPSOH��

%� Approval of proposed mergers and 
acquisitions involving domestic enter-
prises.  

The Authority is making good progress handling 
anti-competitive behaviour cases. The cases handled 
increased from 18 in 2011/12 to 61 in 2013/14.

Citizen Entrepreneurial 
Development Agency 
�HVWDEOLVKHG������

%� To provide support for business de-
velopment through various funding 
mechanisms. 

%� Targets agro-business, services property 
and manufacturing through subsidised 
loans, as well as helping citizens part-
ner with non-citizens in joint ventures 
�WKURXJK�VWUXFWXUHG�¿QDQFH��

%� Fosters citizen entrepreneurship and 
empowerment and promotes economic 
GLYHUVL¿FDWLRQ�

%� Encourages the development of competi-
tive and sustainable citizen enterprises.

%� Creates sustainable employment op-
portunities.

Since 2008, CEDA has funded 2 288 enterprises with 
D�WRWDO�RI�QHDUO\�3����ELOOLRQ��7KH�¿UPV�HPSOR\HG�
more than 11 000 people.

�FRQWLQXHG�RYHUOHDI�
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TABLE 2.13: GOVERNMENT INSTITUTIONS/PROGRAMMES INFLUENCING PRODUCTIVITY, COMPETITIVENESS AND 
EMPLOYMENT CREATION (CONTINUED)

Local Enterprise Authority 
�HVWDEOLVKHG������

%� To promote entrepreneurship and enter-
prise development in Botswana. 

%� Provides business development ser-
vices such as screening, business plan 
facilitation, training and mentoring, 
among others. 

%� Identifies business opportunities for 
existing and future SMMEs.

%� Promotes domestic and international 
linkages, especially between SMMEs 
and Government, large business entities 
and other SMMEs.

%� Facilitates changes in regulations, qual-
ity management systems and standards, 
LQIUDVWUXFWXUH�DQG�DFFHVV�WR�¿QDQFH�

%� Facilitates technology adoption and 
diffusion; and promotes general en-
trepreneurship and SMME awareness.

LEA has made some progress as it managed to 
register some 114 new SMMEs, for example, in 
2013/14 for purposes of business training, mentoring 
and coaching. Since inception and up to 2014, LEA 
has screened 14 697 clients and registered   8 330, 
creating 6 998 jobs in the process. As regards train-
ing, 43 893 individuals have attended entrepreneur-
ship awareness workshops, while 12 013 have been 
trained on various courses, coached and mentored.

Youth Development Fund 
�HVWDEOLVKHG������

%� Promotes active participation of the 
youth in the socio-economic develop-
ment of the country.

%� Encourages unemployed youth to ven-
ture into sustainable and viable income-
generating projects.

%� Reduces rural-urban migration by 
making it attractive to start business 
enterprises in rural areas.

Between 2009/10 and 2013/14, a total of 4 837 jobs 
have been created.

Botswana Innovation Hub 
�HVWDEOLVKHG������

%� Aims at developing and operating a 
science and technology park to aid in 
diversifying the economy. 

%� Promotes research and development, 
education and innovation.

%� Supports start-ups and existing com-
panies.

%� Attracts companies, universities, re-
search institutes and advanced training 
institutes.

BIH has established a development programme 
which had 15 registered clients in 2014, that had 
created 25 jobs. Furthermore, over 200 technology 
start-ups have received mentoring and advisory 
guidelines.

Botswana Development 
&RUSRUDWLRQ��HVWDEOLVKHG�
�����

%� Promotes and facilitates the economic 
development of Botswana.

%� Develops new and existing industrial, 
commercial, property and agricultural 
businesses and property development.

%� 3URYLGHV�GLUHFW�¿QDQFLDO�LQYHVWPHQW�RU�
DVVLVWDQFH��SURFXUHPHQW�RI�¿QDQFLDO�RU�
management assistance and participa-
WLRQ�ZLWK�SHUVRQV��¿UPV�RU�FRPSDQLHV�
– both locally and externally.

BDC has investments across 10 industries, including 
manufacturing, services, property and agriculture. 
The company has a balance sheet of over P3 bil-
lion and a portfolio of 41 clients and investments. 
Performance has been mixed with some successes 
LQ� VXSSRUWLQJ� FRPSDQLHV� �DQG� LQ� VRPH� LQVWDQFHV�
XOWLPDWHO\�GLYHVWLQJ��LQ�WKH�¿QDQFH��PDQXIDFWXULQJ��
property development, tourism/hotels industries; but 
WKHUH�KDV�DOVR�EHHQ�VLJQL¿FDQW�KLJK�SUR¿OH�ORVVHV�RI�
investment.

Source: Annual Reports, Websites of the Various Institutions and State of the Nation Address 2014 and 2015
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swana, suggesting that the presence of BNPC 
and Government benchmarking arrangements 
ZLWK�RWKHU�FRXQWULHV��QRWDEO\�6LQJDSRUH��KDYH�
so far not yielded the desired results. However, 
the measurement of progress in this regard is 
hampered by inadequate data and information 
on productivity.

(d) Government Regulations and Their 
Impact on Employment Creation

4.17 The relevant government regulations relate to, 
DPRQJ�RWKHUV��EXVLQHVV�RSHUDWLRQV��UHJLVWUDWLRQ��
OLFHQVLQJ��HWF���� ODQG�DQG�EXLOGLQJ�FRYHQDQWV��
DQG�ODERXU�DQG�HPSOR\PHQW�ODZV��6SHFL¿F�WR�
employer-employee relationships, there is a 
view among the business community that the 
strict application of labour laws29 can impede 
removal of non-performing personnel and 
result in costly delay in adjusting to changes 
in the business/economic environment. Re-
VWULFWLRQV� �LQFOXGLQJ� GHOD\V� DQG� WKH� FRVW� RI�
SHUPLWV��UHODWLQJ�WR�LPSRUWDWLRQ�RI�ODERXU�DQG�
skills across all levels can also add to the cost 
of doing business and affect productivity and 
survival of enterprises.

4.18 The high level of unemployment suggests 
ample supply of labour, but the transition to 
employment could be affected by unwillingness 
WR�WDNH�XS�FHUWDLQ��ORZHU�OHYHO��MREV�DQG�D�KLJK�
UHVHUYDWLRQ�ZDJH��DVVRFLDWHG�ZLWK�D�JHQHURXV�
V\VWHP�RI�VRFLDO�IDPLO\�DQG�LQFRPH�VXSSRUW���
LQ� WKH� HYHQW�� HPSOR\LQJ� �VNLOOHG�� IRUHLJQHUV�
willing to take up these jobs at the designated 
wages could be positive for economic activity 
and productivity. Moreover, a more accom-
modative work permit administration can help 
alleviate critical skills shortages and facilitate 
training of locals; conversely, a strict regime 
results in weaker business performance and 
GLVFRXUDJHV�LQYHVWPHQW��RU�OHDGV�WR�GLVLQYHVW-
PHQW��LQ�WKH�ORFDO�HFRQRP\��$�SRVLWLYH�DSSURDFK�
would be to view the ability to attract labour and 
capital as adding to economic prospects, which 
LV�XOWLPDWHO\�EHQH¿FLDO�LQ�WHUPV�RI�WKH�TXDOLW\�

29 Including the Employment Act, Workers’ Compensation Act, 
Trade Unions and Employers Organisations Act, Employment 
of Non-Citizens Act Cap 47:02 of 1983 and the Trade Disputes 
$FW�RI�������

of products and services, as well as enhancing 
income earning opportunities for locals.

4.19 The other consideration is with respect to the 
minimum wage, which when set too high can 
result in a lower rate of hiring and preference 
for more capital-intensive operations or resort-
ing to informal arrangements. The setting of 
minimum wages in Botswana has been cir-
cumspect and it does not appear that current 
levels have an adverse impact on hiring, as in 
practice employers pay above the minimum. 
Table 2.14 shows the annual rates of increase in 
PLQLPXP�ZDJHV�FRPSDUHG�WR�LQÀDWLRQ�EHWZHHQ�
1980 and 2014. Evidently, the annual changes 
in minimum wages have lagged behind con-
VXPHU�SULFH�LQÀDWLRQ�IRU�PXFK�RI�WKLV�SHULRG��
to the extent that the real purchasing power of 
PLQLPXP�ZDJHV� KDV� IDOOHQ� VLJQL¿FDQWO\� DQG�
thus appears to have posed at most a low risk 
to employment creation.

4.20 It has to be noted that there is some obligation 
on the part of employers to pay a decent wage 
and their costing and pricing of production 
and output should reflect this. Decent pay 
and working conditions help in employee 
motivation and productivity, while encourag-
LQJ�EXVLQHVVHV�WR�EH�HI¿FLHQW��ZLWK�DQ�RYHUDOO�
positive contribution to economic activity. In 
some advanced countries, the minimum wage 
has been supplemented by the introduction of 
a so-called “living wage”. However, use of a 
minimum wage as a means to address poverty 
and inequality is inherently problematic as 
wages are paid as a reward for the employee’s 
contribution to business operations, while the 
VWDQGDUG�RI�OLYLQJ�LV�LQÀXHQFHG�E\�D�ZLGH�UDQJH�
of factors, including household size and other 
forms of dependency. 

(e) The Role of the Informal Sector and 
Small, Micro and Medium-sized En-
terprises (SMMEs)30

4.21 SMMEs are globally considered to be a major 

30 While the informal sector is often confused with micro-
HQWHUSULVHV��RIWHQ�ZLWK�V\QRQ\PRXV�XVDJH���WKH�WZR�FRQFHSWV�
DUH�GLIIHUHQW��7KH�:RUOG�%DQN�GH¿QHV�D�PLFUR�HQWHUSULVH�DV�
D�EXVLQHVV�WKDW�HPSOR\V�OHVV�WKDQ�¿YH�IXOO�WLPH�ZRUNHUV��EXW�
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source of entrepreneurship, industrial de-
velopment as well as economic growth, and 
hence employment creation, and income earn-
ing opportunities, particularly for unskilled 
labour and undercapitalised entrepreneurs. 
Botswana’s Industrial Development Policy of 
1998 recognised SMMEs as important drivers 
RI�LQGXVWULDOLVDWLRQ�DQG�&('$��������DQG�/($�
�������ZHUH�WKXV�HVWDEOLVKHG�WR�GLUHFWO\�DGGUHVV�
WKH�FKDOOHQJHV�IDFHG�E\�600(V��7DEOH�������
Recent government procurement strategies also 
target nurturing of the informal sector.31 How-
ever, for SMMEs to realise their full potential 
as an engine of growth, it is important to create 
a favourable environment that allows them to 
expand and prosper. The informal sector is not 
always viewed favourably by governments, in 
part because it is not a substantial contributor 
to tax revenue. However, notably for Botswana, 
an informal sector survey conducted in 2015 
estimated that the sector employed 191 176 
people as of March 2015, thus constituting ap-
proximately 31 percent of total employment32. 
Nevertheless, the sector’s contribution to Gross 
Domestic Product is modest, estimated at only 
5.3 percent.

could be a formal business. However, to qualify as an informal 
sector business, the enterprise should neither pay tax nor be 
registered with the Registrar of Companies.

31 For example, government departments and parastatals are 
encouraged, in relevant areas, to source goods and services 
from SMMEs and, where feasible, afford them space and 
access to utilities to operate.

32 Informal Sector Report Version 5.2, 2015 by Ecosyst 
Consulting.

4.22 Overall, it is important to recognise the infor-
PDO�VHFWRU�DV�FRQWULEXWLQJ�VLJQL¿FDQWO\�WR�MRE�
creation and that, when properly run, some 
enterprises have the potential to graduate to 
formal sector status. In this respect, there are 
suggestions that the rigorous application of leg-
islation and regulations33 on business activity 
can be debilitating for the informal sector and 
undermine employment and income generation. 
A review of the framework for regulation could 
thus be warranted. Moreover, participants in 
the informal sector need to be involved in pro-
grammes for vocational and business training 
and other relevant skills development so as to 
enhance prospects for higher productivity and 
rate of growth.

(f) Impact of Government Policies on 
Competitiveness Rankings

4.23 The impact of the current regulatory environ-
ment on business operations and economic ac-
WLYLW\�LV�UHÀHFWHG�LQ�WKH�RXWFRPH�RI�FRPSDUDWLYH�
studies on Ease of Doing Business, where Bot-
VZDQD�UDQNV�UHODWLYHO\�SRRUO\��6HFWLRQ����DQG�
in terms of comparative attractiveness of the 
country in relation to inward investment. The 
rankings suggest a need to remove impediments 
and work towards a more conducive operating 
environment. In general, as highlighted in Sec-
tion 2, Botswana competes favourably on mac-
URHFRQRPLF�IDFWRUV�UHODWLQJ�WR�¿VFDO��PRQHWDU\�

33 Examples include the Waste Management Act, Trade and 
Liquor Act and the Town Council Hawking and Street Vending 
Regulations.

TABLE 2.14: INCREASES IN MINIMUM WAGE COMPARED TO INFLATION

Period Standard Minimum Wage1 &XPXODWLYH�,QÀDWLRQ 2
Change in Purchasing Power 

(Percent)
1981 -1990 155.6 171.0 -5.7
1991 - 2000 122.8 165.9 -16.2
2001 - 2010 85.4 126.6 -18.2
2011 - 2014 27.9 26.7 0.9
Whole period 1 250.0 1 969.8 -34.8

1.  This is based on the minimum wage that is most commonly applicable across the economy in terms of 
sectoral coverage. While different levels may be applied in some sectors, the rates of increase are typically 
very similar.

���� &DOFXODWHG�XVLQJ�WKH�UDWH�RI�LQÀDWLRQ�SUHYDLOLQJ�LQ�'HFHPEHU�HDFK�\HDU�
Source: Bank of Botswana Annual Reports 



111

CHAPTER 2:  EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES, PRODUCTIVITY AND COMPETITIVENESS … BOTSWANA’S CASE

and exchange rate policies.34 However, there are 
microeconomic aspects on which Botswana is 
not doing well, such as perceived burdensome 
DQG�UHVWULFWLYH�ODERXU�UHJXODWLRQV��IRU�H[DPSOH��
high redundancy costs and stringent hiring 
DQG�¿ULQJ�UHTXLUHPHQWV��DQG�WKH�WLPH�WDNHQ�WR�
complete registration and licensing of busi-
nesses. Related factors that are cited include 
inadequately educated workforce, poor work 
HWKLF�DQG�LQHI¿FLHQW�JRYHUQPHQW�EXUHDXFUDF\��
The relatively poor quality of infrastructure and 
LQDGHTXDWH�DFFHVV�WR�¿QDQFH�DUH�DOVR�FLWHG�DV�
constraining productivity and competitiveness, 
WKXV�HFRQRPLF�DFWLYLW\�EURDGO\��7KHVH�GH¿FLHQ-
cies will need to be addressed if a substantial 
improvement in the rankings is to be realised 
going forward.35

4.24 The Government responded to the 2011 Global 
Competitiveness Report, which saw Botswana 
decline in ranking to 80th position from 56th place 
three years earlier, by establishing the National 
'RLQJ�%XVLQHVV�&RPPLWWHH� �1'%&���ZKLFK�
comprises government ministries and depart-
ments, parastatals, the private sector and labour 
XQLRQV��DQG�WKH�&DELQHW�6XE�&RPPLWWHH��6XE�
&RPPLWWHH��RQ�'RLQJ�%XVLQHVV��7KH�1'%&�LV�
charged with improving Botswana’s business 
climate. On the other hand, the Sub-Committee 
is mandated with monitoring and guiding the 
work of the NDBC and advising the Cabinet on 
necessary reforms on ease of doing business and 
global competitiveness. In this regard, Govern-
ment approved the Doing Business Reforms 
Roadmap and Action Plan in 2015. Partly as a 
result of these initiatives, Botswana’s rankings 
improved as highlighted in Section 2.

34 The regular independent assessments including those of the 
World Economic Forum, International Monetary Fund and 
sovereign credit rating agencies, highlight policy stability 
DV�UHÀHFWHG�LQ�JRYHUQPHQW�EXGJHW�EDODQFH��UHODWLYHO\�VWDEOH�
LQÀDWLRQ��DPSOH�JURVV�QDWLRQDO�VDYLQJV��PRGHVW�JRYHUQPHQW�
debt, absence of foreign exchange controls, non-complexity 
of tax regulations and low tax rates. 

35 The 2014 Industrial Development Policy for Botswana notes 
that high level Competitiveness Committees consisting of the 
National Doing Business Committee, made up of Government 
Ministries, parastatals, the private sector and labour unions, 
and the Cabinet Sub-Committee on Doing Business have 
been formed to deal with Botswana’s global competitiveness 
shortcomings.

5. INFRASTRUCTURE, UTILITIES 
AND PRODUCTIVITY

���� 7KH�LPSRUWDQFH�RI�HI¿FLHQW�SURYLVLRQ�RI�SXEOLF�
infrastructure and utilities to support competi-
tiveness and productivity has already been em-
phasised in Section 2. For Botswana, the need 
for high-quality public infrastructure should be 
understood in the context of a sparsely popu-
lated, landlocked country, where recent signs of 
weakening in the economy add to the challenge 
of effectively combining an ambitious develop-
ment agenda with a more equitable distribution 
of resources. Table 2.15 shows the performance 
of Botswana in the infrastructure category of 
the GCI since 2007 that reveals a trend decline 
overall, where the ranking has fallen from 46 
to 83, and in almost all categories. The only 
VLJQL¿FDQW� LPSURYHPHQW� LV� LQ�PRELOH� SKRQH�
coverage, where the country was ranked eighth 
globally in the most recent survey. However, 
not all categories are equally important for all 
FRXQWULHV��ZKLOH� UHFHQW� LPSURYHPHQWV��PDMRU�
LQYHVWPHQW� LQ� DLUSRUWV�� HWF���PD\� QRW� \HW� EH�
taken into account. On the other hand, the GCI 
does not include water related infrastructure, 
where Botswana has recently experienced 
major challenges and resulting rationing of 
water across the country. Overall, the relative 
underperformance with respect to infrastructure 
needs to be reversed.

Infrastructure Challenges

 Roads and Other Transport Infrastructure
5.2 Since independence in 1966, Botswana has 

steadily built up a substantial and generally 
well-maintained national road network. Re-
cently, this has been with the support of the 
World Bank through technical assistance and 
¿QDQFLQJ� SURYLGHG� DV� SDUW� RI� WKH� ,QWHJUDWHG�
7UDQVSRUW� 3URMHFW� �,73�� IRU�%RWVZDQD��ZLWK�
a total estimated value of USD385 million.36 

36�7KH�,73�DLPV�WR�HQKDQFH�WKH�HI¿FLHQF\�RI�WKH�WUDQVSRUW�V\VWHP�
by building modern business management capacity, and 
improving strategic planning of inter-regional transport and 
critical transport infrastructure. The three components to the 
SURMHFW�LQFOXGH���L��WHFKQLFDO�DGYLVRU\�VHUYLFHV�WR�XQGHUWDNH�D�
QXPEHU�RI�SUH�LQYHVWPHQW�DFWLYLWLHV�DQG�FDSDFLW\�EXLOGLQJ���LL��
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Among others, the Trans-Kalahari Highway 
and commencement of work on the Kazungula 
Bridge, demonstrates the country’s commit-
ment to becoming a regional transport hub.37 
This will clearly support regional access and 
competitiveness of Botswana businesses, which 
UHO\�RQ�HI¿FLHQW�WUDQVSRUW�OLQNV��ERWK�LQWHUQDOO\�
and externally, to access inputs for production 
and export markets. In this respect, there are 
three major considerations for development of 
road transport in Botswana.

5.3 First, the national road network continues to 
EH�SXW�XQGHU�VWUDLQ�E\�UDSLG�JURZWK�LQ�WUDI¿F�
volumes. This is clearly seen in the growth of 
vehicles registered in the country; an annual 
average rate of 8.9 percent between 2001 and 
2014 with the number increasing from 120 
���� WR� �������� �WKHVH�¿JXUHV� H[FOXGH� LQWHU-

introducing a pilot long term output and performance based 
URDG�FRQWUDFWLQJ��235&��PHWKRG�IRU�D�URDG�DVVHW�PDQDJHPHQW�
programme covering some 800km of rural and semi-urban 
URDGV���LLL��LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ�RI�DQ�XUEDQ�WUDI¿F�LPSURYHPHQW�
programme in greater Gaborone to address problems of 
congestion by introducing modern and advanced planning, 
design and implementation techniques.

37 The Trans-Kalahari Highway provides paved road between the 
port of Walvis Bay in Namibia, through Botswana, to Gauteng, 
the economic centre of South Africa. In turn, the Maputo 
Corridor extends this route from Gauteng to Mozambique, 
while it is also envisaged that a rail link between Botswana 
and Namibia will also be developed. The Kazungula Bridge 
ZLOO�LPSURYH�WKH�HI¿FLHQF\�RI�WUDQVSRUW�IURP�6RXWK�$IULFD��
through Botswana to other countries in southern, central and 
HDVWHUQ�$IULFD��,Q����������SHUFHQW�RI�SDVVHQJHUV��LQFOXGLQJ�
WRXULVWV�DQG�KDXODJH�RSHUDWRUV��XVLQJ�WKH�FXUUHQW�IHUU\�FURVVLQJ�
at Kazungula were foreigners.

QDWLRQDO�WUDI¿F��38�7KXV��FRQFHUQV�DERXW�WUDI¿F�
congestion and inadequate maintenance of 
road infrastructure have become common in 
the main cities. In turn, this raises issues about 
VXVWDLQDEOH�¿QDQFLQJ�IRU�URDG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�DQG�
maintenance, including priorities for new road 
construction, the possible establishment of a 
dedicated fund to support maintenance, and 
introduction of direct user charges beyond the 
current system of licence fees and fuel-based 
levies.

���� 6HFRQG��SURYLVLRQ�RI�URDG�WUDQVSRUW��DQG�RWKHU��
infrastructure to rural areas is key to unlocking 
economic potential and productivity of a larger 
part of the country, including the development 
of agriculture, eco-tourism, etc. At the same 
time, this must be set against the costs of pro-
viding such infrastructure, which are likely to 
be high, and the need to balance the economic 
factors with purely social considerations. 

5.5 Third, the construction and maintenance of a 
national road network is not by itself enough for 
competitiveness. The other relevant factors re-
ODWH�WR�DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�HI¿FLHQF\��HIIHFWLYH�URDG�
OLFHQVLQJ��WUDI¿F�FRQWURO�WR�UHGXFH�FRQJHVWLRQ��
improved road safety,39 cross-border clearance 
SURFHGXUHV��DV�H[SOLFLWO\�UHFRJQLVHG�LQ�WKH�,73�

5.6 Similar issues apply to other forms of transport. 

38 Within this total, registrations of passenger vehicles grew by 
12.4 percent per annum.

39 This includes ensuring the effective operation of public 
transport systems.

TABLE 2.15: GCI INFRASTRUCTURE RANKINGS FOR BOTSWANA 2007/08 TO 2015/16

2007-08 (131a) 2011-12 (142) 2015-16 (140)
Quality of overall infrastructure 46 57 83
Quality of roads 47 53 71
Quality of railway infrastructure 43 55 54
Quality of ports infrastructure 57 86 118
Quality of air transport infrastructure 94 93 103
Available airline seats 127 139 133
Quality of electricity supply 54 101 119
Mobile telephone subscriptions *** 45 8
Fixed telephone lines 93 105 89

a    Number of countries in each survey shown in brackets
Source: World Economic Forum
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)RU� DLU� WUDQVSRUW� �LQ� WKH� VDPH� SHULRG��� WRWDO�
passenger movements have risen much more 
slowly, by 0.8 percent per annum. However, 
this is in large part due to a fall in the number 
of domestic passenger movements, which 
declined at an average rate of 2.3 percent; in 
contrast international passenger movements 
increased at an annual rate of 4.1 percent. At 
the same time, the slow growth rate may also 
UHÀHFW�WKH�OLPLWHG�QXPEHU�RI�DYDLODEOH�DLUOLQH�
seats, where the country performs poorly in 
terms of the GCI rankings, and inconvenient 
VFKHGXOHV��IRU�ERWK�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�DQG�GRPHVWLF�
ÀLJKWV��� ,QHI¿FLHQW� DLU� WUDQVSRUW� FDQ� FOHDUO\�
be detrimental to both productivity40 and job 
creation, especially in the tourism sector. The 
Government has responded with a series of 
initiatives to address these challenges, includ-
ing investment in airports and recent entry of 
other airlines has improved access to interna-
tional connections.41 Nonetheless, it remains 
LPSRUWDQW�WR�PD[LPLVH�WKH�HI¿FLHQF\�RI�VHUYLFH�
provision, including through the operation of 
the Civil Aviation Authority of Botswana.

5.7 As shown in Chart 2.6, the volume of goods 
carried by railways in Botswana has been 
stagnant in recent years, with modest growth 
LQ�H[SRUWV��PDLQO\�EHHI�DQG�PLQHUDO�SURGXFWV��
offset by declines in other categories. Given the 
limited reach of the national rail network that 
FRYHUV�RQO\�D�VPDOO��DOEHLW�WKH�PRVW�SRSXODWHG��
part of the country, this may not be a surprise; 
accordingly, rail transport contributes only a 
small fraction of GDP compared to road and 
air transport. Nonetheless, the fall in volumes 
RI� ERWK� LPSRUWV� DQG� WUDQVLW� WUDI¿F� DUH� GLVDS-
pointing given the various initiatives that have 
been undertaken to develop rail as an alternative 
transport mode, and the country’s decline in 

40 This is especially the case for higher management levels 
that, in turn, can impact on overall business productivity. For 
H[DPSOH��WKH�ODFN�RI�FRQYHQLHQW�ÀLJKW�FRQQHFWLRQV�ZDV�VHHQ�
as a potential obstacle to the successful transfer of De Beers’ 
diamond sales operations from London to Gaborone, and could 
be an impediment to more investors choosing Botswana for 
locating regional operations.

41�$LU�%RWVZDQD�KDV�DOVR�UHFHQWO\�UHDOLJQHG�LWV�GRPHVWLF�ÀLJKW�
schedules to be better aligned to preferences of potential 
customers.

WHUPV�RI�WKH�*&,�UDQNLQJ�PD\�DOVR�EH�D�UHÀHF-
tion of this.

5.8 The potential for rail transport as a driver for 
future development, including unlocking the 
value of mineral resources other than diamonds, 
should not be underestimated. The incorpora-
tion of a new rail link as part of the Kazungula 
Bridge development should also boost the sta-
tus of the country as a regional transport hub. 
New external routes through Namibia and Mo-
zambique have also been under consideration 
for some time, while enhanced links with the 
South African network also provides the ad-
vantage of lower development costs. Any such 
developments must necessarily involve a major 
role for the Government, given the long-term 
nature and cost of the requisite infrastructure 
together with the need for effective consultation 
and cooperation with neighbouring countries. 
However, this will need to be aligned with pri-
vate sector expertise to achieve the necessary 
HI¿FLHQF\�LQ�ERWK�LQIUDVWUXFWXUH�LQYHVWPHQW�DQG�
subsequent operation. 
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CHART 2.6: RAIL GOODS TRAFFIC, 2003 - 2014 

Note:  Net tonnes refers to the weight of the freight 
carried.

Source: Statistics Botswana
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 Electricity and Water Supply
5.9 Lack of reliable supplies of electricity is a ma-

jor constraint on both economic growth and, 
more broadly, human development and pov-
erty alleviation, with many countries in Africa 
VLJQL¿FDQWO\� GLVDGYDQWDJHG� LQ� WKLV� UHJDUG�42 
The problems Botswana has faced with regard 
to inadequate power supply mainly relate to 
the Morupule B power station together with 
concurrent shortages in South Africa, the main 
source of power imports. However, compared 
to other countries in Africa, access to power 
LQ�WKH�FRXQWU\�LV�UHODWLYHO\�JRRG��7DEOH��������
as Botswana ranks relatively better in terms of 
both overall access and in provision of services 
to rural areas; nor is the price of electricity in 
Botswana notably high, either in the region 
RU�JOREDOO\��&KDUW�������+RZHYHU�� WKH�LPSDFW�
of disruptions is clearly indicated in the much 
poorer performance in the GCI rankings: 
although access levels are much lower in Na-
PLELD��DQG�SULFHV�DUH�FRQVLGHUDEO\�KLJKHU���WKDW�
FRXQWU\�VWLOO�KDV�D�PXFK�KLJKHU�*&,�UDQNLQJ�����
LQ����������

5.10 The recent challenges have also caused major 
¿QDQFLDO�GLI¿FXOWLHV� IRU� WKH�%RWVZDQD�3RZHU�
&RUSRUDWLRQ� �%3&��� WKH� VWDWH�RZQHG� XWLOLW\�
responsible for both generation and distribution 
of power. In turn, this has drawn the Govern-
ment into providing extensive subsidies to 
FXVKLRQ�WKH�QHHG�IRU�SULFH�LQFUHDVHV��DOWKRXJK�
WKHVH�KDYH�QRW�EHHQ�DYRLGHG�FRPSOHWHO\���HVSH-
cially for households. However, this is a heavy 
burden on the Government budget while also 
running counter to the Corporation’s statutory 
mandate.43 Nevertheless, the Government has 
ambitious plans to turn around the power sector 
in the coming years, moving rapidly to a posi-
tion of net power exporter, including emphasis 

42 See, for example “Power, People, Planet”, the 2015 report from 
the African Progress Panel. The World Bank has estimated 
WKH�WRWDO�FRVWV�RI�LQVXI¿FLHQW�DFFHVV�WR�SRZHU�DPRXQW�WR���±���
percent of GDP. Development of manufacturing is particularly 
constrained, while poorer households are also badly affected, 
EHLQJ�PRUH�UHOLDQW�RQ�OHVV�HI¿FLHQW�DQG�PRUH�XQKHDOWK\�VRXUFHV�
of energy.

43�7KH�%RWVZDQD�3RZHU�&RUSRUDWLRQ�$FW��&$3��������UHTXLUHV�
it to be run on “sound commercial lines”, including charging 
tariffs to ensure a reasonable return on its assets.

on renewable energy sources, solar power in 
particular.

5.11 Although not covered in the GCI, access to 
water also has a major impact on economic 
growth and development. In terms of basic 
indicators, Botswana ranks relatively highly, 
both globally and within Sub-Saharan Africa 
in terms of providing quality access to water 
to most of the population.44 Nonetheless, re-
cent acute disruptions have led to sustained 
rationing and the resulting negative impact on 
both households and businesses. As a drought-

44 As of 2010, 96 percent of the population had access to 
improved water sources, of which 66 percent was through 
piped water, while only 3 percent were at risk from water 
scarcity. For urban areas, access to improved water supply 
ZDV�QHDUO\�XQLYHUVDO�DW����SHUFHQW��VHH�81,&()�³3URJUHVV�
RQ�'ULQNLQJ�:DWHU�DQG�6DQLWDWLRQ��������8SGDWH´��

TABLE 2.16: ACCESS TO ELECTRICITY (PERCENT)

Overall Urban Rural

Transition economies & 
OECD

100 100 100

Developing Asia 83 95 74
Sub-Saharan Africa 32 59 16
Mauritius 100 100 100
Botswana 66 75 51
Namibia 30 50 17
South Africa 85 88 82

Source: World Energy Outlook 2014

CHART 2.7: ELECTRICITY TARIFFS – SELECTED 
COUNTRIES, 2014

Source: Respective Utilities
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prone country, with limited access to perennial 
sources of supply and few suitable sites for 
dam construction, Botswana has always been 
vulnerable to water shortages. However, the re-
FHQW�VKRUWDJHV�JR�EH\RQG�VFDUFLW\�RI�VXSSO\��DV�
plentiful reserves of water are available in the 
FRXQWU\�DV�D�ZKROH��DQG�UHÀHFW�WKH�FXPXODWLYH�
impact of various policy choices relating to the 
provision of necessary infrastructure and effec-
tive distribution. Perhaps more fundamentally, 
WKH�QHHG�WR�SULFH�ZDWHU�DW�OHYHOV�UHÀHFWLQJ�LWV�
scarcity is crucial in relation to promoting pro-
ductivity and competitiveness. In the absence 
of appropriate pricing, there is little incentive 
to minimise waste by either users or provider, 
while investment in water saving technolo-
gies remains underfunded. Effective demand 
management also needs to be considered when 
evaluating other policy interventions that may 
encourage development of sectors where output 
is water intensive, such as irrigated agriculture. 
7KHUH�LV�DOVR�D�QHHG�IRU�LQWHQVL¿HG�SXEOLF�HGX-
cation to gain greater acceptance for wider use 
of water-recycling technologies.45

 Mobile Phones
5.12 The high ranking for access to mobile tel-

ephones present a different type of challenge: 
that of making the most of an opportunity that 
has potential to be a major driver of produc-
tivity and inclusive growth. There are two 
GLPHQVLRQV��¿UVW��LV�WKH�QHHG�WR�PDNH�WKH�PRVW�
RI�RSSRUWXQLWLHV�IRU�¿QDQFLDO�LQFOXVLRQ�DULVLQJ�
from the high levels of teledensity. By way of 
comparison, Kenya and other countries in East 
Africa are regarded as global leaders in the 
provision of mobile money, by relying on cell-
phone technology, but are ranked far lower than 

45 The need for more effective demand management was 
recognised in the 2006 review of the National Water Master 
Plan. Some progress has been made in this regard, as indicated 
by reduced per capita consumption. However, the extent to 
ZKLFK�VLJQL¿FDQW�ZDVWDJH�VWLOO�RFFXUV�KDV�EHHQ�HPSKDVLVHG�
in the physical use and supply accounts of water usage in the 
country prepared as part of a project sponsored by the World 
Bank to develop environmental satellite accounts for the 
FRXQWU\� �KWWS���ZZZ�ZDYHVSDUWQHUVKLS�RUJ�VLWHV�ZDYHV�¿OHV�
LPDJHV�3ROLF\���%ULHIB%RWVZDQD���ZDWHU�SGI��

Botswana on mobile teledensity in the GCI.46 
Mobile money provision in Botswana has been 
growing rapidly from a low base, but there ap-
pears to be further room for development.

5.13 The second challenge is to replicate the success 
in providing mobile phone access to other more 
advanced areas of ICT, such as the internet. 
According to the International Telecommuni-
cations Union, only 18.5 percent of people in 
%RWVZDQD�XVHG�WKH�LQWHUQHW�LQ�������UHVXOWLQJ�LQ�
D�UDQN�RI�����LQ�WKH�*&,���7KLV�LV�GHVSLWH������
percent having access to mobile broadband con-
nections through their cell-phones, suggesting 
WKDW�WKH�FRVW�RI�DFFHVV��ZKLFK�UHPDLQV�KLJK�E\�
international standards47���WRJHWKHU�ZLWK�ODFN�RI�
HGXFDWLRQ�DERXW�DYDLODEOH�IDFLOLWLHV�DQG�EHQH¿WV�
of internet usage, could be major barriers.

Access to Land and Related Develop-
ments

5.14 As emphasised in the 2015 State of the Nation 
$GGUHVV��³WKH�HTXLWDEOH�DQG�HI¿FLHQW�GLVWULEX-
tion of land is a critical factor for realising 
economic opportunities and social well-being”. 
However, in practice, allocation has been beset 
E\�LQHI¿FLHQFLHV�WKDW�LPSDFW�RQ�ERWK�EXVLQHVV�
operations and the inclusiveness of growth as 
many households remain frustrated by lack of 
access to land. 

5.15 Problems related to land ownership are com-
mon in many countries, often typically ag-
gravated by resistance to reform by those who 
EHQH¿W�IURP�UHVWULFWLRQV�DQG�NHHS�ODQG�SULFHV�
DUWL¿FLDOO\� KLJK�� ,Q�%RWVZDQD�� WKH� V\VWHP� LV�
based on the right of every citizen to be allo-
cated land, for residential or business purposes, 
through a process based on queuing rather 
than price. There are also distinct urban and 
rural dimensions, one symptom of which is the 
relatively slower growth of urban populations 

46 In the 2015/16 GCI, Kenya is ranked only 122 for mobile 
phone penetration.

47 Although such comparisons are not straightforward, according 
to one international comparison, internet costs in Botswana 
ZHUH� WKH�¿IWK� KLJKHVW� LQ� WKH�ZRUOG� DV� RI�1RYHPEHU� �����
�KWWS���ZZZ�QXPEHR�FRP�FRVW�RI�OLYLQJ�FRXQWU\BSULFHB
UDQNLQJV"LWHP,G ����
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compared to adjacent villages, where access 
to land, despite controls supposedly in place, 
is easier in practice.48 This has implications in 
WHUPV�RI�SURGXFWLYLW\��IRU�ZKLFK�WKH�HI¿FLHQF\�
of urban development can be an important 
GHWHUPLQDQW��VHH�6HFWLRQ�����0RUHRYHU��LW�FDQ�
lead to social tensions as local inhabitants of the 
surrounding areas become marginalised, and 
these in turn can result in pressure to impose 
additional restrictions.

5.16 To help address this challenge, the Government 
plans to initiate an accelerated programme of 
ODQG�VHUYLFLQJ�WR�FRYHU��������SORWV��LQFOXGLQJ�
UHVLGHQWLDO��FRPPHUFLDO��LQGXVWULDO�DQG�RWKHU���
This will be facilitated by the establishment of 
a new land information centre that has been 
under development with the assistance of the 
Swedish Government.

����� +RZHYHU��IRU�WKH�IXOO�EHQH¿WV�RI�WKLV�SURJUDPPH�
to be realised, it has to be implemented ef-
¿FLHQWO\�DQG�LQ�D�WUDQVSDUHQW�PDQQHU�DQG�DOVR�
as part of comprehensive land reform. The 
current system inevitably leads to under or 
sub-standard development and speculation 
�LQFOXGLQJ� DUWL¿FLDO� VKRUWDJHV� DQG� SULFH� HV-
FDODWLRQ���$Q�DOWHUQDWLYH�FRXOG�EH�IDFLOLWDWLQJ�
access and land development by those who are 
best placed to do so, thus providing more op-
portunities for timely property developments, 
on-selling and renting at affordable levels and, 
therefore, fostering improved access to land and 
developed property across all income levels 
and for various uses. Overly-restrictive plan-
QLQJ�UHTXLUHPHQWV��HVSHFLDOO\�IRU�VPDOO�VFDOH�
GHYHORSPHQWV�� FDQ� DOVR� LPSHGH� SURGXFWLYH�
land development, while concerns that land will 
remain undeveloped can be addressed through 
appropriate tax measures rather than develop-
ment covenants.49 There is also a need to reform 

48 Between 2001 and 2011 the population of Gaborone and 
Francistown grew by 2 percent and 1.9 percent per annum, 
respectively. In contrast, the population of adjacent villages 
grew by 5.3 percent and 3.9 percent per annum, respectively. 
In most instances, these villages are urban centres in all but 
name, but remain subject to different rules regarding land 
allocation. Importantly, the status of tribal land in providing 
security for bank loans is less clear cut than for urban land.

49 Local authority rates already provide scope for penalising lack 
of development; however, these are not always implemented 

RZQHUVKLS�VWUXFWXUHV��HVSHFLDOO\�RXWVLGH�XUEDQ�
DUHDV��WR�IDFLOLWDWH�ODQG�WR�EH�XVHG��DV�D�PDWWHU�
of course, as security required for borrowing. 
Ultimately, a largely free market for land in 
Botswana will be in the interests of all parties, 
helping to meet local demand and address the 
challenge of providing affordable housing and 
in line with the objective of establishing the 
country as an attractive destination for foreign 
investors.

Framework for Provision of Infra-
structure and Utilities

5.18 Key to any discussion of the provision of in-
frastructure and utilities is the question of the 
appropriate degree of Government participa-
tion, including ownership; or alternatively, the 
extent to which the private sector should be 
involved in the supply of what continues to 
be widely regarded as “public goods”, where 
commercial considerations are not the only or 
even major concern. This is most obviously 
relevant in the case of utilities, but can also ap-
ply to infrastructure more generally, including 
options, such as funding alternatives that fall 
short of full privatisation.

����� 7KH� MXVWL¿FDWLRQ� IRU� VWDWH�RZQHG� HQWHUSULVHV�
based on them being “natural monopolies” for 
which public ownership is the most rational 
mode of operation is largely out-dated, now 
WKDW� LW� LV� SRVVLEOH� WR� LQWURGXFH� D� VLJQL¿FDQW�
degree of competition in almost all markets. 
Nonetheless, certain industries might legiti-
PDWHO\�EH�UHJDUGHG�DV�VXI¿FLHQWO\�³VWUDWHJLF´�
given the importance of what they produce for 
other industries; and, in such cases, there may 
be a case for a degree of public ownership or 
control and/or oversight. 

5.20 Historically, in Botswana, the case for estab-
lishing parastatals to provide basic utilities and 
other services was driven to a large extent by 
the absence of credible alternative providers. 
However, this was in the context of a very 
limited private sector operating in an environ-
ment of a low-income, sparsely-populated 

HI¿FLHQWO\�
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country where commercial operations would 
not be viable, even for experienced operators. 
Moreover, public ownership remained the 
norm in many developing countries at the time, 
thus providing limited exposure to alternative 
models. However, this rationale for government 
ownership elsewhere and also in Botswana has 
diminished considerably in the context of the 
growth in terms of both size and capacity of 
the private sector, rising income levels, greater 
urbanisation and, not least, the growing breadth 
of global experience of successful privatisation 
to serve as a guide.

5.21 There are sensitivities surrounding the divest-
ment of government assets, including the 
following:

�L�� Ownership: resistance to privatisation 
often occurs on the basis that it could lead 
to ownership that is concentrated in few 
and/or foreign hands. However, there are 
advantages in having a strategic investor in 
WHUPV�RI�VXSSRUWLQJ�RSHUDWLRQDO�HI¿FLHQF\��
innovation and investment, and this can be 
combined with a divestment process that 
also allows for widespread ownership. 
Limiting foreign ownership runs the risk of 
impeding access to the skills, technologies 
and resources necessary for privatisation to 
be successful.50 Ultimately, availability and 
access to infrastructure, utilities and service 
is what is key for the end-user rather than 
ownership.

�LL��Employment, especially of unionised 
labour:  the  assoc ia t ion  be tween 
privatisation and job losses is commonly 
made, but there is need for perspective 
in this regard. Retrenchments that may 
follow privatisation are usually indicative 
RI�WKH�LQHI¿FLHQFLHV�WKDW�DFFRPSDQ\�SXEOLF�
ownership, while the resulting gains in 
productivity support job creation elsewhere 
or within the privatised entity offset the 
initial job losses.

50�7KLV�ULVN�LV�OLNHO\�WR�EH�VLJQL¿FDQW�LQ�WKH�FRQWH[W�RI�VHUYLFH�
provision which has previously been undertaken by a 
state-owned monopoly, which almost inevitably limits the 
availability of domestic resources to take on its operation in 
a commercial context.

�LLL��Pricing and investment policy: the general 
concern is that moving operations to a 
more commercial basis will undermine 
the scope of pursuing “developmental” 
objectives and lead to unwarranted higher 
prices. Such objectives can, in many 
instances, be better served by mobilising 
resources through market-based incentives 
and, in this respect, a tendency for prices 
to rise following privatisation is, in many 
instances, the result of the previous 
suppression of prices below economic 
levels. Moreover, any need to maintain 
subsidies on a more explicit basis or to 
curtail excessive pricing as well as address 
developmental aspects can be dealt with 
through appropriate contractual and 
supervisory arrangements.51 In addition, 
higher monopoly prices can be countered 
through allowing additional operators to 
enter the market. 

5.22 Overall, the case for maintaining public owner-
ship is easy to exaggerate, with the virtues over-
VWDWHG�DQG�WKH�EHQH¿WV�RI�JUHDWHU�HI¿FLHQF\�WKDW�
almost invariably results from private operation 
largely ignored.52 Despite the best intentions 
of governments, performance associated with 
public ownership is typically constrained by 
ERWK�EXUHDXFUDWLF� LQHI¿FLHQFLHV� DQG� FRQÀLFW-

51�2QFH� H[SOLFLW� DQG� WUDQVSDUHQW�� WKH�EHQH¿W� RI� VXEVLGLHV� FDQ�
be more easily assessed. In addition, involvement of the 
SULYDWH�VHFWRU�PD\�SURPRWH�WKH�GHSOR\PHQW�RI�PRUH�HI¿FLHQW�
technologies that can support pricing structures that also take 
account of developmental and social objectives. Regarding 
excessive pricing, the interaction between regulators and 
SULYDWH� SURYLGHUV� RI� WHOHFRPPXQLFDWLRQV� �VXFK� DV� LQ� WKH�
(XURSHDQ�8QLRQ��IRU�H[DPSOH��SURYLGH�JRRG�H[DPSOHV�RI�KRZ�
such supervision can be effective in practice.

52 The difficulties that can arise from adherence to public 
ownership are amply demonstrated by the problems 
commonly associated with the attachment in many countries 
to maintaining a national airline. Not only can these be a drain 
RQ�SXEOLF�UHVRXUFHV��RIWHQ�LQ�WKH�IRUP�RI�VXEVLGLHV�WR�WKRVH�ZLWK�
UHODWLYHO\�KLJK�LQFRPHV���EXW�WKH�RSHUDWLRQDO�LQHI¿FLHQFLHV�FDQ�
undermine competitiveness, and hence the potential for job 
FUHDWLRQ��RI�EXVLQHVVHV��LQ�WKH�WRXULVP�VHFWRU��HWF���WKDW�UHO\�
KHDYLO\�RQ�WKH�HI¿FLHQW�SURYLVLRQ�RI�DLU�WUDQVSRUW�VHUYLFHV��,Q�
Botswana, another example is the Botswana Meat Commission 
�%0&�� WKDW� LQ� UHFHQW�\HDUV�KDV�EHFRPH�D�VHULRXV�¿QDQFLDO�
burden while its poor performance has arguably had a negative 
impact on the development of viable livestock sector in the 
country.
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ing objectives that detract from the provision 
of quality services. In contrast, although not a 
panacea, using the private sector as a means to 
provide these services has the potential to un-
lock latent productivity and, hence, possibilities 
for job creation, both within the affected sector 
and across the economy.

5.23 This view is supported by the range of options, 
in terms of both a new ownership structure and 
the means of divestment, that are available, 
making it unlikely that retention of full public 
ownership needs to be mainlined due to the 
absence of any preferable alternative. That said, 
the reality remains that the Botswana market is 
small by any standards and the attractiveness 
of operating previously state-owned enterprises 
will be judged taking that into account by po-
tential investors. Ultimately, whatever model is 
adopted for privatisation will almost inevitably 
require government to largely cede operational 
control which, in most cases, means relinquish-
LQJ�PDMRULW\�RZQHUVKLS��LI�WKH�SRWHQWLDO�EHQH¿WV�
are to be realised.

5.24 Regarding supervisory arrangements, the ef-
¿FDF\�RI��IRU�LQVWDQFH��WKH�%RWVZDQD�&RPPX-
QLFDWLRQV�5HJXODWRU\�$XWKRULW\� �%2&5$�� LQ�
overseeing a sector with several commercially-
RULHQWHG� DQG�PDLQO\� �EXW� QRW� RQO\�� SULYDWH�
sector participants, provides considerable en-
couragement for such models to be extended. 
A possible option would be to revisit proposals 
to establish an independent regulator for other 
utilities so that prices for water and electricity 
are set at arms-length from the Government, 
even without the privatisation at this stage of 
either BPC or WUC. This is a model that is 
commonly used worldwide and, as noted, is 
compatible with both encouraging more com-
mercial operations and the pursuit of other, 
more social-oriented objectives.

5.25 Despite previously slow progress, the funda-
mentals in favour of privatisation remain gen-
erally positive in Botswana. This is given the 
Government’s capability to support parastatals’ 
commercial reorientation, the increased capac-
ity of the private sector and the broadly favour-
able rankings of the country as an investment 

destination. Moreover, the recent challenges 
regarding reliable provision of utilities have 
served to underline the limitations of contin-
ued reliance in public ownership. Thus, recent 
indications that the Government is actively 
considering allowing a greater role for the pri-
vate sector in power generation are welcome. 
In turn, this could be extended to the other 
transport and utility parastatals facing their own 
challenges in terms of adequacy of infrastruc-
ture and providing respective services/utilities.

5.26 At the other end of the scale, opportunities for 
IXUWKHU�RXWVRXUFLQJ�RI�SXEOLF�VHUYLFHV� �HLWKHU�
those provided directly by the Government or 
WKURXJK�SDUDVWDWDOV��DQG�DVSHFWV�RI�RSHUDWLRQV�
can be further explored. This is not only to 
reduce costs, but also for enhancing the qual-
ity of service delivery, including security of 
supply, through capacity of the private sector 
to innovate using modern technologies.53

Challenges for Public Infrastructure 
Provision

����� 7KH�VFRSH�IRU�LPSURYLQJ�HI¿FLHQF\�LV�HYLGHQW�LQ�
the extent of underspending of the government 
development budget that has been prevalent for 
many years. In this respect, important issues to 
consider include:

�L�� Identifying priorities for infrastructure pro-
vision: the Government has a strong track 
record in effectively allocating funds to be 
spent under the development budget, which 
is primarily for infrastructure development. 
This has been further strengthened in recent 
years through renewed commitment54 to a 
focus on high return investments. However, 
this process could be made more robust 
with more explicit reference to the criteria 
used to identify such investments, espe-
cially to the extent that they cover more 
socially-oriented interventions. This would 

53 Thus far, service outsourcing has been mainly limited to 
labour-intensive activities, such as cleaning, gardening and 
security services. Possible opportunities for deploying private 
sector expertise at a higher level, including provision of ICT-
related services and maintenance remain largely unexplored.

54 The annual Budget Speech and Budget Strategy Papers.
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help underpin sustainable budgeting and, 
hence, the maintenance of macroeconomic 
stability, through the effective operation of 
DSSURSULDWH�¿VFDO�UXOHV�55

�LL�� Improved monitoring and evaluation: 
although the allocation of funds through 
the development budget has resulted in 
the effective development of public infra-
structure in Botswana, the returns on this 
investment have, in some instances, been 
eroded by less-than-satisfactory implemen-
tation and, subsequently, operation. Thus 
the recently announced decision to extend 
WKH�PDQGDWH�RI�WKH�1DWLRQDO�6WUDWHJ\�2I¿FH�
to include monitoring of implementation 
is welcome, although this will need to be 
carefully coordinated with the budgeting 
process to ensure that adequate funding is 
made available.

�LLL��More active use of public-private part-
nerships (PPPs): as with the privatisation 
programme, the Government has pro-
ceeded cautiously with exploring oppor-
tunities to partner with the private sector 
in funding, project implementation and 
operation of public infrastructure. This is 
despite a comprehensive framework for 
the conduct of PPPs being approved in 
2009. However, PPPs are not a panacea 
for resolving current challenges for in-
frastructure provision, while the Govern-
PHQW¶V�LPSURYHG�¿VFDO�SHUIRUPDQFH�LQ�UH-
cent years has understandably limited the 
attractiveness of more expensive funding 
sources. Nevertheless, the PPP approach 
remains relevant, especially perhaps for 
the larger projects that may exceed the 
Government’s internal implementation 
capacity.

5.28 A further important issue is the extent to which 
HIIHFWLYH�LQIUDVWUXFWXUH�SURYLVLRQ��DQG��PRUH�JHQ-
HUDOO\��*RYHUQPHQW�SURFXUHPHQW�SURJUDPPHV��

55 There is potential concern in this respect that the development 
budget in Botswana continues to include items that do not 
SURSHUO\� IDOO� LQWR� WKLV� FDWHJRU\�� HYHQ� LI� WKH\� DUH� MXVWL¿DEOH�
according to other criteria. For example, programmes of social 
support with recurrent implications, such as Ipelegeng or the 
subsidies currently provided to BPC, should not be treated as 
development spending.

can be combined directly with the objective of 
employment creation. In Botswana, this is a major 
component of the EDD, while the development 
of infrastructure is also increasingly used for this 
SXUSRVH��+RZHYHU��VLJQL¿FDQW�FKDOOHQJHV�DUH�DOVR�
evident, including the risk of increasing further 
already high levels of dependency on Government 
�ZKLFK��LQ�WXUQ��PD\�OLPLW�WKH�FDSDFLW\�RI�ORFDO�
EXVLQHVVHV�WR�LPSURYH�WKHLU�SURGXFWLYLW\���ZKLOH�
also further burdening administrative capacity.56 

6. BOTSWANA LABOUR MARKET, 
SKILLS CHALLENGES AND 
LESSONS FROM INTERNATIONAL 
EXPERIENCE

6.1 This section examines the challenges facing the 
labour market in Botswana, which together af-
fect the structure of employment, the prospects 
for employment and earnings growth and how 
the Government labour policy evolves. As 
highlighted in Section 3, the unemployment 
rate in Botswana is high at around 20 percent, 
but lower than levels prevailing in other coun-
tries in the SACU region. Other countries in 
Africa record lower rates of unemployment, 
apparently due to widespread informal sector 
activity. For other countries which Botswana 
aspires to be compared with, the much lower 
XQHPSOR\PHQW� UDWH� �HIIHFWLYHO\� IXOO� HPSOR\-
PHQW��UHÀHFWV�VXFFHVV�ZLWK�UHVSHFW�WR�HFRQRPLF�
GLYHUVL¿FDWLRQ��VNLOOV�GHYHORSPHQW�DQG�HIIHF-
tive government institutions and bureaucracy 
�IRU�H[DPSOH�&KLOH��0DOD\VLD�DQG�6LQJDSRUH���
+RZHYHU�� WKH�SUR¿OH��DOEHLW�VLJQL¿FDQWO\�GLI-
IHUHQW�UDWHV��UHODWLQJ�WR�JHQHUDOO\�KLJKHU�\RXWK�
and female unemployment is common, both 
regionally and globally. The persistently high 
unemployment rate in Botswana is in the con-
WH[W�RI�D�ODUJHO\�XQGLYHUVL¿HG�HFRQRP\�ZLWK�D�
dominant public sector, notable skills gaps and 
a relatively smaller informal sector.

56 This is already in evidence through concerns that contracts 
awarded to local businesses are not completed on time or to the 
required standard. The administrative burden will be increased 
further to the extent that further monitoring requirements are 
introduced, to cover employment targets and procurement 
practices, for example.
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�D�� /DFN�RI�(FRQRPLF�'LYHUVL¿FDWLRQ
6.2 Mining continues to be the largest single sector, 

accounting for about 25 percent of total GDP, 
but contributing approximately 3 percent of 
total employment. The small share of mining in 
WRWDO�HPSOR\PHQW�UHÀHFWV�LWV�FDSLWDO�LQWHQVLYH�
nature and, therefore, limited opportunities for 
employment creation in this sector. Moreover, 
despite the Government’s concerted efforts to 
SURPRWH�HFRQRPLF�GLYHUVL¿FDWLRQ��WKH�VKDUH�RI�
manufacturing in total GDP has been modest 
at 5.7 percent and accounting for 5 percent of 
total employment in the same period.57 At the 
same time, the performance of agriculture has 
been lacklustre, with a declining contribution 
to employment which, however, remains rela-
tively high at 15.3 percent.58 Indeed, much of 
the economy’s employment opportunities are 
concentrated around agriculture, government, 
FRQVWUXFWLRQ��WUDGH�DQG�VHUYLFHV��7DEOH�������

6.3 The experience of other countries, such as 
Chile, Mauritius and Malaysia,59 that have 
been successful in diversifying their economies 
DZD\�IURP�H[SRUWV�RI�VLQJOH�FRPPRGLWLHV��VXFK�
DV�PLQHUDOV� RU� DJULFXOWXUDO� SURGXFWV�� WR� QRQ�
resource-based commodities, manufacturing 
products and/or services, indicates that these 

57 The GDP figures for 2011 were used because they are 
consistent with the employment figures for the 2011 
Population and Housing Census. On average, the contributions 
of mining, agriculture and manufacturing have respectively 
been 24.3 percent, 2.3 percent and 5.7 percent of total GDP 
in the past decade. Similarly, the latest 2015 shares of mining, 
agriculture and manufacturing in total GDP are 22.4 percent, 
2.2 percent and 5.6 percent, respectively.

58 Indeed, most agricultural employment in Botswana is 
informal and subsistence. However, agriculture should still 
be viewed as the most immediate means for employment. In 
that respect, farming must shift rapidly from its present status 
as an occupation of last resort and low productivity, to one of 
technical dynamism and high productivity.

59�&KLOH�ZDV�KHDYLO\�GHSHQGHQW�RQ�FRSSHU�H[SRUWV�DQG�GLYHUVL¿HG�
into other non-resource commodities. However, it is 
acknowledged that there is still a strong need to achieve higher 
OHYHOV� RI� GLYHUVL¿FDWLRQ� DQG� VRSKLVWLFDWLRQ� LQ� WKH�&KLOHDQ�
economy as copper mining still contributes the largest share to 
both GDP and exports. Mauritius was dependent on the sugar 
LQGXVWU\�DQG�GLYHUVL¿HG� LQWR�RWKHU�VHFWRUV��QRWDEO\� WRXULVP�
DQG�H[SRUW�RULHQWHG�LQGXVWULHV�VXFK�DV�EDQNLQJ�DQG�¿QDQFH�
and technology. Malaysia was dependent on tin and rubber 
DQG�GLYHUVL¿HG�LQWR�PDQXIDFWXUHG�SURGXFWV��H�J���HOHFWURQLFV�
DQG�RWKHUV��

economies have broadened opportunities for 
employment across sectors and are more re-
VLOLHQW�WR�VKRFNV��7DEOH��������1HYHUWKHOHVV��LW�
appears that the structural changes are common 
for several economies, hence a declining share 
of agriculture in total employment and GDP, 
VWDJQDQW�RU�GHFUHDVLQJ�VKDUH�RI�LQGXVWU\��PLQ-
ing, manufacturing, water and electricity and 
FRQVWUXFWLRQ��ZKLOH�WKDW�IRU�WKH�VHUYLFHV�VHFWRU�
is increasing.60 As a result, increasing support 
to the services sector could be key to enhancing 
productivity and employment opportunities.

(b) Large Public Sector
���� 7KH� SXEOLF� VHFWRU� SOD\V� D� VLJQL¿FDQW� UROH� LQ�

the economy of Botswana, and is an anchor 
for much of private economic activity, hence 
contributing to economic growth and employ-
PHQW�FUHDWLRQ��ZLWKLQ�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�VHFWRU�
and through stimulating other economic activ-

60 The public sector dominates the services sector in Botswana. 
However, other services sectors such as wholesale and retail 
trade, hotels and restaurants, transport and communication and 
real estate are showing great potential for creating employment 
opportunities.

TABLE 2.17: PROPORTION OF TOTAL EMPLOYMENT BY 
ECONOMIC SECTOR (BOTSWANA)

Sector
Proportion of the 

Employed
Agriculture 15.3
Mining & Quarrying 2.9
Manufacturing 5.0
Electricity & Water 0.9
Construction 9.3
Wholesale & Retail Trade 13.6
Hotels & Restaurants 2.5
Transport & Communication 3.4
Finance 1.6
Real Estate 8.2
Central Government 10.9
Local Government 7.2
Education 7.8
Health 3.7
Other Community 2.7
Private Households 4.5
Foreign Mission 0.1
Not Stated 0.4

6RXUFH��6WDWLVWLFV�%RWVZDQD�������&HQVXV�
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LW\���7KH�VL]H�RI�WKH�SXEOLF�VHFWRU�DQG�UHODWHG�
expenditure is largely supported by mineral 
revenue and is necessitated by the need to pro-
vide infrastructure, utilities and social services 
over a large and sparsely populated country 
on an equitable basis. As a result, Botswana 
has the highest central government wage bill 
UHODWLYH�WR�*'3��7DEOH�������FRPSDUHG�WR�WKH�
best performing countries in terms of employ-
PHQW�RXWFRPHV��L�H���6LQJDSRUH�DQG�0DOD\VLD���
7KH�UHODWLYHO\�KLJK�ZDJH�ELOO�UHÀHFWV�WKH�IDFW�
that the Government’s share of total employ-
ment in Botswana is comparatively high. In 
SDUWLFXODU�� JHQHUDO� JRYHUQPHQW� �FHQWUDO� DQG�
ORFDO��FRQWULEXWHG�DERXW������SHUFHQW�RI�*'3�
in 2011 and approximately 18 percent to total 
employment.61

6.5 A 2013 World Bank report62 postulates that a 
large public sector has the potential to crowd 
out private sector opportunities and lead to an 

61 Similarly, in 2013, the public sector, consisting of public 
VHUYLFH��FHQWUDO�DQG�ORFDO�JRYHUQPHQW��DQG�SXEOLF�HQWHUSULVHV�
�SDUDVWDWDOV���DFFRXQWHG�IRU������SHUFHQW�RI�IRUPDO�HPSOR\PHQW��
while the private sector accounted for 47.5 percent.

62�:RUOG�%DQN���������³-REV� IRU�6KDUHG�3URVSHULW\��7LPH�IRU�
Action in Middle East and North Africa”. Washington DC: 
World Bank.

LQHI¿FLHQW�DOORFDWLRQ�RI�KXPDQ�FDSLWDO��0RUHR-
ver, crowding out can occur in the education 
PDUNHW�ZKHQ� LQGLYLGXDOV� VHHN� TXDOL¿FDWLRQV�
appropriate for entering the public sector, rather 
than the skills needed for productive employ-
ment in the private sector.63 Therefore, the dom-
inant role of the public sector in the Botswana 
economy, albeit initially well intended and to 
some good effect, could have distorted labour 
market outcomes and diverted resources away 
from a potentially more dynamic private sector.

���� 7KURXJK�VRXQG�¿VFDO�SROLF\��&KLOH�KDV�PDQDJHG�
to reduce the relative size of the government 
wage bill, while maintaining a structure of 
government spending that favours growth.64 
The reduction in the government wage bill 
in Chile was achieved through privatisation 
of activities that were deemed could be more 
HI¿FLHQWO\�XQGHUWDNHQ�ZLWKLQ�SULYDWH�PDUNHWV�
and by decentralising central government 
activities. The experience of Chile, therefore, 

63�6DOHKL�,VIDKDQL�DQG�'KLOORQ����������³6WDOOHG�<RXWK�7UDQVLWLRQV�
in Middle East: A Framework for Policy Reform”. The Middle 
East Youth Initiative Working Paper No. 8.

64 In 2011, the general government sector accounted for less 
than 5 percent of total GDP in Chile compared to almost 14 
percent in Botswana.

TABLE 2.18: PROPORTION OF TOTAL EMPLOYMENT BY ECONOMIC SECTOR IN BOTSWANA AND SELECTED COUNTRIES 
(PERCENT)

Botswana Malaysia Mauritius Namibia Singapore South Africa
Agriculture 15.3 12.6 7.0 29.8 … 5.6
Industry
   Mining 2.9 0.6 0.2 3.3 … 2.8
   Manufacturing 5.0 17.6 18.5 5.6 11.9 11.2
   Electricity & Water 0.9 1.1 1.0 0.5 … 0.9
   Construction 9.3 9.1 10.1 7.2 4.7 8.9
Services
   Wholesale 13.6 16.6 14.0 7.3 16.5 19.9
   Hotels 2.5 8.2 8.8 4.1 8.2 …
   Transport & Communication 3.4 6.5 8.3 5.0 13.2 5.9
   Finance 1.6 2.5 2.7 2.2 7.9 13.8
   Real Estate 8.2 0.5 0.3 0.1 2.6 …
   Public Administration 10.9 5.5 7.3 6.4 13.6 22.7
   Local Government 7.2 … … … … …
   Education 7.8 6.2 5.8 5.9 … …
   Health 3.7 3.3 3.5 3.1 5.1 …
Other 7.7 9.7 12.5 19.5 16.3 8.3

Source: Country Statistical Agencies
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demonstrates that restraint in growing the pub-
lic sector alongside devolution of an increasing 
share of economic activity to the private sector 
can support improvements in productivity, em-
ployment opportunities and long-term growth 
prospects. Indeed, restraining growth of the 
public sector could help reset expectations 
and realign incentives towards expansion of 
the private sector, which has the potential for 
innovation, adaptability and competitiveness 
that is crucial in the long-term for creating 
employment opportunities suitable for the new 
entrants to the labour market.

(c) Small Informal Sector
6.7 The high unemployment rate in Botswana is 

also accompanied by a relatively low level 
RI� LQIRUPDO� VHFWRU� HPSOR\PHQW� �KLJKOLJKWHG�
LQ�6HFWLRQ�����:RUNHUV�LQ�%RWVZDQD�KDYH�QRW�
responded to lack of wage-employment op-
portunities by engaging in widespread self-
employment to the same extent as workers in 
RWKHU�FRXQWULHV��7DEOH��������3RVVLEOH�EDUULHUV�
to informal sector employment and self-em-
ployment in Botswana could include lack of 
access to infrastructure and facilities/services, 
VKRUWDJH�RI�FDSLWDO��LQVXI¿FLHQW�VNLOOV�TXDOL¿FD-
tions, low entrepreneurial drive and rigid trade 
and land use regulations.65 A generous social 

65 For instance, in a paper titled “The Informal Sector Revisited: 
Botswana’s Development State and Micro Enterprise 
'HYHORSPHQW´��0HQ\DK��������LQGLFDWHV�WKDW�WKH�7UDGH�DQG�
Liquor Act, for which implementation responsibility lies 
with local authorities, is one of the unfriendly legislation 
that discourage the development of small scale enterprises. 
,Q�SDUWLFXODU��OHJLVODWLRQ�UHTXLUHV�D�EXVLQHVV�WR�KDYH�D�VSHFL¿F�

and family support system could also reduce 
incentives to engage in informal income earn-
ing activity.

6.8 Evidence from other countries suggests that 
WKH�LQIRUPDO�VHFWRU�FDQ�EH�D�VLJQL¿FDQW�VRXUFH�
of employment opportunities; this implies that 
there is need to accommodate growth of infor-
mal enterprises and recognise them as partners 
in development. In that respect, an enabling 
environment may include addressing some of 
the challenges emanating from lack of facilities/
infrastructure for informal business; creating 
markets; and increasing access to vocational 
WUDLQLQJ�� LQFOXGLQJ� ¿QDQFLDO� OLWHUDF\��7KHUH�
is also a need for a comprehensive informal 
sector policy that would balance the need for 
regulation with promoting economic activity 
and expansion of income earning opportunities. 

location of operation. However, most informal businesses lack 
access to land and operate in ungazetted areas due to shortage 
of business plots and high rentals.

TABLE 2.19: CENTRAL GOVERNMENT WAGES AND SALARIES IN BOTSWANA AND SELECTED COUNTRIES (PERCENT OF 
GDP)
Country 2005 2010 2011 2012 2013
Botswana 10.5 10.7 10.6 10.8 10.6
Chile 3.7 4.2 4.1 4.2 4.3
Mauritius 6.1 5.8 5.5 5.4 6.1
Malaysia 4.7 5.9 5.7 6.4 6.2
Namibia 10.9 11.6 11.9 … …
Singapore 3.3 3.1 2.9 2.9 3.0
South Africa 2.1 2.7 2.6 2.7 2.9

Source: IMF and Statistics Botswana 

TABLE 2.20: SELF-EMPLOYMENT IN BOTSWANA 
AND SELECTED COUNTRIES (PERCENT OF TOTAL 
EMPLOYMENT)
Country 2010 2011
Botswana 15.6 18.6
Chile 26.5 26.6
Mauritius 20.0 19.0
Malaysia 25.7 23.4
Namibia 35.8 31.7
Singapore 14.5 15.0
South Africa 14.7 14.7

Source: World Bank and Statistics Botswana
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(d) Skills Mismatch and Quality of 
Education

6.9 The Botswana Government has spent heavily 
towards achieving universal basic education 
DQG�LQFUHDVLQJ�DFFHVV�DW�DOO�OHYHOV��7DEOH��������
However, enrolments rates in higher education, 
especially in tertiary institutions, remain low 
relative to comparator economies. This sug-
gests that spending on education in Botswana 
KDV�QRW�EHHQ�HI¿FLHQW��SDUWLFXODUO\�FRPSDUHG�WR�
countries such as Chile, Mauritius and Singa-
pore where spending relative to GDP is much 
lower, but they have higher enrolment rates.

6.10 Furthermore, despite some success in increas-
ing enrolment rates, the quality and relevance 
of education in Botswana is being questioned. 
This is because of the generally persistent 
higher rates of unemployment and relatively 
low rate of self-employment, above 10 percent 
for all cohorts, among the country’s trained 
labour force. The highest unemployment rates 
are recorded for junior and secondary school 
JUDGXDWHV� ������ SHUFHQW� DQG� ����� SHUFHQW��
UHVSHFWLYHO\���IROORZHG�E\�WKRVH�ZLWK�EULJDGH�
FHUWL¿FDWH�DQG�GLSORPD�������SHUFHQW�DQG������
SHUFHQW��UHVSHFWLYHO\���YRFDWLRQDO�FHUWL¿FDWH�DQG�
GLSORPD� ����SHUFHQW� DQG����SHUFHQW�� UHVSHF-
WLYHO\��DQG�XQLYHUVLW\�FHUWL¿FDWH�DQG�GLSORPD�
������SHUFHQW�DQG������SHUFHQW��UHVSHFWLYHO\��66 

66 Statistics Botswana, Population and Housing Census 2011.

However, unemployment is lower for those 
ZLWK�GHJUHH�DQG�VFLHQFH�UHODWHG�TXDOL¿FDWLRQV�
such as nurses and those engaged in the educa-
tion sector itself, such as teachers. Meanwhile, 
Chart 2.8 shows that Botswana has a lower 
proportion of tertiary students graduating in 
WKH�¿HOGV�RI�HQJLQHHULQJ��PDQXIDFWXULQJ��VFL-
ence and services compared to some of the 
selected countries, which could have implica-
tions for productivity and competitiveness of 
the economy.

6.11 Moreover, Table 2.22 indicates that while 
16 percent of Botswana’s labour force has a 
WHUWLDU\�HGXFDWLRQ�TXDOL¿FDWLRQ��RQO\�DERXW����
percent of those employed are considered to be 
skilled workers. Generally, these indicators do 
not compare well with some countries such as 
Singapore, which Botswana should aspire to 
match. Singapore’s education policy has been 
one of the key factors underlining its economic 
success as indicated by the high percentage of 

TABLE 2.21: PUBLIC SPENDING ON EDUCATION AND SCHOOL ENROLMENT RATE IN BOTSWANA AND SELECTED 
COUNTRIES

Public Expenditure 
on Education 

(Percent of GDP)

Enrolment Rate in Education

Country Primary Secondary Tertiary

Botswana 9.5 90.3 81.7 24.8

Chile 4.2 92.0 99.0 78.7

Malaysia 6.0 97.0 70.8 37.2

Mauritius 3.2 98.1 95.9 41.2

Namibia 8.3 87.7 64.8 9.3

Singapore 3.0 100.0 107.6 82.7

South Africa 5.2 89.6 110.8 19.7

1RWH��� )RU�SULPDU\�HGXFDWLRQ��WKH�UHSRUWHG�YDOXH�FRUUHVSRQGV�WR�WKH�UDWLR�RI�FKLOGUHQ�RI�RI¿FLDO�SULPDU\�VFKRRO�
DJH�ZKR�DUH�HQUROOHG�LQ�SULPDU\�VFKRRO�WR�WKH�SRSXODWLRQ�RI�WKH�FRUUHVSRQGLQJ�RI¿FLDO�VFKRRO�DJH��)RU�
secondary and tertiary, the value corresponds to the ratio of total enrolment for the respective level, 
UHJDUGOHVV�RI�DJH��WR�WKH�SRSXODWLRQ�RI�WKH�DJH�JURXS�WKDW�RI¿FLDOO\�FRUUHVSRQGV�WR�WKH�OHYHO�RI�HGXFDWLRQ�

Source: World Bank and the Global Competitiveness Report 2015/16

TABLE 2.22: SKILLS DEFICIT IN BOTSWANA AND 
SELECTED COUNTRIES

Country
Percent of labour 
force with tertiary 

education

Percent 
of skilled 

employees
Botswana 16.0 19.1
Malaysia 23.4 28.0
Singapore 35.9 51.0

Source: Country Statistical Agencies
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population with tertiary education and higher 
levels of skills and productivity.

6.12 It is apparent that relatively successful coun-
tries, such as Malaysia and Singapore, have 
over time effectively tackled the skills shortage 
problem commensurate with adjustment of 
their economic structure to engage in higher 
value-added activities. The quality of education 
in these countries has been enhanced through 
greater technical education and partnership 
with reputable international universities. The 
lessons from these countries point to clear areas 

of policy development focus to improve the 
quality of secondary education and facilitate 
access to industry relevant and productivity en-
hancing tertiary education in order to increase 
prospects for employment and opportunities 
IRU�HDUQLQJ�KLJKHU�LQFRPH��LQFOXGLQJ�WKURXJK�
VHOI�HPSOR\PHQW���

6.13 With regards to employment of non-citizens 
�7DEOH������� the largest occupational category 
for work permit holders is “elementary occu-
SDWLRQV´��PDLQO\�DJULFXOWXUDO�ODERXUHUV���7KLV�

represents a different sort of challenge in terms 
of mismatches; i.e., the apparent unwillingness 
among local workers to accept more menial 
employment. The total number of work permit 
KROGHUV�LV�VPDOO��DERXW���SHUFHQW�RI�WRWDO�IRUPDO�
HPSOR\PHQW�LQ��������7KXV��WKH�VXJJHVWLRQ�WKDW�
unemployment is somehow due to foreigners 
crowding out local labour is hard to justify. 
Even then, the evident decline in the number 
RI�SHUPLW�KROGHUV�FRXOG�UHÀHFW�D�PRUH�UHVWULF-
tive administration, as echoed by business and 
industry, which is potentially detrimental to 
productivity and growth prospects.

6.14 Generally, for Botswana, there is need to reduce 
the gap between knowledge generated in the 
educational system and the skills demanded by 
employers and that are relevant for enhancing 
future growth prospects. In that respect, ongo-
ing intervention to achieve continuous skills 
development and application to the job is neces-
sary during the employment cycle; this should 
encompass on-the-job training and adaptation 
of new technology and systems to adjust skills 
to meet changing job demands and operating 
environment. Overall, addressing skills mis-

CHART 2.8: DISTRIBUTION OF TERTIARY GRADUATES BY PROGRAMME OF STUDY IN BOTSWANA AND SELECTED 
COUNTRIES IN 2013 (PERCENT)

Source: UNESCO

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Agriculture Education Engineering,
Manufacturing
& Construction

Health &
Welfare

Humanities &
Arts

Science Services Social
Sciences,

Business &
Law

Botswana Chile Malaysia Namibia South Africa



125

CHAPTER 2:  EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES, PRODUCTIVITY AND COMPETITIVENESS … BOTSWANA’S CASE

match, the quality of education and the motiva-
tion/incentives for self-employment will be key 
to reducing unemployment in Botswana going 
forward. In this respect, the establishment of 
the Human Resources Development Council 
�+5'&���ZKLFK�DLPV�WR�LGHQWLI\�VNLOOV�UHTXLUHG�
for sectors with potential for employment crea-
tion, is a welcome development.

7. CONCLUSION

7. 1 Botswana’s impressive track record of eco-
nomic growth, averaging 6.3 percent per annum 
between 1981 and 2013, should ideally have 
been accompanied by meaningful employment 
creation and broad-based improvement in liv-
ing standards. However, this review shows 
that job creation in Botswana has lagged far 
behind GDP growth, resulting in chronically 
high unemployment concentrated primarily 
among the youth. Even for those who do have 
jobs, low incomes and underemployment are 
serious problems. Quite simply, unemployment 
in Botswana has reached critical proportions, 
requiring a commensurate response from 
policymakers.

7.2 It is also important to bear in mind that, while 
economic growth in Botswana has thus far 
not been accompanied by adequate job crea-
tion, continuing to prioritise growth based on 
YLDEOH��L�H���SUR¿WDEOH��EXVLQHVV�RSSRUWXQLWLHV�

DQG�GHYHORSPHQW�RI�KXPDQ�FDSLWDO��LQYROYLQJ�
key aspects such as job skills, entrepreneur-
VKLS��SURGXFWLYLW\��DGDSWDELOLW\�DQG�LQQRYDWLRQ��
remains an essential pre-requisite for rising liv-
ing standards. From this perspective, policies 
that focus on redistributing existing resources 
rather than generating additional employment 
opportunities are unlikely to have a lasting 
impact on job creation.

7.3 Key factors explaining the unemployment prob-
OHP�LQ�%RWVZDQD�DUH�D�UHODWLYHO\�XQGLYHUVL¿HG�
economy; a large public sector that may be 
crowding out the growth of the private sector; 
a labour force that is inadequately trained and 
has low motivation; a challenging business en-
vironment and regulatory framework that tends 
to limit growth and productivity of businesses; 
and a small informal sector, for which growth 
is constrained by, among others, lack of access 
WR�¿QDQFH�DQG�ULJLG�WUDGH�UHJXODWLRQV��1RWDEO\��
delays in registering a business in Botswana and 
GLI¿FXOWLHV�HQFRXQWHUHG�E\�HPSOR\HUV�LQ�JHWWLQJ�
work permits for needed skilled labour, for ex-
DPSOH��VKRXOG�EH�UHVROYHG�WR�IDFLOLWDWH��SULYDWH��
business growth. Ultimately, the objective of 
developing Botswana as a world class economy 
will only be realised in an environment which 
succeeds in attracting and retaining world class 
talent.

7.4 It should be recognised that factors contribut-
ing to high unemployment in Botswana are not 
new; indeed addressing problems relating to 
low productivity and lack of economic diversi-
¿FDWLRQ�KDYH�ORQJ�EHHQ�RQ�WKH�DJHQGD��UHVXOWLQJ�
in several policy interventions. However, as 
this review has pointed out, their impact has, 
in many instances, been limited, thus requir-
LQJ� UHÀHFWLRQ�RQ�ZK\� WKH� DQWLFLSDWHG� UHVXOWV�
were not achieved. In particular, inadequate 
implementation appears to be a major cause 
of such underperformance, possibly indicat-
ing that scarce resources have been spread too 
thinly in the pursuit of multiple objectives or 
WKHUH�KDV�EHHQ�LQVXI¿FLHQW�FRPPLWPHQW�RI�UH-
sources to effectively implement initiatives. It 
is, nevertheless, crucial that the aforementioned 
problematic factors are focused upon and com-

TABLE 2.23: TOTAL WORK PERMIT HOLDERS BY 
OCCUPATION

Occupation 2010 2011 2012
Managers/Administrators 1 417 1 214 839
Professionals 2 210 1 770 1 160
Technicians 1 739 1 755 1 170
Clerks 25 15 11
Service/Sales Workers 314 235 164
Skilled Agricultural 
Workers 16 9 7
Craft Workers 1 792 1 784 1 150
Plant & Machine Operators 870 638 462
Elementary Occupations 3 581 2 632 1 932
Not stated 2 2 2
Total 11 966 10 054 6 897
6RXUFH��6WDWLVWLFV�%RWVZDQD��:RUN�3HUPLW�+ROGHUV�

�����



126

BANK OF BOTSWANA ANNUAL REPORT 2015

prehensively addressed in order to alleviate the 
unemployment challenges and avert possible 
adverse economic and social consequences.

7.5 A large cohort of unemployed and underem-
ployed people, comprising mostly the youth, 
represents a waste of valuable resources and 
needs to be addressed urgently, in order to re-
alise the potential of the economy and maintain 
VRFLDO�FRKHVLRQ��6SHFL¿F�LQWHUYHQWLRQV��LQFOXG-
ing the Youth Development Fund and Young 
Farmers’ Fund, that are intended to tackle the 
problem of youth unemployment are relevant 
in this regard. However, additional effort is 
required to improve the employment prospects 
of young people through aligning skills and 
training with job requirements, as envisaged 
by the creation of the HRDC, and removing 
barriers to the growth of small and informal 
businesses.

7.6 This review has also demonstrated, from a 
variety of perspectives, that low productivity 
growth in Botswana remains a key challenge 
that must be addressed if national ambitions 
regarding improved living standards, reduced 
inequality and incidence of poverty are to be 
realised. Factors impeding productivity are 
ineffective public administration, poor work 
HWKLF�� LQDSSURSULDWH� LQFHQWLYHV� �IRU� H[DPSOH��
XQWDUJHWHG� VXEVLGLHV� IRU� DJULFXOWXUH�� DQG� H[-
pensive and/or unreliable utilities. To address 
productivity shortfalls, the Government has put 
in place policy initiatives and institutions that 
include privatisation of state-owned enterprises 
and the establishment of the BNPC. However, 
there has seemingly been some reluctance to 
carry through privatisation initiatives; thus 
forgoing the potential for gains in productiv-
ity. Such inertia needs to be overcome, given 
that economy-wide gains in terms of growth 
DQG�MRE�FUHDWLRQ�IURP�PRUH�HI¿FLHQW�SURYLVLRQ�
of key utilities should substantially outweigh 
any short-term costs, including job losses at 
the privatised entity. Likewise, BNPC has not 
made much progress, and is yet to translate 
awareness that productivity is major challenge 
into implementable programmes to address this 
GH¿FLHQF\��8QOHVV� WKLV�� WRR�� LV� SXUVXHG�ZLWK�

vigour, gains in expanded employment oppor-
tunities and standards of living will continue to 
elude Botswana.

7.7 Alongside low productivity, performance in 
terms of other factors that influence com-
petitiveness has also been unsatisfactory, 
especially in comparison with other countries. 
$JDLQ��SUREOHPDWLF�IDFWRUV�LQFOXGH�LQHI¿FLHQW�
government bureaucracy, restrictive labour 
UHJXODWLRQV��LQVXI¿FLHQW�¿QDQFH�DQG�LQDGHTXDWH�
supply of infrastructure. The measures in place 
to deal with loss of competitiveness include 
maintenance of appropriate macroeconomic 
SROLFLHV��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�FUDZOLQJ�EDQG�H[FKDQJH�
UDWH�PHFKDQLVP�� DQG� LQLWLDWLYHV� XQGHU� WKH�
LQGXVWULDOLVDWLRQ�SROLF\��DPRQJ�RWKHUV��HVWDE-
lishment of BITC and the planned introduction 
RI�6(=V���+RZHYHU��LW�LV�FOHDU�WKDW��XQOHVV�WKH�
abovementioned problematic factors are funda-
mentally addressed, Botswana will continue to 
struggle to compete with other countries that 
have successfully overcome similar hurdles. 
Furthermore, Botswana can increase its appeal 
as a competitive investment destination and 
overcome its small market size by committing 
more to regional integration than is presently 
the case. At the centre of Southern Africa, 
%RWVZDQD�FDQ�EHQH¿W�JUHDWO\�IURP�D�WKULYLQJ�
regional economy, but to realise this requires 
full and consistent commitment to opening the 
economy to competition and levels of produc-
tivity from elsewhere.

7.8 As a way to deal with the unemployment 
problem, there is need to continue engaging 
in structural reforms that can spur economic 
GLYHUVL¿FDWLRQ�DQG�VXVWDLQ�QRQ�PLQLQJ�RXWSXW�
growth among sectors with more potential 
for job creation. Reforms are also needed to 
reduce the size of the public sector, relative to 
GDP, in line with the Government’s expected 
revenue base and implementation capacity. In 
the short term, it may be appropriate to use 
government spending to boost the economy; 
but, in the end, the continued absorption of 
scarce resources by the public sector can be 
detrimental to growth prospects. There is also a 
need to guard against duplication of initiatives 
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under different programmes and institutions. 
Ultimately, government resources should be 
focussed on the effective provision of “public 
goods”, that is, goods and services that cannot 
be effectively provided by the private sector.

7.9 In line with this, effective provision of public 
infrastructure and utilities is essential. Thus, 
UDSLG�JURZWK�LQ�WUDI¿F�YROXPHV��ODFN�RI�WUDQV-
port infrastructure to areas with economic 
potential, electricity and water supply disrup-
tions and limited access to high speed internet 
compromise productivity improvements. To 
HQKDQFH�HI¿FLHQF\�LQ�WKH�SURYLVLRQ�RI�SXEOLF�
infrastructure, it will be important to improve 
monitoring and evaluation, as well as encourag-
ing partnership between the Government and 
the private sector in funding, project implemen-
tation and operation of public infrastructure and 
utilities. Closely related to public infrastructure, 
it is also essential that regulations governing 
access to land are subject to a critical review 
that recognises the extent to which traditional/
historical means of allocation are detrimental to 
HFRQRPLF�HI¿FLHQF\�DQG�VXSSO\�RI�UHVLGHQWLDO��
industrial and commercial property. A focus on 
enabling effective and timely development of 
land and property to meet demand is potentially 
more productive than a queuing system.

7.10 At the other end of the scale, it is critical that the 
role of the informal sector and SMMEs be ac-
corded priority in recognition of the capacity of 
small businesses to generate employment and 
a learning environment for entrepreneurship 
and business skills. In this respect, regulations 
that constrain the operations of the informal 
businesses need to be reviewed with a view to 
adopting a more permissive approach. Further-
more, skills gaps relevant to this segment of 
the labour market must be addressed, working 
in conjunction with the private sector, as must 
DFFHVV�WR�¿QDQFH��$W�WKH�VDPH�WLPH��KRZHYHU��
within this more accommodating environment, 
institutions that assist SMMEs, such as CEDA 
and LEA, need effective monitoring to avoid 
unproductive use of public resources. 

7.11 Overall, Botswana should prioritise job crea-
tion, become more competitive and promote 

productivity improvements through providing 
relevant training and skills to address poor work 
HWKLF�DQG�E\�HQKDQFLQJ�HI¿FLHQF\�RI�JRYHUQ-
ment bureaucracy. There is also a need to look 
carefully at the framework for providing infra-
VWUXFWXUH�DQG�XWLOLWLHV��ZLWK�D�IRFXV�RQ�EHQH¿W�
to the end-user rather than ownership. Working 
together, therefore, enhanced competitiveness, 
productivity improvements and job creation 
will result in sustainable economic growth and 
social cohesion.
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